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Sunshine Coast Council acknowledges the 

Sunshine Coast Country, home of  the Kabi Kabi 

peoples and the Jinibara peoples, the Traditional 

Custodians, whose lands and waters we all now 

share.

We recognise that these have always been 

places of  cultural, spiritual, social and economic 

significance. The Traditional Custodians’ unique 

values, and ancient and enduring cultures, 

deepen and enrich the life of  our community.

We commit to working in partnership with the 

Traditional Custodians and the broader First 

Nations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) 

communities to support self-determination 

through economic and community development.

Truth telling is a significant part of  our journey. 

We are committed to better understanding 

the collective histories of  the Sunshine Coast 

and the experiences of  First Nations peoples. 

Legacy issues resulting from colonisation are still 

experienced by Traditional Custodians and First 

Nations people.

We recognise our shared history and will continue 

to work in partnership to provide a foundation for 

building a shared future with the Kabi Kabi and 

the Jinibara peoples.

We wish to pay respect to their Elders – past, 

present and emerging, and acknowledge the 

important role First Nations people continue to 

play within the Sunshine Coast community.

Together, we are all stronger.
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Welcome to the Sunshine Coast Council Annual Report 

2021/22. This report demonstrates how Sunshine 

Coast Council (Council) has progressed actions from 

the Corporate Plan 2021-2025 and provides service 

delivery highlights.

It is one of  the many ways Council connects with our 

community to:

• Show Council’s commitment to advancing our vision 

as Australia’s most sustainable region. Healthy. 

Smart. Creative.

• Communicate key deliverables for our residents, and

• Demonstrate our effectiveness.

 
Welcome
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It’s no secret the Sunshine Coast is a strong and 

resilient community. Having spent the 2021/22 

financial year living with and recovering from 

the impacts of  the global COVID-19 pandemic 

combined with the impacts of  several weather 

events, there’s no doubt it has been a challenging 

time for all of  us.

Without any question, the biggest contributor 

to the resilience of  our region over the past 

year has been our community. I have seen the 

inspiring way our Sunshine Coast communities 

have continued to support each other and shown 

immense comradery during such an enduring and 

challenging time.

But with any challenges come opportunities.

Our Council has remained committed to working 

collaboratively with residents, business and 

other tiers of  government to respond and adapt 

to these hurdles while planning to build on our 

competitive advantages and position our region 

for the future. 

The announcement by the International Olympic 

Committee in July that Brisbane will host the 2032 

Olympic and Paralympic Games is a once in a 

lifetime opportunity to showcase the Sunshine 

Coast across the globe. Not since Sydney 2000 

has our country hosted the world’s greatest 

sporting event and 2032 will put a spotlight on 

our region. The Maroochydore City Centre will be 

the home of  this region’s athlete’s village, housing 

officials, and athletes competing in events being 

held on the Sunshine Coast. 

Not only will the Games provide an outstanding 

opportunity to showcase the natural beauty and 

attractions of  our coastline and hinterland to a 

global audience, it will also provide an economic 

stimulus for our region leading up to and beyond 

the Games and will be a catalyst to enhance 

social and environmental outcomes for our 

communities. The announcement sets in motion 

extensive detailed planning for the staging of  the 

Games that will also support the liveability and 

connectivity of  South East Queensland.

The ongoing implementation of  our Community 

Strategy 2019-2041 continues to contribute to the 

social, cultural, and creative aspects of  life on 

the Sunshine Coast. We know that together we 

 
Message from the Mayor

Mark Jamieson 
Mayor
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thrive and that diversity in all its form is an asset to 

communities, enriching the lives of  residents and 

visitors alike. This year our multicultural programs 

continued to assist Sunshine Coast migrants 

to learn how to swim, build knowledge of  surf  

conditions, prepare people for employment and 

support the development of  small businesses. 

The renewed online community engagement 

platform called ‘Have Your Say’ was launched 

in July 2021, making it as easy as possible for 

residents to be involved in Council projects. More 

than 10,000 people have already registered and I 

encourage all Sunshine Coast residents to join the 

“Have Your Say” site to receive updates on new 

engagement activities and provide highly valued 

input that is used to inform Council’s planning and 

decision making.  

Now one year on since its formation, the Sunshine 

Coast Youth Council has already made great 

progress and our collaboration with the group 

continues to engage and empower young 

people on the Sunshine Coast. This group of  

future leaders developed and implemented an 

engagement program to get to the heart of  what 

matters most to young people. This ongoing 

engagement with young people in our region is 

important in delivering on our responsibility to 

plan for both current and future generations. 

Our partnerships with the First Nations 

community continue to deepen with our Innovate 

Reconciliation Action Plan 2021-2022 achieving 

endorsement from Reconciliation Australia. It is 

testament to Council’s commitment to build our 

capacity and sustain real action in how we partner 

with and support the First Nations community. 

When Council launched its first Reconciliation 

Action Plan in 2011, it was the first local 

government in Queensland to have developed 

its plan in partnership with Reconciliation 

Australia. Now we are in in the 11th year of  our 

reconciliation journey and headed in the right 

direction. 

Implementing our Environment and Liveability 

Strategy 2017 continues to assist in preserving 

and enhancing our natural environment, enabling 

a good quality of  life for all residents in an 

accessible and well-connected built environment. 

This strategy is a demonstration of  Council’s 

forward thinking and commitment to real actions 

as we plan for our growing population and the 

impacts of  a changing climate. 

In November Council acknowledged the existence 

of  a climate emergency, requiring urgent and 

sustained effort for our organisation to achieve 

zero-net emissions by 2041. This decision further 

supports our proactive approach to developing 

and implementing strong climate change policy 

that is evidence-based and aligned with the best 

available science. 

Our Council has a well-regarded reputation for 

preserving and enhancing our natural assets. 

This commitment was strengthened once again 

in June, when the Sunshine Coast was officially 

recognised as a UNESCO Biosphere. This historic 

announcement was the result of  more than six-

years of  hard work, dedication and collaboration 

with our residents and the Biosphere Community 

Reference Group. Together we developed a 

nomination that will now help guide our region as 

we grow – now and into the future. 

Our outstanding lifestyle continues to attract 

people to the region and our population is 

expected to grow to more than 500,000 people 

by 2041. Coupled with the 2032 Olympic and 

Paralympic Games, it is critical the Australian and 

Queensland Governments support the essential 

infrastructure needed to meet the present and 

future needs of  our growing community. Following 

extensive engagement with our community, 

Council endorsed the Sunshine Coast Mass 

Transit Options Analysis Report in October and 

submitted it to the Queensland Government. While 

Council is not responsible for the delivery and 

operation of  public transport on the Sunshine 

Coast, we have an important role to work on 

behalf  of  our community to plan and advocate for 

a more sustainable, efficient and reliable public 

transport network. 

A key component of  this future planning is the 

development of  Sunshine Coast Planning Scheme 

2024 that will guide growth and development on 

the Sunshine Coast. Shaped by a Community 

Reference Group, Council conducted an extensive 

community engagement process between 

February and March 2022, receiving more than 

6000 survey responses with 57,000 people 
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visiting Council’s ‘Have your Say’ engagement 

site. Our community has a high level of  interest in 

the future of  our region and Council will closely 

consider feedback as we proceed to draft our 

new planning scheme. 

Our Regional Economic Development Strategy 

2013-2033 has provided the blueprint to create 

our resilient economy and underpins the 

significant growth and diversification that has 

contributed to the $18.5 billion economy we have 

in our region today. 

Investment in the Maroochydore City Centre 

continued as buildings are visibly seen emerging 

from the ground. Once complete, the city centre 

will be the epicenter of  commerce, technology, 

innovation, entertainment and inner-city living and 

will provide an ideal offering to attract high value 

businesses to the region. 

In December, data centre operator NEXTDC 

purchased the International Broadband 

Submarine Cable landing station from Council in 

an $8 million deal that will create more jobs and 

stimulate more investment in our region. For a data 

centre operator, such as NEXTDC to establish 

a presence on the Sunshine Coast – outside of  

a capital city – demonstrates confidence in our 

region and will be a great stimulant to attract 

investment and local employment opportunities. 

For a third time, the Sunshine Coast received 

recognition as a Top7 Intelligent Community by 

the New York based Intelligent Community Forum. 

The award recognised our region as a connected 

and smart community with a thriving innovation 

ecosystem. Underpinning this recognition has 

been the future focused and enabling investments 

which Council has made in infrastructure and 

nurturing the development and growth of  talent 

and skills which will support the growing digital 

sophistication, ideas generation and connectivity 

that will make the Sunshine Coast truly nation 

leading.

Our region also received recognition as the #1 

most loved destination on the planet according to 

the Tourism Sentiment Index, which analysed 1.6 

billon online conversations about how people feel 

about a place. Our Sunshine Coast ranked in first 

place for striving to be our best for residents and 

for visitors, offering great travel experiences. 

Of  paramount importance in continuing to 

deliver for our community is the responsible 

management of  our budget and resources. I am 

proud to announce that despite the challenges 

of  the pandemic, our Council achieved its 14th 

consecutive year with an unmodified audit 

opinion.  I would like to acknowledge and thank 

my fellow Councillors and council’s senior 

executives for their commitment to prudent and 

disciplined management of  the organisation’s 

resources, while responding to and supporting 

the many facets of  community life. 

This is just a snapshot of  many more services and 

initiatives that our Council has delivered over the 

past year on behalf  of  our community. Getting the 

community, environment and economic balance 

right remains a fundamental commitment of  our 

Council as we seek to achieve our vision for the 

Sunshine Coast to be Australia’s most sustainable 

region. Healthy. Smart. Creative. 

Mayor Mark Jamieson
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Message from the  
Chief Executive Officer

At its core, Sunshine Coast Council’s purpose is 

to serve our community with excellence, respect 

our past and position our region for the future. 

This reflects our inclusive and collaborative 

approach to partnering with our community, 

business and across the organisation to progress 

Council’s vision as Australia’s most sustainable 

region. Healthy. Smart. Creative.

Council prides itself  on delivering services and 

programs which enable our community to thrive 

and this is made possible by our 1800 plus 

employees who are passionate about our region 

and our community. From parks, roads and 

pathways, stormwater drainage and environmental 

conservation, to libraries, venues, sport and 

recreational facilities and much more, our 

organisation remains focussed on responding to 

the current and future needs of  our communities.  

This year, we achieved some exceptional results 

considering the challenges we have faced 

responding to the COVID-19 pandemic and 

the advent of  three significant adverse weather 

events. 

The delivery of  our $268 million capital works 

program was impacted by supply chain 

constraints that resulted in longer lead times 

on many goods and services, increased costs 

and reduced availability of  labour and materials. 

Despite this we managed to deliver over 1480 

projects, including the award-winning Northern 

Parkland at Mooloolaba Foreshore, the Hinterland 

Blues AFL and Palmwoods cricket clubhouse 

and our region’s newest community facility – the 

Beerwah Community Meeting Place.

The La Niña weather pattern was another 

significant disrupter to our services. In late 

February and early March, our region was 

inundated with heavy rain from a weather system 

that caused flooding in areas across the Sunshine 

Coast, resulting in significant damage to many of  

our community assets. 

The Council-led Local Disaster Management 

Group was activated and responded immediately, 

Emma Thomas 
Chief Executive Officer
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with our Council crews working tirelessly to 

inspect potentially damaged community assets, 

make them safe and repair them as quickly as 

possible. Council’s social media posts provided 

crucial information about the weather events and 

were viewed more than 739,000 times over just 

five days in February. The collaborative response 

of  our emergency management partners in a time 

of  need was a clear demonstration of  why our 

relationships with community, local organisations 

and authorities, business owners and other tiers 

of  government are so important. 

I am really proud of  the agility our organisation 

has shown to respond to challenges and to 

provide the invaluable leadership and support 

when our communities need it most. 

Our unwavering focus on sustainability remains 

an important anchor in everything we do. Our 

sustainability commenced a new chapter in 

November  when Council acknowledged the 

existence of  a climate emergency and in doing 

so, committed to urgent and sustained action to 

achieve our strategic target of  being a zero-net 

emissions organisation by 2041. 

This built on the climate actions being 

implemented as part of  the Environment and 

Liveability Strategy 2017 and strengthened 

our climate action policy position. In response, 

a governance structure and framework were 

established to support a whole-of-Council 

approach with outcomes that embed climate 

change adaptation more effectively into our 

everyday business. 

There are many actions that exemplified our 

commitment to climate action over the past 12 

months, including the:

• Roll-out of  rooftop solar systems across many 

of  our buildings 

• Launch of  the ‘regional erosion and sediment 

education and trail’ (RESET) site and program 

to improve construction management 

practices, and

• Distribution of  more than 45,000 garden 

organics bins in May as part of  the first phase 

of  the expanded waste collection services, 

diverting waste from landfill.

Council also awarded its new $146 million waste 

collection contract to JJ’s Waste & Recycling in 

August. This partnership will support the delivery 

of  the Sunshine Coast Waste Strategy, support the 

development of  our region’s circular economy and 

help us to pursue our zero-net emissions targets.

There is no doubt that our region continues 

to offer one of  the most attractive lifestyles in 

Australia, if  not the world, and our population is 

continuing to grow. Managing this growth is a key 

priority for Council, given it impacts our services, 

our assets and our communities.  Our Council is 

adopting a comprehensive planning process to 

manage growth, through our long-term strategies, 

our service and asset management plans and the 

development of  a new planning scheme that will 

guide future development across the region. 

As a Council we are committed to being a truly 

outstanding organisation that is marked by 

great people, good governance and regional 

leadership. 

We understand that delivering on our strategic 

objectives, providing positive customer 

experiences and having strong and collaborative 

partnerships are dependent on one important 

ingredient– our people. This year we have 

commenced a CultureBoost program to engage 

our employees in designing a culture and values 

that will enable us to further advance our vision 

and goals for the region and build our reputation 

as an ideal place to work.  

The safety of  all our residents, visitors and 

employees is as always of  paramount importance 

and this year we launched the Wellbeing, 

Health and Safety Policy Plan 2021-2025. This 

underpins Council’s approach to enhancing our 

safety culture and has contributed to a 23 per 

cent decrease in the employee lost-time-injury 

frequency rate from the previous year. 

Deepening our understanding of  traditions, 

culture and strengthening connections with First 
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Nations communities is an important part of  how 

we engage across our diverse communities. 

During the year, we launched a pilot program 

for 450 employees to participate in First Nations 

face-to-face cultural training and local on-country 

learning experiences. These sessions form part 

of  a program designed to educate Council 

employees on cultural awareness and provide 

invaluable learning experiences that enrich our 

understanding about our region’s past. It also 

enables us to further enhance our connection to 

the land and Traditional Owners, as a partnership 

in positioning the region for the future.

This has been another very rewarding year to 

be part of  the Sunshine Coast Council, however 

as one financial year closes, another begins. In 

June, Council adopted its $847 million 2022/23 

budget which will continue to enable us to deliver 

a stronger, better and sustainable Sunshine Coast, 

with a focus on local first – local communities, our 

local environment and local business. 

I would like to thank all of  Council’s employees 

for their efforts throughout the year – it has been 

a busy year that has included some incredibly 

difficult circumstances. Their contribution is what 

makes our organisation what it is and reflects our 

fundamental commitment to service on behalf  of  

our community. When we work together, we truly 

make our region the sustainable, healthy, smart 

and creative place that it is.  

Emma Thomas 
Chief Executive Officer
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Our Sunshine Coast

The Sunshine Coast is widely acknowledged as a 

highly desirable place to live, work and play, with 

abundant natural resources and a unique lifestyle.

Located in South East Queensland, just north of  

Greater Brisbane, the Sunshine Coast Council local 

government area covers an area of  2,291 square 

kilometres, is a major urban and economic centre 

and an emerging city-region.

The Sunshine Coast has a strong reputation as a 

lifestyle region defined by its subtropical climate, 

picturesque coastline and beaches, extensive 

waterways and wetlands, and the hinterland 

mountain ranges. The natural environment and 

distinct landscapes influence the Sunshine Coast 

way of  life.

In June 2022, the Sunshine Coast was officially 

recognised internationally as a UNESCO Biosphere 

(only five exist within Australia) which will help 

our local government protect and enhance our 

environment, culture, lifestyle and economy for 

future generations.

Our local government serves an estimated 

population of  346,6481 people (as at 30 June 

2021) and includes 149,121 rateable properties. 

The average annual population growth for our local 

government area is 2.9 per cent, adding almost 

8000 people every year. Most residents live within 

established urban centres along the coast, and 

while all age groups are well represented within 

the Sunshine Coast’s population, the most common 

age cohort is people aged between 45 to 54 years 

and their children.

The Sunshine Coast has one of  the largest 

economies (A$18.5 billion) of  all local government 

regional areas in Australia and has maintained 

growth rates above the state average2  for 

almost 10 years. The median weekly household 

income on the Sunshine Coast is $1595 and 

the unemployment rate is 3.4 per cent3, which 

is the fifth lowest within Queensland. High-value 

industries include health and wellbeing, education 

and research, tourism, sport and leisure, food 

and agribusiness, clean technologies, aviation 

and aerospace, plus knowledge industries and 

professional services.

On behalf of our community the Sunshine Coast Council manages and protects:

60 kilometres 
of coastline

7577 
hectares of 
environmental 
reserves

3043 
kilometres 
of roads

More than 
12,000 
kilometres 
of waterways 1210 parks

1400 
kilometres 
of pathways

1 Australian Bureau of  Statistics Regional population, 2021 (rebased)
2 National Institute of  Economic and Industry Research, 2021 
3 Queensland Government Statistician’s Office: ABS 6291.0.55.001, released 21 July 2022
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Our Council

Sunshine Coast Council is served by 11 elected representatives comprising the Mayor and 10 

Councillors. Their primary role is to put in place the policies, programs, local laws and service 

arrangements that support the needs of  our community, now and into the future.

The Sunshine Coast Council local government area is made up of  10 divisions.

Sunshine Coast local 
government area divisions
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Councillors represent the community 

and make decisions that consider 

the needs of  both current and future 

residents in the best interest of  the 

Sunshine Coast region.

Councillors are assigned a portfolio 

aligned to the strategic goals and 

priorities of  Council.

Councillors

A Mayor Mark Jamieson
 Portfolio: Regional 

Advocacy and 

Intergovernmental Relations

B Deputy Mayor  
Rick Baberowski 
Division 1

 Portfolio: Community 

C Cr Terry Landsberg
 Division 2

 Portfolio: Economy

D Cr Peter Cox
 Division 3

 Portfolio: Environment  

and Liveability 

E Cr Joe Natoli
 Division 4 

 Portfolio: Outstanding 

Organisation

F Cr Winston Johnston
 Division 5

 Portfolio: Service 

Excellence

G Cr Christian Dickson
 Division 6 

 Portfolio: Service 

Excellence

H Cr Ted Hungerford
 Division 7

 Portfolio: Outstanding 

Organisation

I Cr Jason O’Pray
 Division 8

 Portfolio: Economy

J  Cr Maria Suarez
 Division 9

 Portfolio: Environment  

and Liveability

K Cr David Law
 Division 10 

 Portfolio: Community

A
J

B I

K
F E D

GH C
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Elected Council
(Mayor and Councillors)

Chief Executive Officer

Built 
Infrastructure

Business 
Performance

Customer 
Engagement 
and Planning 

Services

Economic and 
Community 

Development

Liveability 
and Natural 

Assets

Office 
of the 
Mayor

Office 
of the 
CEO

Our corporate structure

Our corporate structure facilitates a high performing, innovative and customer focused organisation 

marked by great people, good governance and strong leadership. Council’s senior management, under 

the direction of  the Chief  Executive Officer, provides leadership and direction to progress the strategic 

outcomes determined by Council, as well as ensuring excellence in local government services.

As of  30 June 2022.
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Performance against  
our Corporate and  
Operational Plans
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Sunshine Coast Council 
Corporate Plan 2021-2025

OUR VISION

OUR PURPOSE

OUR SERVICE EXCELLENCE

OUR OUTSTANDING ORGANISATION

To serve our community 
with excellence, respect 
our past, and position our 
region for the future.

Australia’s most sustainable region. Healthy. Smart. Creative.

OUR VALUES

Respect for each other

Being our best

Working as one team

High standards

Service excellence

OUR GOALS

Our organisation is high performing, 
innovative and community focused, marked 
by great people, good governance and 
regional leadership.

Our communities are connected and thriving 
places where people are included, treated with 
respect and opportunities are available for all.

Strategic pathways
• Healthy and active communities

• Vibrant community places and spaces that are 

inclusive, accessible and adaptable

• An inclusive community, with opportunities for 

everyone

• Connected, resilient communities, with the 

capacity to respond to local issues

• Creative and innovative approaches to building  

a strong community.

OUR STRONG COMMUNITY

Our services are consistent and accessible 
and provide positive experiences for our 
customers and value to our community.
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OUR ENVIRONMENT AND LIVEABILITY OUR RESILIENT ECONOMY

Delivery pathways 
• Engage with our community to inform asset management and service delivery

• Know and understand our customers

• Design accessible, flexible and innovative services that meet community needs

• Deliver consistent service levels that provide positive experiences for our community

• Assess service performance and sustainability to inform evidence-based business planning.

Delivery pathways 
• Maintain a financially sustainable organisation that balances the needs of  our growing region 

• Provide quality information, systems and processes to deliver fit for purpose solutions

• Embrace a safe and collaborative workplace culture that attracts and retains high performing and 

engaged people

• Demonstrate accountable leadership, future planning, and good governance that provides confidence 

to our community

• Partner with community, business and government to represent and advocate the needs of  our region.

Our natural assets, healthy environment 
and liveability credentials are maintained 
and enhanced.

Strategic pathways
• A resilient region shaped by clever planning  

and good design

• Protection and enhancement of  our natural 

assets and distinctive landscapes

• Responsive, accessible and well managed 

assets and infrastructure

• Transitioning to a sustainable and affordable 

way of  living

• A reputation for innovation and sustainability.

Our resilient, high-value economy of  choice 
drives business performance, investment  
and enduring employment.

Strategic pathways
• Strong economic leadership, collaboration  

and identity

• New capital investment in the region

• Investment and growth in high value industries, 

innovation and entrepreneurship

• Strong local to global connections

• A natural, major and regional event destination

• Encourage investment in talent and skills.
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Our Strong Community
Our communities are connected and thriving 

places where people are included, treated with 

respect and opportunities are available for all.

2021/22 Goal measures

Measure Target Result

Percentage of  the community who report being in good health 82% 87%

Percentage of  residents who are neutral, agree or strongly agree that Council's 
community infrastructure meets the needs of  their community

Greater than or 
equal to 80%

70%*

Overall liveability index score 63.9  
(by 2026)

61.6**

Percentage of  residents who agree that they can get help from friends, family, 
neighbours or community organisations when they need it 

Greater than or 
equal to 85%

86%

Growth in social enterprises operating in the Sunshine Coast local government 
area

Greater than or 
equal to 22 at 2025

6% growth 
(total 19)

Key highlights 2021/22

Community Strategy 2019-2041

The Sunshine Coast Community Strategy 2019-2041 outlines a framework for 
Council and our community to work together to advance our shared goal for a strong 
community through to 2041. This report highlights several priorities that have been 
delivered over the financial year as this strategy is put into action.

This goal is delivered through a focus on the following strategic pathways:

1. Healthy and active communities

2. Vibrant community places and spaces that are inclusive, accessible and adaptable

3. An inclusive community, with opportunities for all

4. Connected, resilient communities, with the capacity to respond to local issues

5. Creative and innovative approaches to building a strong community.

*  This is a baseline result and may have been impacted by reduced usage as a result of  the COVID-19 pandemic. This will continue 
to be monitored to provide insights into the effectiveness of  Council’s investment in community infrastructure.

** This result is on track to achieve the target of  63.9 in 2026, with a positive increase on the 2020/21 result.
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1. Healthy and active 
communities

Delivery Partner of the  
Brisbane 2032 Olympic and 
Paralympic Games 

Council welcomed the International Olympic 

Committee’s announcement on 21 July 2021 that 

Brisbane, Queensland has secured the rights to 

host the 2032 Olympic and Paralympic Games. 

The Sunshine Coast will play an integral role 

in the Games and be home to four key venues 

and several sporting events including football, 

basketball, marathon, mountain biking, cycling 

and kiteboarding. Detailed planning has 

commenced for the staging of  the Games which 

will support the liveability and connectivity of  

South East Queensland (one of  the fastest-

growing regions in Australia). 

In April 2022, the Sunshine Coast 2032 Legacy 

Plan Community Reference Group was officially 

formed and is chaired by two-time Paralympian 

and University of  the Sunshine Coast Public 

Health Lecturer Doctor Bridie Kean. Joining 

Dr Kean are 16 Sunshine Coast residents who 

represent various sectors such as people with 

a disability, environment and sustainability, 

education and research, youth, business and 

tourism and events.

2. Vibrant community places 
and spaces that are inclusive, 
accessible and adaptable

World-class sporting and  
event facilities

Council’s world-class sporting facilities - the 

Sunshine Coast Stadium, Kawana Sports 

Precinct, Maroochydore Multi Sports Complex 

and Caloundra Indoor Stadium - attract national 

and international sporting teams and fixtures. 

During the year, these facilities held National 

Rugby League, Australian Football League 

Women’s (AFLW), Super Rugby Union and 

Rugby World Cup Qualifier games, the Suncorp 

Super Netball and Thunder Netball Premiership, 

plus major events such as Nitro Circus and the 

Midnight Oil tour. 

In an exciting first for the region, the 

Maroochydore Multi Sports Complex was named 

as the home base for the Brisbane Lions Women’s 

team for the 2022 AFLW championship season. 

The facilities offered members, fans and players 

alike an exciting event experience, including AFL 

standard playing field and easy access parking 

onsite and in surrounding areas. 

Transport Levy funded activities 

The $6.5 million Transport Levy helps Council 

support the future transport needs of  the 

Sunshine Coast. The levy directed funding to five 

key areas that aim to improve connectivity across 

the Sunshine Coast:

• $4.4 million was allocated to the Transport 

Futures Fund to support efforts to secure other 

government investment in strategic transport 

needs for the region

• $1.2 million invested in research, monitoring, 

planning and forecasting to build our knowledge 

and progress strategic outcomes

• $590,000 to improve public transport 

infrastructure across the Sunshine Coast

• $493,000 to develop initiatives that educate, 

inform and assist the travel behaviour of  users, 

and

• $279,000 on investigating and trialling improved 

public transport services to assist community 

areas not currently serviced by public transport.
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Wheelchair mapping tool pilot 

A revolutionary pilot project focused on inclusivity 

and mobility has changed the way our community 

travels across some popular areas of  the 

Sunshine Coast. Council partnered with Briometrix 

and Spinal Life Australia to undertake the project 

– both leading providers of  technology solutions 

for people with disabilities. 

Using modern mapping technology, wheelchairs 

were turned into mapping tools with specially 

trained “wheelchair pilots” (local residents) 

and devices installed to track routes from 

Maroochydore to Mooloolaba. This pilot program 

collects information about the condition of  our 

footpaths, access to public transport, parking, 

amenities, boardwalks, beaches and more. The 

data was used to create an online mobility map 

published on Council’s website for residents and 

visitors to use when getting around the Sunshine 

Coast.

Beerwah Community Meeting Place 

The $1.6 million Beerwah Community Meeting 

Place - located next door to the Beerwah Library 

- opened to the public in September 2021. 

The facility design was inspired by the natural 

environment that surrounds it and includes 

sustainability measures such as using recycled 

and locally sourced hardwood and other low-

maintenance and durable building materials. It 

boasts flexible, multifunctional and adaptable 

indoor/outdoor meeting areas and social spaces 

suitable for all sorts of  group sizes and ages.

The facility was constructed with funding from 

the Queensland Government’s Unite and Recover 

Community Stimulus Package with work done by 

local Sunshine Coast businesses.

ThinkChange

Launching in May 2022, ThinkChange is a Travel 

Behaviour Change program and a key action 

of  the Integrated Transport Strategy. Over the 

past two years, Council has consulted and 

collaborated with the community to understand 

and recognise the need to achieve genuine, 

sustainable change. 

At its core, ThinkChange is about helping 

everyone on the Sunshine Coast consider ways 

to reduce car usage and the distance travelled in 

cars, to consider taking public transport, or even 

replace short car trips with walking, scooting or 

cycling. This program will pilot initiatives with a 

focus on five categories: community, education, 

workplace, event and visitor-based initiatives.

3. An inclusive community,  
with opportunities for all

Community engagement 

Council implements excellence in community 

engagement through our engagement framework 

and policy with the aim to embed genuine, 

inclusive, fit-for-purpose activities and outcomes 

as a key component of  Council’s regular business 

practice.  

A renewed online community engagement 

platform called ‘Have Your Say’ was launched by 

Council in July 2021 to provide a freshly designed 

engagement hub that is easy-to-navigate for 

Sunshine Coast residents. The upgrade also 

offers improved functionality and participation 

tools. More than 10,000 community members have 

registered to the site and since launching, a 27 

per cent increase in subscribers was recorded.

Thriving multicultural communities

Recognising, respecting, and embracing diverse 

cultures is integral to Council’s commitment to 

strengthen the resilience and prosperity of  our 

multicultural communities. Through the sharing of  

information, resources and educational programs, 

Council helps to prepare migrants for living in 

Australia. During the year:

• 24 people graduated from the eight-week 

Migrant Work Ready program preparing 

migrants for jobs and improving employment 

opportunities

• 8 people graduated from the first six-week 

Migrant Business Ready Scholarship to 

support the development of  small businesses

• 90 people participated in the seven-week 

Migrant Learn to Swim and Beach Safe 

program that builds swimming skills, water 

safety and fosters connections between the 

participants, and

• Council coordinated a week-long program 

of  community conversations, workshops and 

events in collaboration with the Sunshine Coast 

Multicultural Network and Nambour Community 

Centre for Harmony Week from 15 to 21 March 

2022. 
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Sunshine Coast Youth Council

The Sunshine Coast Youth Council (Youth 

Council) has been running for a year as part of  

Council’s commitment to engage and empower 

young people and foster youth leadership. In 

March 2022, the Youth Council developed and 

implemented a six-week engagement program 

to hear from young people aged 12-24 years old 

across the region and gain an understanding of  

what is important to them and their interests and 

priorities. 

A total of  614 surveys and 16 stories were 

received which revealed the top three topics 

young people love most about the Sunshine 

Coast: relationships with friends and family, 

outdoor spaces (for example beaches) and the 

environment broadly. Furthermore, the survey 

revealed the top three areas of  concern for young 

people were youth mental health, drug and/

or alcohol issues and public safety. The results 

have informed the Youth Council’s priorities in 

terms of  advocacy and the development and 

implementation of  youth-led initiatives. 

The Youth Council also played a lead role in 

delivering the Sunshine Coast Youth Week event, 

held in April 2022 in collaboration with six youth 

support agencies.

Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan 
2021-2022

A number of  reconciliation actions were 

implemented throughout the year, including:

• The inaugural First Nations Supplier Day was 

held in November 2021, showcasing 40 First 

Nations suppliers (38 of  which were local) to 

200 attendees

• With support from Council and Visit Sunshine 

Coast, 1100 First Nations delegates attended 

Australia’s biggest Indigenous conference, the 

Australian Institute of  Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Islander Studies Summit held at Novotel 

Sunshine Coast from 30 May to 3 June 2022

• Council partnered with Sunshine Coast 

Lightning to support the Suncorp Super Netball 

Indigenous Round, and

• Traditional Custodians participated in Council’s 

fire management program including capacity 

building, knowledge sharing and training.

Did you know?
In 2021/22:

• More than $4.6 million was awarded through 875 Council community grants for projects, 
events and partnerships that provide direct benefit to our residents 

• 2.8 million items were borrowed from Council’s libraries and mobile libraries 
• 15,000 visitors attended Caloundra Regional Gallery exhibitions 
• More than 2.2 million people attended community events at 28 Council venues

• $5.7 million was invested in lifeguard services for beach safety during the year
• 11,203 passengers travelled a total of 53,924 kilometres using the Council Link services 

funded through the Transport Levy, and
• 204,447 people attended 40 major events at Sunshine Coast Stadium and 7 major events 

at Caloundra Indoor Stadium.
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4. Connected, resilient 
communities, with the capacity  
to respond to local issues

Response to Domestic and  
Family Violence

As a strong advocate in spreading the important 

message of  zero tolerance towards domestic and 

family violence in our community, Council supported 

a number of  important initiatives throughout the 

year, including:

• Partnering with the Domestic and Family Violence 

Prevention Council to deliver a full day program 

on 19 November 2021, including meetings and 

activities with local domestic violence prevention 

community groups

• Partnering with the Make It Stop Committee to 

plant 300 native trees and shrubs along the 

Mooloolaba Foreshore Reserve on 30 November 

2021 as part of  the 16 Days of  Activism against 

Gender Based Violence 

• Hosting a candle-lighting vigil in partnership 

with Centacare held at Cotton Tree Park, 

Maroochydore in May 2022 to mark Domestic 

and Family Violence Prevention Month, with more 

than 250 people gathered to take a stand against 

abuse, and

• Donating the final 51 of  a total 100 phones to 

DV Safe Phone to assist victims of  domestic 

and family violence and announced Council’s 

Caloundra and Nambour customer contact 

centres would be collection points for the 

Sunshine Coast community wishing to donate 

working mobile phones for those in need.

Sunshine Coast Public  
Transport project

The Sunshine Coast Mass Transit Options Analysis 

Report was endorsed by Council at a Special 

Meeting in October 2021. The report investigated 

ways to better connect our community between 

Maroochydore City Centre and Sunshine Coast 

University Hospital at Birtinya and, over time, 

Caloundra.

The report recommended five options to proceed 

to the Detailed Business Case stage and was 

provided to the Queensland Government for future 

investigation as they are responsible for public 

transport networks.

Disaster Management

On behalf  of  our community, Council is at all times 

vigilant and prepared for the possibility of  a disaster 

emergency and is ready to assist the community prior 

to, during and in the recovery of  a disaster event. 

The significant flood and weather events in February 

and March 2022 (declared a natural disaster by the 

Queensland Government) resulted in significant 

damage of  our roads and public assets. As the 

lead coordinator, Council activated the Sunshine 

Coast Local Disaster Management Group (LDMG) 

to provide a coordinated response and recovery 

effort for our region. Many residents also referred 

to Council’s Facebook page for trusted information, 

and in the first week of  the severe weather event in 

February 2022, Council’s social media posts were 

viewed more than 740,000 times.

The COVID-19 testing clinic at the Nambour 

Showgrounds concluded on 23 February 2022 

as the site was converted to an evacuation centre 

for six-days to support the community during this 

time. Council also worked with the University of  the 

Sunshine Coast to establish a ‘Place of  Refuge’ to 

accommodate stranded motorists heading south 

through the region when the Bruce Highway was 

closed. 

Mooloolaba and Caloundra  
Transport Corridor Upgrade projects

Council is improving connectivity and travel choices 

across our region. In the heart of  Mooloolaba, 

Brisbane Road and Walan Street are being expanded 

from two to four traffic lanes. Construction of  

stages two and three of  the project (known as the 

Mooloolaba Transport Corridor Upgrade) continued 

during the year which included the widening of  the 

western side of  Brisbane Road and associated 

intersection upgrades, and extensive Unitywater 

infrastructure relocations at the intersection of  

Hancock Street. This project will enhance the 

southern entrance into Mooloolaba and create a 

corridor that is integrated and inviting for pedestrians, 

cyclists, motorists and public transport users.

In addition, our careful planning over the last 

eight years has enabled Council to progress the 

Caloundra Transport Corridor Upgrade. This project 

will be delivered in multiple stages over three 

years. The concept design was finalised in June 

2022 following extensive community engagement 

(undertaken in 2021), as well as the preparation of  

tender documentation for detailed design.
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5. Creative and innovative 
approaches to building a  
strong community

Heritage Levy funded activities

The $1.9 million Heritage Levy supports the 

delivery of  the Sunshine Coast Heritage Plan 

2021-2031 and funds a range of  programs 

aligned to Council’s strategic priorities. During the 

year, key projects funded included:

• $637,000 allocated to the Heritage Futures 

Fund to support a Regional Collections Store 

and Interpretive Facility 

• $210,000 for research and digitisation of  

significant regional collections

• $162,000 provided through grants programs 

to support First Nations groups, community 

museums and historical societies

• $135,000 invested in the conservation of  the 

region’s heritage assets

• $115,000 to support the region’s community 

museums and historical societies, and

• $157,000 to support regional heritage 

programs and events, support First Nations 

collaborations and emerging heritage 

practitioners.

Sunshine Coast Arts

Through the delivery of  the Sunshine Coast 

Arts Plan 2018-2038, Council plays a critical 

development role in the creative industries and 

the cultural identity of  the Sunshine Coast by 

supporting artists through education programs, 

artist-in-residencies, and public art commissions. 

This year, more than 15,000 people attended the 

Caloundra Regional Gallery (the gallery) to view 

national and international art exhibitions, including 

the annual flagship program, the Sunshine Coast 

Art Prize.  

The gallery also manages the Sunshine Coast 

art collection and public art collection; important 

assets which provide an anchor point for 

cultural tourism and civic pride while enriching 

the community’s cultural landscape. Through 

donations and the Sunshine Coast Art Prize, the 

collection grew by approximately nine per cent, 

with 86 works added to the 1076 individual items, 

taking the collection to a total value of  $4.28 

million. 
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Our Environment  
and Liveability
Our natural assets, healthy environment and liveability 

credentials are maintained and enhanced. 

2021/22 Goal measures

Measure Target Result

Maintain the size of  the Regional Inter-urban Break to its 2017 extent. Equal to 32,034 
hectares

32,034 hectares

Hectares of  land per 1000 residents acquired through Environment Levy 
for conservation and preservation purposes maintained.

9.6 hectares per 
1000 residents

11.25 per 1000 
residents^*

Hectares of  land per 1000 residents for sport and recreation purposes. 5 hectares per  
1000 residents  
(by 2041)^

4.65 hectares per 
1000 residents**

Region’s renewable energy capacity Greater than 318.60 
Megawatts (MW) 

388.10 MW

Council’s greenhouse gas emissions (total / per resident)+ 180,863.71 tCO
2
e / 

Less than 0.50 
tCO

2
e per resident

222,524 tCO
2
e / 

0.62 tCO
2
e per 

resident^***

Key highlights 2021/22

Environment and Liveability Strategy 2017

Now in its fifth year of  implementation, our Environment and Liveability Strategy 
2017 continues to guide actions to plan for our growing population and manage our 
response to climate change, while also delivering a healthy environment and liveable 
Sunshine Coast for our community. The highlights below demonstrate how Council 
is striking a balance between our natural and built environments while supporting a 
strong economy and our diverse communities into the future.

 This goal is advanced through a focus on the following strategic pathways:

1. A resilient region shaped by clever planning and good design

2. Protection and enhancement of  our natural assets and distinctive landscapes

3. Responsive, accessible and well managed assets and infrastructure

4. Transitioning to a sustainable and affordable way of  living

5. A reputation for innovation and sustainability.

* Council acquired 165.5 hectares of  land in the 2021/22 financial year through the Environment Levy Acquisition Program.
**  This is a 2041 target. Council secured 230 hectares of  land over the 2021/22 financial year.
***  Tracking behind target predominantly due to an update to the methane emissions calculations, continued population growth and 

impacts to waste volumes through the February 2022 flood event, resulting in a 9 per cent increase in waste tonnage to landfill

+ tCO
2
e = tonnes of  carbon dioxide equivalent.

^ Population = 360,108 (30 June 2022). Source Queensland Treasury, Queensland Government population projections, 2018 edition, 
medium series.
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1. A resilient region shaped by 
clever planning and good design

Climate action

Council passed a resolution in November 2021, 

recognising that we are in a state of  climate 

emergency that requires urgent and sustained 

effort to achieve net zero emissions by 2041. 

A progress update on climate actions was 

presented to Council in March 2022, which 

recognised the next 10 years was the decade 

of  climate action globally, nationally, and locally. 

Council’s climate change response will focus on 

working towards the following outcomes:

• Being a zero-net emissions organisation by 2041

• Embedding climate change adaptation more 

effectively into organisational business

• Increasing the organisation’s adaptive capacity 

and resilience of  the services and functions that 

we are responsible for, and

• Ensuring our community is prepared and able to 

contribute.

In a partnership with Noosa Shire Council, Council 

received Local Government Association of  

Queensland funding to pilot the first phase of  the 

Queensland Climate Resilient Councils Climate 

Risk Management Framework – an approach to 

assist local governments to address climate risk 

now and into the future.

Placemaking and design

Good placemaking and design is key to Council’s 

long-term design strategy to help our community 

and Council manage the challenges of  population 

growth, economic development and climate 

change so the liveability of  the Sunshine Coast is 

maintained and enhanced into the future.

Placemaking covers a broad range of  projects 

from streetscape beautification, improved 

pedestrian experiences and park and foreshore 

redevelopments. The placemaking process allows 

our community to contribute in shaping local places 

to improve the place experience, safety, inclusivity, 

activation and character. 

Some of  the projects delivered during the year include 

the new streetscape for Rosebed Street, Eudlo which 

was completed in April 2022. The project has improved 

the main thoroughfare by providing a green injection 

to cool and beautify the urban environment, upgraded 

pedestrian crossings and a realignment of  carparks. 

The Nambour Forecourt Revamp was a unique project 

that has activated a much loved civic space, resulting 

in a socially engaging, collaborative and fun place that 

has been embraced by the local community. 

In addition, upgrades at Blackall Street, Woombye 

commenced and streetscape design has been 

developed for Memorial Drive Eumundi with community 

consultation concluding in March 2022. 

Protecting our coastline

The Coastal Hazard Adaptation Strategy continues to 

be implemented by proactively managing, responding 

and adapting to the impacts of  coastal hazards. 

CoastSnap stations were implemented across several 

beaches in December 2021. People can place their 

phone in the cradle, take a picture of  the beach and 

upload it to CoastSnap. This helps to create a time-

lapse video that will track changes to the shoreline 

over time.

Investigations commenced in March 2022 to trial a 

method of  sand nourishment at Maroochydore beach 

to protect the area from the effects of  severe weather. 

The technique involves importing sand from outside 

the region and placing it in the water about 300 

metres off  the beach. Waves, currents and tides will 

then deposit the sand onto our beaches providing an 

additional buffer to future storms and coastal erosion. 

Coastal protection works commenced on stage two 

of  the Maroochy Groyne Field Renewal project in April 

2022 to help shield the Cotton Tree foreshore from the 

current and future impacts of  coastal erosion. 
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Stormwater Management Strategy 

Council adopted the Stormwater Management 

Strategy in August 2021. The strategy provides 

more effective stormwater management for our 

community and addresses existing and future 

challenges and opportunities. It does this by 

ensuring our waterways are healthy, are protecting 

people and property from flooding and utilises 

stormwater and rainwater as a resource. 

Meeting the stormwater management needs of  

our growing community in a changing climate is 

critical to delivering a healthy environment and 

liveable Sunshine Coast. The strategy builds on 

the work done in the Environment and Liveability 

Strategy 2017 and complements other major 

projects such as Blue Heart Sunshine Coast and 

the Coastal Hazard Adaptation Strategy. 

In addition, a range of  activities were undertaken 

to plan for the future and manage the potential 

impacts of  climate change and severe weather 

events, including:

• A range of  online flood mapping products 

were provided for our community to access via 

Council’s website, and

• A stormwater culvert study, investigating and 

testing stormwater infrastructure progressed 

which will present findings on effective inlet 

modifications to improve culvert performance.

Recreation Parks Plan 2021-2031

The 10-year Sunshine Coast Recreation Parks 

Plan 2021-2031 was adopted by Council in 

December 2021. The development of  the plan 

included extensive community engagement, held 

between February and April 2021, with feedback 

incorporated in the final plan. 

This plan provides the framework for the delivery 

and management of  functional and affordable 

recreation parks as well as delivering spaces for 

our community to enjoy and enhancing the natural 

character of  the Sunshine Coast’s environment.

Point Cartwright Reserve and 
La Balsa Park Master Plan

Council is progressing the Point Cartwright 

Reserve and La Balsa Park Master Plan 

which proposes to guide the future use and 

management of  the area.

Between 29 November 2021 to 9 January 2022, 

the community were invited to share their values 

and future vision, which resulted in 2350 online 

survey responses, and 100 plus community 

members visiting three pop up sessions at 

La Balsa park.

Feedback will inform the development for the draft 

Master Plan and the community which have an 

opportunity to engage on the project to ensure 

their aspirations have been captured.
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2. Protection and enhancement 
of our natural assets and 
distinctive landscapes

Environment Levy funded activities

The Environment Levy supports the delivery of  

various transformational actions set out within the 

Environment and Liveability Strategy 2017. During 

the year, a total of  $13.16 million was allocated to 

a range of  actions, including:

• $5.67 million spent on the acquisition of  four 

properties adding a further 165 hectares to 

Council’s conservation estate

• $1.1 million invested in coastal protection works 

and dune rehabilitation  

• $610,000 provided to 19 partnership 

community groups

• $740,000 invested in invasive species research, 

action and community engagement

• $325,000 for Landholder Environment Grants 

to 103 private landholders to undertake on-

ground projects, and

• $220,000 invested in erosion and sediment 

control and waterway protection.

3. Responsive, accessible and 
well managed assets and 
infrastructure

South East Queensland City Deal - 
Blue Heart 

The Australian Government, Queensland 

Government and the Council of  Mayors South 

East Queensland (CoMSEQ) signed the South 

East Queensland (SEQ) City Deal on 21 March 

2022. Through the SEQ City Deal, Council will 

receive a commitment of  $35.3 million towards the 

Blue Heart Sunshine Coast, which will help ensure 

the Maroochy River catchment continues to play 

its important flood storage role and maintain its 

biodiversity, as we respond to the challenges of  a 

changing climate. 

In addition to this funding is $2 million received 

from the Australian Government to deliver a 

Blue Carbon Wetland Restoration project, 

restoring publicly owned former farming land to 

coastal wetlands. Investigations are underway 

to understand how the site might be registered 

as a blue carbon project through the Australian 

government’s Clean Energy Regulator to generate 

carbon credits. 

Did you know?
In 2021/22:

• 5960 metres of the region’s stormwater pipes were inspected for defects
• 19 tonnes of litter was removed from Sunshine Coast waterways
• 22,080 hectares of mowing and garden beds were maintained
• 450 hectares of new land was secured for conservation and recreation purposes
• 1256 registered Land for Wildlife properties maintained 38,368 hectares 

• 6630 MWh of power was generated from Council’s landfill Renewable Energy Facility in 
Caloundra

• Landfill gas capture systems at Caloundra and Nambour waste facilities reduced the regions 
greenhouse gas emissions by 67,201 tCO2e

• 3000 Sunshine Coast volunteers removed more than 61,000 pieces of rubbish for beach 
clean-up programs from 93 sites, and 

• 50 environmental sensors were installed across the region to understand climate conditions 
such as heat in our urban areas.
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Sunshine Coast Ecological Park

Council commenced the next phase of  planning 

for the proposed Sunshine Coast ecological 

park – 65 hectares adjoining Mary Cairncross 

Scenic Reserve. Feedback was sought from the 

community in May 2022 testing the project’s vision 

and values and determining community sentiment 

and desired outcomes for an ecological park.

In addition, an Excellence Advisory Panel and 

Community Reference Group was established 

to help inform the development of  a draft master 

plan, which will be available for community input 

in early 2023. 

This is an exciting and important project, aligning 

with Council’s commitments to grow our green 

spaces for generations to come.

Progressing a new planning scheme 

Council is preparing a new planning scheme to 

set the vision for the Sunshine Coast in 2041 and 

guide growth and development to help achieve 

that vision. 

Ten Sunshine Coast residents joined the New 

Planning Scheme Community Reference Group 

(CRG) in August 2021 to shape the consultation 

program which ran for seven weeks during 

February and March 2022. More than 57,000 

people visited Council’s engagement website and 

more than 6000 surveys were submitted. 

While views and opinions were diverse, analysis 

of  feedback revealed that Council’s proposed 

planning directions for the new planning scheme 

are guided by the right principles. The large 

volume of  feedback has provided a great level 

of  detail for Council to carefully consider as it 

progresses to the next phase of  the new planning 

scheme project. 

Mooloolaba Foreshore Revitalisation 
– stage one Northern Parkland

The $16 million world-class Mooloolaba Northern 

Parkland was officially unveiled on 28 June 2022. 

The Northern Parkland is the first stage of  the 

Mooloolaba Foreshore Revitalisation project, 

which, over the coming years, will increase 

beachfront parkland in Mooloolaba by 40 per 

cent. A key focus for the parkland is prioritising 

accessibility and inclusivity so all members of  

our community can enjoy and access the scenic 

boardwalk, playground and public amenities. 

As part of  stage one, more than 10,000 new 

plants and 120 trees were planted to provide 

shade and green areas so the area can be 

enjoyed year-round. In recognition of  its design 

and the protection of  the iconic Norfolk pines 

and vegetation during construction, the parkland 

received the Green Space Urban Award by the 

Australian Institute of  Horticulture Inc in June 2022. 

Stage one Northern Parkland was developed with 

the support of  the Queensland Government’s 

Unite and Recover Community Stimulus Package 

in assocaition with Council.
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4. Transitioning to a sustainable 
and affordable way of living

Sunshine Coast Biosphere  

On 16 June 2022, the Sunshine Coast officially 

gained recognition as a UNESCO Biosphere, 

recognising our region as an international site 

of  excellence and an area of  natural beauty. The 

announcement follows a culmination of  at least six 

years of  work in partnership with residents and 

the Biosphere Community Reference Group.

This designation demonstrates we are a 

community that wants to live in harmony with our 

environment, recognises the need for responsible 

development to cater for the people choosing to 

live on the Sunshine Coast, while also recognising 

the importance of  preserving our natural 

environment. It also has a range of  benefits for 

our tourism and agriculture industries and has 

the potential to become a magnet for others from 

around the world who want to buy from and visit a 

region that focuses on sustainability.

5. A reputation for innovation and 
sustainability

How cool are urban green forests? 

In a partnership with the University of  the 

Sunshine Coast, a research project commenced 

in June 2022 to understand how to help reduce 

the heat impacts of  climate change in our urban 

environment.

The research will use 3D maps to demonstrate 

how urban forests and green infrastructure can 

lower temperatures and reduce heat-related risks 

in the future. Green infrastructure refers to the 

trees, gardens and green open spaces in our 

natural and semi-natural areas that assist with 

stormwater management and urban cooling. 

Without green infrastructure, urban heat islands 

are created, and the impact of  heatwave events 

is greater. Urban heat islands are created when 

there is a lack of  natural vegetation, and man-

made surfaces absorb the sun’s energy, retaining 

the heat for hours after the sun goes down. 

Once complete, the project will directly influence 

Council’s urban development practices and will 

enhance green infrastructure in policy documents 

and decision-making processes. 
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Our Resilient Economy
Our resilient, high-value economy of  choice drives 

business performance, investment and enduring 

employment.

2021/22 Goal measures

Measure Target Result

Percentage of  Council’s available procurement spend awarded to 
local business

Greater than or equal to 
70%

71%

Gross Regional Product^ Greater than $20.9 billion  
(2020/21 financial year)

$21.46 billion

Percentage difference between the Sunshine Coast average and the 
Queensland average household income

Less than 9.33% 4.63% 
(Census 2021)

Percentage increase in international and domestic exports Greater than 16.24%  
(2020/21 financial year)

15.21%*

Direct economic benefit from major events Greater than 
$61,000,000

$72,600,000

Growth in jobs is equal to or greater than the growth in population Greater than or equal 
to 0%

-0.72**

Key highlights 2021/22

Regional Economic Development Strategy 2013-2033

The Regional Economic Development Strategy 2013-2033 was developed to provide 
a 20-year vision and blueprint for sustainable economic growth in the region to 2033. 
The Sunshine Coast economy is worth more than $21.46 billion^ in Gross Regional 
Product (GRP) and the following achievements demonstrate Council’s ongoing 
commitment to support the region’s ongoing economic prosperity. 

This goal is advanced through a focus on the following strategic pathways:

1. Strong economic leadership, collaboration and identity

2. New capital investment in the region

3. Investment and growth in high-value industries, innovation and entrepreneurship

4. Strong local to global connections

5. A natural, major and regional event destination

6. Encourage investment in talent and skills.

^ In alignment with the 2013 Regional Economic Development Strategy, this figure includes the wider Sunshine Coast region, which 
includes Noosa.  

*  This result has been impacted by COVID-19 pandemic supply chain challenges and the closures of  domestic and international 
borders.

** Population growth of  2.28% is higher than 1.56% increase in local jobs.
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1. Strong economic leadership, 
collaboration and identity

Buy Local Sunshine Coast campaign

The Buy Local Sunshine Coast campaign aims to 

connect our community with our region’s 33,000 

local businesses – many of  which are small 

businesses owned by local families. 

Council ran four campaigns, two of  which were 

‘Buy Local Win Local’ competitions for residents 

who were provided an opportunity to win $5000 

per week to spend on products and services 

from the Sunshine Coast region. The competitions 

received 5594 entries which captured $543,768 

of  spend locally.

A digital marketing campaign was also launched 

in June 2022 that highlights the relationship 

between consumers and businesses. The 

promotional video encourages consumers to 

support their favourite local business by sharing, 

tagging, or posting about them on social media 

and using the hashtag #buylocalsunshinecoast.

Council also partnered with the Food & 

Agribusiness Network to support the Meet the 

Maker trade event in May 2022, with more than 

100 agribusinesses exhibiting their products to 

national and international buyers. The event was a 

great opportunity to showcase the incredible food 

and beverage products made on the Sunshine 

Coast and to support the region’s economy.

Support for local suppliers

Council is one of  the biggest contributors to the 

Sunshine Coast economy through its annual 

budget, spending more than $422 million in 

contracting for goods and services. Council’s 

Procurement Policy outlines our commitment to 

supporting local businesses through evaluation 

weighting for local preference, social benefit, First 

Nations, innovation and market-led engagement 

and environment and sustainability. 

During the year, $300 million, or 71 per cent, 

of  Council’s total available purchasing spend 

was spent with local businesses. Council also 

encouraged Sunshine Coast businesses to 

subscribe to opportunities on Council’s Tender 

Alert Service and the Queensland Government’s 

QTenders website.

A Small Business  
Friendly organisation

Council has signed the Queensland Government’s 

Small Business Friendly Charter, joining a growing 

number of  like-minded councils who have 

committed to being a ‘small business friendly’ 

organisation. This means Council will commit to 

communicate and engage, raise small businesses 

profiles and capability, support resilience and 

recovery, simplify administration and regulation 

(including reducing red tape), ensuring fair 

procurement and prompt payment terms and 

promote place-based activities. 

Thriving Through Change event

A ‘Thriving Through Change’ Business Resilience 

Expo was held on 28 October 2021 to help 

empower small businesses within our region. 

The exhibition provided business connections, 

practical information, tools and resources to 

more than 400 attendees. Businesses learnt 

about building resilience during disruptions 

such as the COVID-19 pandemic, weather 

events, environmental impacts, cyber-attacks, 

construction works and road upgrades.



O
U

R
 G

O
A

LS
 - 2021-2025

36 Annual Report 2021/22  |  Sunshine Coast Council

2. New capital investment  
in the region

Maroochydore City Centre

Progress on the emerging Maroochydore City 

Centre continued throughout the year and once 

complete, will be the epicentre of  commerce, 

technology, innovation, entertainment and 

inner-city living. Significant milestones achieved 

throughout the year include: 

• The 10-storey Sunshine Coast City Hall building 

construction progressed and will be home to 

around 600 Council employees once completed

• Economic Development Queensland (EDQ) 

provided development approval to construct 

the city centre’s first multi-deck car park in 

December 2021, which will feature 294 car 

spaces, including accessible parking and 

electric vehicle charging spaces, motorcycle 

and bicycle spaces, end-of-trip facilities, 

rooftop solar panels, and will be connected to 

Australia’s first, high technology underground 

automated waste collection system

• The $8 million purchase of  the submarine cable 

landing station by NEXTDC was announced on 

20 December 2021

• Walker Corporation received EDQ development 

approval in March 2022, to construct a 15-storey 

A-grade office tower called 50 First Avenue

• The $100 million Maroochydore Private Hospital 

was approved by EDQ in March 2022 to 

accommodate medical and teaching facilities 

with high-end amenities and a rooftop relaxation 

area for staff  

• The A1 commercial building by Evans 

Long, located at a key entry point into 

the development, is fully leased ahead of  

completion in November 2022 and has been 

designed to epitomise the modern inner-city 

office, and

• Community activation activities have continued 

throughout the year at the city centre’s 

entertainment space ‘The MET,’ including one-

off  events, school holiday children’s workshop 

activities and The Design Series program 

events. 

NEXTDC – Cable Landing  
Station owner operator 

The $8 million purchase of  the submarine cable 

landing station by ASX listed company, NEXTDC, 

was announced on 20 December 2021. NEXTDC 

own and operate the cable landing station, called 

SC1 Edge data centre. 

The purchase delivers the Sunshine Coast 

unprecedented expertise and significant quality 

assurance for customers who store their data 

at the centre. Data centres are becoming an 

essential part of  the business, economic and 

social landscape and a core element of  the 

digital architecture that underpins connectivity, 

accessibility, security and an information storage 

house. 
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During the year, Council launched the Sunshine 

Coast International Broadband Network Cable 

Leverage Program to attract data-hungry 

companies to increase investment, drive take up 

in SC1 Edge data centre, expedite construction 

of  a new data centre and support the Sunshine 

Coast Tech Industry Alliance.

Attracting investment in our region

Council plays a key role in assisting businesses 

either expand or relocate to the Sunshine Coast. 

This year, a total of  $64.5 million in direct capital 

and 754 new direct jobs was invested in our 

region.

The production of  a micro-video series called 

Vitamin SC (Sunshine Coast) was launched by 

Council in July 2021 to encourage business 

leaders outside of  the region to consider the 

Sunshine Coast as a potential business location 

for some or all of  their operations. 

In addition, the new-look Sunshine Coast 

Investment Prospectus 2022 was launched at the 

Sunshine Coast International Forum in February 

2022 and is a tool to assist investment-ready 

(or investment-curious) businesses looking to 

establish, expand or relocate to the Sunshine 

Coast by providing a great overview of  what the 

region has to offer.

3. Investment and growth in high 
value industries, innovation and 
entrepreneurship

Growing technology capabilities

The Sunshine Coast is home to a growing and 

diverse technology community that is instrumental 

to all seven of  Council’s identified high-value 

industries. Increasing the technology capability of  

our region will enable the Sunshine Coast’s major 

industries to innovate and participate globally, at 

speed. 

Throughout the year, Council has supported, 

funded and driven the successful growth of  

key industry groups and associated initiatives, 

including:

• A technology industry launch event at ‘The 

MET’ in the Maroochydore City Centre on 8 

April 2022, hosted by Council in partnership 

with the Sunshine Coast Tech Industry Alliance, 

NEXTDC and RTI-C, and

• ‘Our Tech Future’ breakfast event on 18 May 

2022 at Venue 114 with 120 local industry 

members, hosted by Council in partnership 

with the Sunshine Coast Tech Industry Alliance, 

Silicon Coast and the Sunshine Coast Screen 

Collective.

Such events inspire local industry collaboration 

and instigate a dynamic and vibrant technology 

ecosystem. 

Did you know?
In 2021/22:

• 144 businesses were registered to the ASPIRE business to business circular economy 
platform with more than $82,000 in revenue

• 19 of 25 projects progressed through the Sunshine Coast Investment Assistance Program 
with a combined estimated economic impact of $1.44 billion and 4528 jobs

• 613 businesses and organisations across the region benefited from the Local Business 
Support Program, delivering tailored and specialist advice as well as 41 events involving 
3393 participants

• 845 job seekers attended two Jobs Fairs hosted by Council and the Australian Government, 
attracting more than 50 local employers offering 900 jobs

• More than 400 local, state and national buyers attended the Meet the Maker 2022 event 
showcasing Sunshine Coast and other regional councils’ local products and produce, and 

• 2753 jobs were supported and/or created, demonstrating Council’s strong engagement with 
local industries. 
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Sunshine Coast ranked most loved 
destination on the planet

The Sunshine Coast was announced as the #1 

most loved destination on the planet in January 

2022, according to the inaugural Tourism 

Sentiment Index (TSI). 

Our region was ranked against ‘leading 

destinations’ that strive to be their best for 

residents and for visitors and make travel 

experiences rewarding and responsible in equal 

measure. These leading places are the 100 most 

loved destinations in 2021 according to what 

people really feel. 

To be named a top 100, the TSI has analysed 1.6 

billion online conversations and content pieces 

publicly available from 21,330 global destinations, 

using cutting-edge technology that applies 

artificial intelligence to decipher sentiment from 

human expression. 

Sunshine Coast Holiday Parks

Council provides Sunshine Coast Holiday 

Parks in six prime tourist locations along our 

coastline, situated at Dicky Beach, Mooloolaba, 

Maroochydore, Cotton Tree, Mudjimba, and 

Coolum Beach. Approximately 80 per cent of  

holiday parks visitors are from outside the region 

and provide significant economic benefit to the 

tourism industry.

Holiday parks generate revenue for Council, 

providing a significant return on investment which 

is used to improve and update public facilities 

and services. 

Throughout the year, Council invested more than 

$2.5 million in upgrades across the Holiday Park 

network, with key projects including the:

• Commencement of  delivery of  new amenities 

at Mudjimba Beach and Coolum Beach Holiday 

Parks in February 2022

• Delivery of  internal roads resealed at Cotton 

Tree Holiday Park, and 

• Commencement of  design processes for 

planned upgrades to powered camp site 

areas at Coolum Beach, Cotton Tree and Dicky 

Beach Holiday Parks.

4. Strong local to global 
connections

Top7 Intelligent Community Forum 

The Sunshine Coast was named for the third 

time as a Top7 Intelligent Community by New 

York based Intelligent Community Forum (ICF) in 

June 2022. Council has worked in partnership 

with local business and industry to nurture an 

innovation ecosystem and develop the talent and 

skills to support connectivity and innovation within 

our community. 

To be a Top7 Intelligent Community means 

modelling economic and social transformation 

in the 21st Century, best practices in broadband 

deployment and use, workforce development, 

innovation, digital inclusion and advocacy that 

combine to provide lessons to regions, cities, 

towns and villages around the world. This year’s 

most intelligent community will be announced in 

October 2022.

2022 Sunshine Coast  
International Forum

In partnership with the Department of  Foreign 

Affairs and Trade Queensland, Council hosted 

45 delegates representing the diplomatic and 

consular corps of  35 nations at the Sunshine 

Coast International Forum in February 2022. 

The program included site visits, briefings, 

meetings and networking events with industry and 

key business leaders, including Maroochydore 

City Centre, Walker Corporation, University of  

the Sunshine Coast, Sunshine Coast Health 

Institute, TAFE, Kilcoy Global Foods Innovation 

Hub, HeliMods, Food and Agribusiness Network, 

Belladotti and the Sunshine Coast Tech Industry 

Alliance.
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5. A natural, major and regional 
event destination

Sunshine Coast major  
event sponsorship 

Council facilitated 62 major events sponsorships 

during the year, generating an estimated direct 

economic return of  $72.6 million by attracting 

114,451 visitors from outside the region. 

This year more than 1500 athletes took part in the 

IRONMAN 70.3 event in September 2021, while 

the Mooloolaba Triathlon in March 2022 was sold 

out. The Yandina Five ‘O’ - running course through 

Mapleton National Park - was also held in March 

2022 and yielded exceptional results for a first-

time major event. 

6. Encourage investment  
in talent and skills

Study Sunshine Coast program

The Sunshine Coast is home to an amazing 

and unforgettable study experience for both 

international and domestic students to live, learn 

and kick-start their future. In January 2022, 

Council welcomed the news that international 

students could return to the region following 

COVID-19 border closures and assisted the 

Queensland Government to facilitate the safe 

return of  our international students. 

Through the Study Sunshine Coast initiative, 

more than 1600 domestic and international 

students accessed employability and marketing 

workshops, industry engagement and support 

programs, awareness campaigns and online 

cultural competency accelerators to enhance 

student’s cultural intelligence and employment 

opportunities. 

Study Sunshine Coast is a Council initiative 

that is delivered in partnership with Trade 

and Investment Queensland through Study 

Queensland and is supported by industry 

partners, UniSC, TAFE Queensland, Demi 

International, Union Institute of  Language, 

Mindroom Innovation and AusID.
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Our Service Excellence
Our services are consistent and accessible and 

provide positive experiences for our customers 

and value to our community.

2021/22 Goal measures

Measure Target Result

Ease of  business with Council 4.40 4.30*

Percentage of  waste services collected on schedule 99% 99%

Percentage delivered of  the adopted annual capital works budget Between 90% and 
95%

85%**

Percentage of  development assessments undertaken within statutory 
timeframes

Greater than or 
equal to 90%

81%***

Asset sustainability ratio  
(the extent to which the infrastructure assets managed by Council are 
being replaced as they reach the end of  their useful lives)

Greater than 90% 71.2%+

Key highlights 2021/22

1. Engage with our community to 
inform asset management and 
service delivery

Management of our property assets

Environmental sustainability continues to be a 

critical element of  Council’s property portfolio. 

During the year, Council progressed the innovative 

upgrade of  runway lights at the Caloundra 

Aerodrome from mains supply to an entirely solar 

powered solution (100 per cent off-grid), as well 

as the roll-out of  rooftop solar systems (Solar PV) 

on Council’s buildings.

The first prefabricated fully aluminium public 

amenity was installed in the region to accelerate 

the replacement of  ageing infrastructure with a 

high-quality, lower-cost, modular solution. 

In addition, a disposal guideline has been 

developed to ensure any surplus furniture or office 

equipment is reused, recycled or disposed of  in 

an equitable and environmentally responsible way. 

The ASPIRE platform has been adopted to offer 

surplus furniture and equipment to the community 

for repair, reuse, repurpose or recycling to support 

broad circular economy initiatives.

* Result is marginally below target due to lower ratings in quarter one -  all other quarters met target. 
**  This result has been impacted by a combination of  labour and supply challenges across the construction industry as well as three 

significant wet weather events.
***  This result has been impacted by an increase in development activity since 2019 partially due to the Australian Government’s 

HomeBuilders Scheme and population growth.
+  Refer to Section 4 Financial Information for more detial.

This goal is advanced through a focus on the following delivery pathways:

1. Engaging with our community to inform asset management and service delivery

2. Knowing and understanding our customers

3. Designing accessible, flexible and innovative services that meet community needs

4. Delivering consistent service levels that provide positive experiences for our community

5. Assessing service performance and sustainability to inform evidence-based business planning.
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Asset Management 

A review of  Council’s asset management 

practices and plans was undertaken during the 

year to continue to build capacity and manage 

population growth, service delivery, and future 

opportunities of  our infrastructure assets.

Council’s motor vehicle fleet is a significant 

investment and a necessary operational asset 

which enables service delivery to meet the 

community’s expectations. Our goal is to 

progressively transition our fleet to electric and 

hybrid/electric vehicles, where economically 

possible. During the year, a review of  Council’s 

Motor Vehicle Policy was undertaken to ensure it 

provides excellent service outcomes, reflects best 

practice standards and continues to align to our 

vision as Australia’s most sustainable region.

Council procured its first fleet of  electric mowers 

for use across our various open space areas of  

cemeteries, parks and gardens and the Sunshine 

Coast Stadium. These mowers will assist Council 

in achieving its goals to reduce carbon emissions 

as part of  the Zero-Net Emissions Plan. 

2. Know and understand our 
customers

Responsible pet ownership

The Management Plan for Domestic Animals (Cats 

and Dogs) 2021-2030 launched on 18 September 

2021. The plan provides a framework for the 

delivery of  animal management services and 

initiatives, with a goal to create harmonious co-

existence between people, pets and places. 

An educational book ‘When Sammy Met Sunny’ 

was launched by Council in June 2022 to teach 

children how to be responsible for their pets. The 

heart-warming book was written and illustrated 

by Council employees and helps to reach our 

youngest members of  the community by helping 

them understand how to stay safe around dogs. In 

addition, Council delivered:

• 11 community education sessions at a dog-

training facility or vet clinics were provided to 

184 new owners 

• 27 education pop-up booths which resulted 

in 3702 interactions with the community about 

pets and owner responsibilities 

• 77 animal education events to 2922 children 

delivered to schools, daycare centres and 

public open spaces, and

• 2225 responsible pet ownership booklets 

distributed to vets, pet retail outlets and dog 

trainers.
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3. Design accessible, flexible and 
innovative services that meet 
community needs

Regional Erosion and Sediment, 
Education and Trial (RESET) 

The RESET Site and Program has been developed 

to improve construction management practices 

for erosion and sediment controls on the Sunshine 

Coast. The RESET site (located in Caloundra) will 

enable current industry best practice products, 

techniques and innovations to be showcased, with 

the ability to put applications under pressure from 

simulated rainfall events generated on the site. 

These simulations will provide awareness and 

understanding of  products and methodology 

selection to reduce wastage, project costs and 

failed applications, while improving environmental 

outcomes for our waterways, wetlands and ocean 

health. 

During the year, five local companies assisted in 

the development of  the site by providing products 

such as hydromulch, polymer spray, flocculants 

and coagulants and the International Erosion 

Control Association provided assistance in 

organising two industry field days. 

Waste collection services

The garden organics bin collection service was 

expanded to all eligible Sunshine Coast residents 

in alignment with Council’s commitment to reduce  

waste to landfill for a cleaner, greener environment 

and sustainable future.

More than 45,000 garden organics bins were 

distributed in May 2022 as part of  the first phase 

of  its expanded waste collection services which 

will provide an easy and convenient way to 

recycle garden waste and help the environment. 

Commencing in July 2022, lawn clippings, weeds, 

leaves and other organic garden materials placed 

in the new lime green-lidded bin will be collected 

by Council, diverted from landfill and mulched 

ready to be re-used. 

A new waste collection contract was awarded 

to JJ’s Waste & Recycling in June 2022, valued 

at $146 million over eight years. Through the 

contract, Council and JJ’s Waste & Recycling 

will explore even more carbon-saving initiatives 

through emerging technologies for low emission 

vehicles. Both the garden organics collection 

service and the new contract will deliver on 

priorities of  the Sunshine Coast Waste Strategy 

and advance Council’s vision as Australia’s most 

sustainable region.
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Service excellence to  
our community 

Council’s customer contact centres continued 

to adapt to community needs, operating beyond 

official opening hours to assist customers through 

extreme events such as the COVID-19 pandemic 

and heavy rain and flooding events. 

During the year, more than 284,000 enquiries were 

received through Council’s contact channels, 

including the newly introduced SMS contact 

channel. On average, calls were answered in 

less than 50 seconds and more than 93 per cent 

of  customers found contacting Council easy. 

Council’s customer contact team proudly received 

a top seven result for the 2021 National Customer 

Service Team of  the Year Award at the National 

Local Government Customer Service Conference 

and Awards in November 2021.

4. Deliver consistent service 
levels that provide positive 
experiences for our community

Upgrades to community parks 

The number of  community parks Council 

maintains continues to grow with our region. 

Currently, 2010 parks are managed and renewed 

for our community to enjoy and to preserve 

our landscape features and beautiful natural 

environment.

More than $8.7 million was allocated in 2021/22 

for new and upgraded facilities, including:

• $740,000 for a new amenities building, 

barbecue shelters, boardwalks, playground, 

pathways, and landscaping at Forest Park, 

Sippy Downs

• $141,000 for the removal and replacement of  

playground equipment, barbecue shelter, new 

site drainage, edging and shade tree planting 

at Cod Hole Park, Maroochydore

• $130,000 for new playground equipment and 

shelter at Newell Park, Beerwah

• $128,000 for the new sandstone block and 

boulder retaining walls, new swing set and 

softscape plantings at Moss Day Park, 

Nambour, and 

• $106,000 for the new basketball and netball 

courts, complete with handball and hopscotch 

line markings at Dick Caplick Park, Eumundi.

Did you know?
In 2021/22:

• 304,745 customers were assisted through the development and customer contact centres 
• Free general and green waste disposal was offered to residents impacted by flooding for 

10 days between 3-13 March 2022
• 112,219 tonnes of waste was diverted from landfill
• 4900 hectares was treated through the aerial mosquito control program
• 115 educational events were held across the Sunshine Coast to inform locals on 

responsible pet ownership
• 8485 individual visits were recorded on Council’s mobile dog application, and
• $2 million Sugar Bag Road Mountain Bike Hub building works were completed.
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Coastal pathway investment

Council has continued to invest in the Sunshine 

Coast’s longest and most popular shared 

pathway, extending from Bells Creek in the south 

to Coolum in the north. New works and upgrades 

to the coastal pathway include:

• $1.6 million for the raised section of  pathway 

between Palkana Drive, Warana and north 

towards Coonang Crescent, Warana, providing 

a continuation of  the already highly used 

pedestrian and cycle community infrastructure

• $644,000 for a new section of  500 metres in 

length between Cooroora Street to Dicky Beach 

Park at Beerburrum Street allowing walkers 

and cyclists to take advantage of  the coastal 

landscape, and 

• $142,000 for the design of  the Caloundra 

Headland Coastal Pathway project, enabling an 

accessible movement corridor for all ages and 

abilities, while providing an improved transport 

and tourist link to Kings Beach.

Development Activity

The value of  construction of  building approvals 

increased by 16 per cent from the previous 

financial year to a record $2.2 billion, reflecting 

the high volumes and demand across the 

industry as well as the increase in the cost of  

building materials. The top five growth suburbs for 

building activity were Baringa, Nirimba, Banya, 

Maroochydore, Palmview, Buderim and Pelican 

Waters.

During the year, a total of  7288 development 

related applications were lodged with Council 

for assessment, 939 lots were approved, and 

2602 new lots were created and made available 

to the market through Council and Queensland 

Government approval processes. In addition, 

Council answered more than 54,000 development 

enquiries and approximately 343,000 site reports 

were generated through the Development.i 

platform. Council’s Development.i platform 

provides the community with access to past and 

current development application details and basic 

property information for the Sunshine Coast local 

government area.  

Roads rehabilitated and resurfaced

Council manages 2555 kilometres of  sealed 

road network (and 488 kilometres of  unsealed 

roads) and uses best practice asset management 

to improve the safety of  these roads for our 

community. 

During the year, 83.5 kilometres of  roads were 

resurfaced and/or rehabilitated, costing a total of  

$22.9 million. Significant works occurred on the 

following roads:

• Old Landsborough Road, Landsborough

• Beerburrum Street, Aroona

• Page Street and Pike Street, Kunda Park

• Heathfield Street, Coolum Beach

• Verrierdale Road, Verrierdale.

Through this program, Council continues to 

seek out opportunities to become more efficient 

at inspecting the condition of  our roads and 

extending the use of  life in the most sustainable 

and affordable way. Trials were undertaken with 

asphalt that contained rubber from vehicle tyres, 

with preliminary modelling suggesting potential 

extended life benefits to these roads as well as 

minimising landfill waste. 

Additionally, three specialist artificial intelligence 

software applications for road defect capture were 

trialled to consider whether they could provide a 

clearer picture of  network performance and better 

inform future planning.
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5. Assess service performance 
and sustainability to inform 
evidence-based business 
planning 

Capital works delivery

Council achieved 85 per cent delivery of  the $268 

million Capital Works Program, comprising 1484 

individual projects. 

The 10-year Capital Works Program is designed 

to plan and budget for the region’s growth while 

renewing and upgrading community facilities to 

continue to effectively deliver services across our 

Sunshine Coast region. 

Since the outbreak of  the COVID-19 pandemic in 

March 2020, this program has been an essential 

economic stimulus for our community by ensuring 

construction projects continue to support 

employment for local trades and businesses.

Hinterland Blues AFL and 
Palmwoods cricket club 

The $1.46 million Hinterland Blues AFL and the 

Palmwoods cricket clubhouse and change rooms 

at Graham Rae Oval, Palmwoods officially opened 

to the community in September 2021. 

The modern facility includes four female-friendly 

change rooms, umpire facilities, a new canteen, 

meeting room, storage area, first-aid room, and an 

improved spectator embankment. Importantly, the 

building has been raised above Q100 flood level 

to avoid flooding issues which have happened in 

the past. 

The new clubhouse and change rooms were 

proudly funded by Council in association with 

the Queensland Government’s COVID Works 

for Queensland program, the AFL Grand Final 

Facilities Fund, Queensland Cricket and Nambour 

and Hinterland AFL Club.

Nambour Aquatic Centre  
Splash Park 

Council completed the installation of  two new 

slides at the Nambour Aquatic Centre in June 

2022, making it the region’s most exciting 

community splash park. 

The $3.26 million splash park will open to the 

public following an official opening celebration in 

the warmer school holiday period in September 

2022. The investment included the addition of  44 

new car parking spaces, a zero-depth splash pad 

play area (which opened in January 2022) and 

two adventure slides 60 and 67 metres in length. 

The Nambour Aquatic Splash Park was developed 

with the support of  the Queensland Government’s 

Works for Queensland program in association with 

Council and pool lessee Belgravia Leisure.

Dicky Beach Skatepark

Council completed the $1.6 million major upgrade 

of  the Dicky Beach Skate Park in September 

2021. A plan for the area was developed following 

the partial removal of  the historic SS Dicky wreck 

from the beach in 2015 and the propeller from 

the ship has been installed as a feature in the 

precinct. 

The community-designed skate park boasts 

innovative and high-quality ramps, rails, grind 

ledges, quarter pipes, open spaces, as well 

as new and improved community facilities, 

connecting pathways and new public amenities.
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2021/22 Goal measures

Key highlights 2021/22

1. Maintaining a financially 
sustainable organisation that 
balances the needs of our 
growing region

Palisade Investment  
Partners payment

Palisade Investment Partners finalised the $314.4 

million payment to Council on 30 June 2022 for the 

Sunshine Coast Airport Expansion project. The 

payment forms part of  the transaction announced 

in 2017 for a 99-year lease of  the airport business.

This amount, which repaid all debt Council had 

incurred for the Sunshine Coast Airport Expansion 

project, is made up of  a fixed payment for 

construction of  the new runway, apron expansion 

and related infrastructure and various airport 

initiated upgrades to the runway, along with the 

second instalment of  the long-term lease premium.

Measure Target Result

Operating surplus ratio  
(extent to which operating revenues cover operating expenses)

Less than 10% 2%+

Net financial liabilities ratio  
(extent to which Council relies on operating revenues to pay liabilities)

Less than 60% 64.2%+

Number of  notifiable data breaches 0 0

Council employee engagement score Greater than 4.03 
(out of  5)

3.65*

Frequency rate of  Lost Time Injuries of  Sunshine Coast Council employees  
(excluding contractors)

Less than 10.64 8.64**

Percentage of  people who agree or strongly agree that they can trust 
Sunshine Coast Council as a local government

50% 42%^

Percentage of  the community who believe there are opportunities to have 
a say on community issues that are important to them

Greater than or 
equal to 70%

51%***

+  Refer to Section 4 Financial Information for more detial.
* A comprehensive culture and values project is underway that involves employees input to shape our culture to enable the 

achievement of  our vision and goals.
**  There has been 23 per cent decrease from the previous year. 
^ 30 per cent neither agreed nor disagreed, 27 per cent disagree or strongly disagree, and 1 per cent don’t know.
*** Council has implemented an Excellence in Engagement Framework and since launching the ‘Have Your Say’ engagement platform in 

2021, more than 10,000 community members registered, representing a 27 per cent increase and opportunity to improve this result. 

Our Outstanding 
Organisation
Our organisation is high performing, innovative 

and community focused, marked by great people, 

good governance and regional leadership. 

This goal is advanced through a focus on the following delivery pathways:

1. Maintaining a financially sustainable organisation that balances the needs of  our growing region

2. Providing quality information, systems and processes to deliver fit for purpose solutions

3. Embracing a safe and collaborative workplace culture that attracts and retains high performing and 

engaged people

4. Demonstrating accountable leadership, future planning, and good governance that provides confidence 

to our community

5. Partnering with community, business and government to represent and advocate the needs of  our region.
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Budget delivers a stronger, better 
and sustainable Sunshine coast 

Council adopted the $847 million 2022/23 budget 

on 23 June 2022 to deliver a stronger, better, 

and sustainable Sunshine Coast. The budget is 

developed in accordance with Council’s Financial 

Sustainability Plan 2015-2025. It focuses on local 

first – local communities, our local environment 

and local business. Through the development of  a 

considered budget, Council has achieved:

• A budget with a positive operating result of  

$31.8 million

• A $273 million Capital Works Program that: 

 - invests in job-creating local infrastructure 

projects

 - provides work for local trades and 

businesses, and

 - improves access to services and facilities for 

our communities across the Sunshine Coast

• A five per cent increase in the minimum 

general rate 

• An increase of  3.5 per cent for pensioner rate 

concessions, and

• No increase to the Environment Levy.

2. Providing quality information, 
systems and processes to deliver 
fit for purpose solutions

Keeping our data safe

Council is committed to protecting our information 

on behalf  of  our community to enable continuity 

of  our services and has a responsibility to ensure 

we are safe and secure when it comes to our 

online security. 

Our mature cyber security program minimises 

cyber threats and proactively monitors access 

24/7 and patches systems against vulnerabilities. 

During the year there were zero notifiable data 

breaches. All employees and contractors are 

required to complete mandatory cyber awareness 

training regularly, which provides the tools to know 

what to look out for and helps Council remain safe 

online.  

Improved Wi-Fi in community assets

Council provides agile and transformative 

information and technology, which enables 

leading, innovative and sustainable services to 

our community. Council partnered with Vostronet 

to successfully rollout free public Wi-Fi across 

33 locations across the region. This replaces the 

existing Sunshine Coast free public Wi-Fi with new 

hardware, which has improved performance and 

service levels. 
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3. Embracing a safe and 
collaborative workplace culture 
that attracts and retains high 
performing and engaged people

CultureBoost program

To be a truly outstanding organisation, Council 

is proactively engaging our employees to shape 

a shared organisational culture that positively 

influences our behaviours, the way we collaborate 

across the organisation and how we make 

decisions. 

Through the CultureBoost program, Council has 

committed to implementing actions that enable a 

culture that supports sustainability, diversity and 

inclusions, wellbeing, health and safety. These 

activities are inherent to Council’s success and 

are fundamental as we deliver on our vision and 

strategic objectives.

Sunshine Coast Council  
(SCC) Workplaces 

The SCC Workplaces program is a holistic 

approach to the planning and management of  

Council’s 38 workplace locations across the 

region. These cover the three administration 

centres of  Caloundra, Maroochydore and 

Nambour, along with Council depots and satellite 

service locations such as libraries, showgrounds 

and venues. 

There is an integrated approach being taken 

for these centres in terms of  scheduling, 

construction, resourcing and sequencing of  

works. This is of  particular importance in the 

context of  Council serving a rapidly growing 

community and making investments that deliver 

the capacity to serve our community for many 

years to come. SCC Workplaces highlights 

include:

• Significant progress at the Sunshine Coast 

City Hall construction site across all levels of  

the building including the external façade and 

ground level streetscape

• Wilson Architects were appointed in May 2022 

to lead preliminary design and feasibility for 

the Nambour Administration Precinct buildings, 

and 

• Detailed design documentation is nearing 

completion for the Caloundra Administration 

Building.
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First Nations Cultural Learning 

Council continues to deepen First Nations cultural 

awareness and develop a culturally capable 

workplace that promotes respect and values 

the skills, experience and perspectives of  First 

Nations employees and our community. 

A pilot program commenced in March 2022 

to provide an opportunity for 450 employees 

to participate in First Nations face-to-face 

cultural training and local On-Country learning 

experiences. Over the year 99 per cent of  Council 

employees completed the online component of  

the Cultural Awareness Training and 20 per cent 

of  all employees had completed face-to-face and 

On-Country training.

Three local First Nations providers, including both 

Jinibara and Kabi Kabi Traditional Custodians, 

were selected to deliver components of  the pilot 

program, which also include Torres Strait Islander 

perspectives.

Wellbeing, health and safety 

The wellbeing, health and safety of  our people, 

contractors and our community is Council’s most 

important responsibility and our highest priority. 

A number of  initiatives implemented during the 

year have positivity impacted Council’s safety 

culture and encouragingly resulted in a 23 per 

cent decrease in the employee lost time injury 

frequency rate. Key safety initiatives delivered 

include the:

• Mock Coronial Inquiry, held in October 2021

• Training in safety leadership, human and 

organisational performance contractor 

management, and risk management

• Events and competitions to celebrate safe 

behaviours

• A review of  rehabilitation and return to work 

practices

• Promotional activities around the importance of  

mental health and wellbeing in employees

• Introduction of  a critical risk program to identify 

Council’s top critical risks, critical controls and 

verification processes, and

• Review and implementation of  improvements to 

the contractor safety management framework.

Did you know?
In 2021/22:

• 83% of Council employees feel safe at work

• 76% of Council employees are proud to work for an organisation that has a strong 
sustainability vision

• 93% of Council employees strongly support Council taking action to create a diverse and 
inclusive workplace

• 5100 plus Council suppliers received payments within 7 days, injecting money into our 
local economy sooner

• 26.6 GWh of renewable electricity was generated from the Sunshine Coast Solar Farm, 
offsetting 95% of Council’s total usage and avoiding emissions of 21.511 tCO2e

• 2827 customer requests were received via Councillors, and
• 239,000 visits were made to the OurSC website, providing community news and 

information on activities occurring across the region.
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4. Demonstrating accountable 
leadership, future planning, and 
good governance that provides 
confidence to our community

Corporate Plan 2022-2026

The Corporate Plan 2022-2026 was adopted 

in May 2022 to guide Council’s direction and 

priorities over the next five years. The corporate 

plan reinforces Council’s continuing commitment 

to our vision as Australia’s most sustainable 

region. Healthy. Smart. Creative. It presents five 

strategic goals that provide a balanced approach 

to Council’s performance: 

• Our Strong Community

• Our Environment and Liveability

• Our Resilient Economy

• Our Service Excellence, and

• Our Outstanding Organisation.

The corporate plan directions have cascaded into 

the Operational Plan 2022/23 which was adopted 

by Council at the special budget meeting on 23 

June 2022. These plans will become the basis 

of  the quarterly progress reporting and annual 

report for the 2022/23 financial year.

Information management and 
classification 

Recognising there is community interest in 

how Council manages the classification and 

accessibility of  information, a project commenced 

which aims to enhance the availability of  

information to the community. 

An independent external review is being 

undertaken which will include community 

engagement to inform best practice information 

management and will enable Council to:

• Demonstrate the integrity and transparency of  

its information classification and access regime

• Be responsive to the interests of  the community 

in being able to access Council information to 

the greatest extent possible and permissible, 

and

• Satisfy its statutory and other legal and 

contractual obligations.

5. Partnering with community, 
business and government to 
represent and advocate the 
needs of our region

Regional Partnership with the 
University of the Sunshine Coast

The Council and the University of  the Sunshine 

Coast Regional Partnership Agreement (RPA) 

was established in October 2021 with an intention 

to invest $1 million in research and engagement 

activities over three years.

The objective of  the RPA is that the community, 

environmental and economic development of  the 

Sunshine Coast is supported by a robust and 

resilient university working in partnership with 

Council.

Three new projects were approved for funding 

during the 2021/22 financial year:

• Sunshine Coast Workforce Development and 

Skills Gap Analysis Study

• How Cool Are Our Green Urban Forests 

Project, and

• Place Co-Lab Pilot Project – Glass House 

Mountains Village Centre.

Advocacy for our region

The Sunshine Coast remains one of  the fastest 

growing regions in the nation, with population 

expected to grow from 350,000 to well over 

500,000 by 2041. With this significant growth, 

Council is focused on ensuring that our region is 

connected and has the essential infrastructure to 

meet the growing needs of  our communities.

Funding partnerships across all tiers of  

government and private industry are critical 

to plan for this growth and progress our vision 

as Australia’s most sustainable region. The 

criticality of  this is compounded with the change 

in methodology reducing Council’s funding 

allocation through the Australian Government’s 

Financial Assistance Grant. 

Council released a 2022 Federal Election 

advocacy priorities document that called for 

fairer funding for the Sunshine Coast community 

particularly in relation to public transport, roads, 

being climate ready and preparing for our role as 

a delivery partner in the Brisbane 2032 Olympic 

and Paralympic Games.



P
E

R
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E

51Annual Report 2021/22  |  Sunshine Coast Council



52 Annual Report 2021/22  |  Sunshine Coast Council

• Caloundra Main Street Urban Revitalisation 

project was awarded the National Landscape 

Architecture Award for Urban Design at the 

Australian Institute of  Landscape Architects 

2021 National Awards.

• Council’s Maroochy Groyne project won 

the Excellence Award for best project 

between $1-2 million and received a High 

Commendation for Coastal Engineering at 

2021 Institute of  Public Works Engineering 

Australasia Queensland.

• Stage one Northern Parkland (Mooloolaba 
Foreshore Revitalisation project) won the 

Green Space Urban Award at the Australian 

Institute of  Horticulture Inc Annual Awards.

• The Landsborough Placemaking Activation 

Program was the winner of  the Gold Urban 

Design award at the Driven x Design Gov 

Design Awards 2022.

• Council was the winner of  three awards at the 

Australian Institute of  Landscape Architects.

(Queensland Chapter) awards for the:

 - Sippy Downs Drive - Boulevard and 

Gateway won the Landscape Architecture 

Award for Infrastructure.

 - Nambour Forecourt Revamp won the 

Landscape Architecture Award, Small 

Projects Category and the Regional 

Achievement Award.

• The Sunshine Coast Design Book (Yellow 

Book) was awarded a commendation in the 

Strategic Planning category at the Planning 

Institute of  Australia 2021 Awards for Planning 

Excellence.

• Warren Bunker, Group Executive, Liveability 

and Natural Assets Group, Sunshine Coast 

Council was awarded a Life Fellow of the 
Planning Institute of Australia.

• Council’s Sunshine Coast Recreation Parks 
Plan was awarded the 2022 Strategic and 

Master Planning Award by Parks and Leisure 

Australia (Queensland).

• Cribb Street Landsborough Activation 
Project was a finalist in the Community 

Contribution category of  the 2022 Landscape 

Architecture Awards (Queensland).

• Council and Sunshine Coast Environment 

Council’s World Environment Day event won 

the Partnerships for Landcare category at the 

2021 Queensland Landcare Awards.

• Council’s Sunshine Coast Investment 
Assistance Program was a Finalist in 

the Economic Development Recovery 

and Resilience category at the Economic 

Development Australia 2021 National 

Conference Awards.

• Council’s ‘Ground-up COVID Recovery Plan’ 
was a Finalist in the Excellence in Teamwork 

category at the 2022 Local Government 

Managers Australia Awards for Excellence.

• The Sunshine Coast was announced as a Top7 
and Smart21 Intelligent Community of  the 

Year by the international Intelligent Community 

Forum.

• Council’s Sunshine Coast Airport Expansion 
project was the winner of  the Civil Contractors 

Federation Queensland Award for a 

Queensland project valued above $75 million.

• The Sunshine Coast Airport Expansion 

project won Best Public Works Project over $5 

million in Australasia at the International Public 

Works Conference hosted by the Institute of  

Public Works Engineering Australasia. 

• Ross Ullman, Project Director Sunshine Coast 

Airport Expansion for Council received the 

prestigious Excellence Award for the Engineer 
of the Year at the 2021 Institute of  Public 

Works Engineering Australasia (Queensland). 

• Council employee, Gary Ehsman (recently 

retired), received the President’s Award at 

the 2022 Caravan Parks Association of 
Queensland Awards.

Our award-winning 
organisation 

Council and Council employees have been recognised both nationally and internationally for its 

world-class performance by receiving 23 awards throughout the year.
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• The renewal of  the Amarina Culvert, 
Mooloolaba won best project under $1 

million at the 2021 Institute of  Public Works 

Engineering Australasia Queensland, a 

partnership between Council and Interflow.

• Council won the Workplace Wellbeing award 

at the Local Government Managers Australia 

(Queensland) Awards for Excellence 2022 

for 16 consecutive months of  ‘Zero Lost Time 

Injuries in Civil Construction’.

• Council’s 2021 Horizon Festival graphic 

design won Best Creative Campaign award 

at the Local Government Association of  

Queensland 2022 LGx Awards for Excellence in 

Local Government Communications.
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Corporate governance 
Council is committed to high standards of  

corporate governance practice, facilitated 

through a robust governance framework 

and organisational structure. We ensure our 

organisation has a strong financial outlook, 

effective controls and a safe, supportive working 

environment for our staff. 

The Corporate Governance Framework in 

conjunction with education and awareness 

programs, focuses on:

• Building awareness of  organisational 

responsibilities and accountabilities

• Maintaining strong financial stewardship and 

fiscal responsibility

• Maintaining compliance with legislation, policy, 

standards and controls

• Building integral practices, procedures and 

ethical decision making 

• Applying continuous improvement activities 

and transparent reporting, and

• Engaging with the community through 

meaningful consultation to inform decision 

making and collaborative outcomes.

Council is continuing efforts to be an outstanding 

organisation, through a high performing, 

innovative and customer-focused organisation 

marked by great people, good governance and 

regional leadership. These capabilities will remain 

a hallmark of  our performance as we deliver on 

the expectations of  our community. 

Public sector ethics 

Council’s administrative procedures and 

management practices have proper regard to 

the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994, as well as the 

Code of  Conduct. Council’s policies, procedures 

and delegations of  authority are monitored and 

regularly reviewed.

Code of Conduct

Council has an Employee Code of  Conduct 

(the code) based on the four ethical principles 

outlined in the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994. It is 

a public statement by Council of  our commitment 

to leading the way in all that we do, supported 

by openness, transparency and accountability.         

All employees have been provided with a copy 

of  the  code and are required to complete 

compulsory training on a regular basis. All Council 

employees are expected to be accountable and 

adhere to the Council’s core values and comply 

with the behavioural standards outlined in the 

code.

Education and training

Council ensures employees are offered the most 

up-to-date and relevant training to undertake 

their roles and perform to the high standards 

expected. Delivery of  Council’s Governance 

Awareness Training Program (the program) 

remains an essential element in ensuring this. The 

program emphasises the importance of  working 

together to build a culture of  ethical practice, 

openness, transparency and integrity. Training 

and development elements include - Code of  

Conduct, Public Sector Ethics, Delegations, 

Human Rights, Good Decision Making, Fraud and 

Corruption Control, Information Privacy, Right to 

Information, Conflicts of  Interest, and Authorised 

Persons. Sessions are developed and delivered 

from time to time based on specific areas of  

concerns either raised by operational managers, 

identified from audits or complaint investigations, 

environmental scans or key messages obtained 

from external sources generally impacting the 

local government sector. 

Councils Conflicts of  Interest and Other Personal 

Interest Policy and Guideline underwent a major 

review and an e-learning package was developed 

to communicate employee obligations. The online 

mandatory training was launched to all employees 

on the 8 April 2022 and by 30 June 2022, 1389 

employees had completed the training.

The table below sets out the total number 

of  employees who completed governance 

awareness training during the period 1 July 2021 

to 30 June 2022.

Training Event
Number of employees 
that completed training

Code of  Conduct 1421*

Authorised Persons 261**

Right to Information 1526

Information Privacy 1662

Conflicts of  Interest 1389

* All employees have a requirement to undertake face to face Code of Conduct training every three years.  In the 2021/22 
financial year 73 per cent of employees completed training.

** Council has 452 Authorised Persons and formal training is required to be undertaken every two-three years.
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The effective implementation and administration 

of  Council’s governance framework relies on the 

commitment, skills and professionalism of  Council 

employees. Council will continue to deliver 

education and awareness sessions as part of  its 

commitment to good governance practices.

Risk management

Council operates in a dynamic and ever-changing 

environment. With the region’s rapid growth, rising 

complexities and costs of  service and project 

delivery, growing community expectations, and a 

plethora of  statutory obligations, it is paramount 

that Council manages risk with maturity and 

assurance.  

Council continually researches, monitors, 

tests and applies control measures to mitigate 

exposure to risk. It regularly reviews and resets 

its risk tolerance levels to determine what is 

acceptable to operate efficiently and with 

confidence. Council systematically identifies, 

analyses and controls risk at all levels (strategic, 

operational and project) and functions across 

the organisation. This approach is supported by 

a risk management framework, policy, guideline 

and a risk culture that continues to mature and is 

proactive in its pursuit of  good governance and 

the achievement of  Council’s vision. In building 

this framework, a review of  Council’s suite of  

fraud and corruption control documentation 

was completed, as well as the development of  a 

risk maturity roadmap for continued growth and 

development.

Strategic, operational and project risks are 

reviewed, monitored and reported on a regular 

and ongoing basis to the Council, the Executive 

Leadership Team and the Audit Committee.

Council’s risk-management approach also applies 

to Council controlled entities, ensuring that clear 

and comprehensive corporate governance 

frameworks and controls are in place with 

regular review periods that include independent, 

specialist input.

Councillor information 

Councillor remuneration 

The Mayor and Councillors were remunerated 

in accordance with section 247 of  the Local 

Government Regulation 2012. 

The table below sets out the remuneration paid to 

Sunshine Coast Councillors during the period 1 

July 2021 to 30 June 2022.

Councillors Salary Superannuation

Mayor Mark 
Jamieson

$233,091 $27,970

Cr Rick 
Baberowski 
(Deputy Mayor)

$161,499 $19,380

Cr Terry 
Landsberg

$141,520 $16,982

Cr Peter Cox $141,520 $16,982

Cr Joe Natoli $141,520 $16,982

Cr Winston 
Johnston

$141,520 $16,982

Cr Christian 
Dickson

$141,520 $16,982

Cr Ted Hungerford $141,520 $16,982

Cr Jason O’Pray $141,520 $16,982

Cr Maria Suarez $141,520 $16,982

Cr David Law $141,520 $16,982

Councillor expenses and facilities 

Pursuant to section 250 of  the Local Government 

Regulation 2012, the Councillor Expenses 

Reimbursement and Provision of  Facilities and 

Support Policy provides for the payment of  

reasonable expenses incurred, or to be incurred, 

by Councillors in undertaking Council business. 

A new policy was adopted on 10 November 2021 

to improve transparency and remove mandatory 

contributions for personal use of  mobile devices 

due to changes in Council’s telecommunications 

contract and the administrative cost to recover 

personal contributions. The policy also outlines 

the facilities to be provided to Councillors to assist 

them in carrying out their duties, efficiently and 

effectively, and at a level that fulfils community 

expectation. 

Council business is described as activities 

conducted on behalf  of  Council where a 

Councillor is required to undertake certain tasks 

to satisfy a legislative requirement, perform 

ceremonial activities or achieve the business 

objectives of  Council. Council business should 

result in a benefit being achieved either for the 

local government and/or the local community.

The following table shows the total expenses 

incurred by Councillors under the policy in the 

2021/22 financial year.
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*  Councillor Natoli has not accepted a Council mobile phone and has paid the full cost for the device and service personally. 
Councillors Landsberg, Suarez and Law each use a personal phone for private use and a Council phone for Council business. 
These Councillors are not required to make a personal-use contribution.

Conduct and performance of Councillors

Orders made under section 150I(2) of  the Act Nil

Orders made under section 150AH(1) of  the Act 1

Decisions, orders and recommendations made 

under section 150AR(1) of  the Act

1

The name of  each Councillor for whom a decision, 

order or recommendation under sections 150I(2), 

150AH(1) or 150AR(1) of  the Act was made

Former Councillor Greg Rogerson 

Councillor Jason O’Pray

Councillors Expenses

Mayor Mark Jamieson $719

Cr Rick Baberowski (Deputy Mayor) $4347

Cr Terry Landsberg $4496

Cr Peter Cox $362

Cr Joe Natoli* $2291

Cr Winston Johnston $2647

Cr Christian Dickson $3627

Cr Ted Hungerford $1163

Cr Jason O’Pray $3019

Cr Maria Suarez $2384

Cr David Law $2985

Councillors were provided with the following 

facilities and resources to enable them to perform 

their duties and undertake Council business:

• Administrative support

• Office accommodation at one of  three Council 

owned or leased premises as well as access to 

meeting rooms

• Business and communication tools

• Mobile devices, subject to personal use 

contribution* and

• Vehicle, subject to personal use contribution or 

alternative arrangement.

It is recognised that community expectations and 

requests of  the Mayor are such that all mobile 

phone and vehicle costs are deemed to be 

Council business.

Councillor meeting attendance

Council meetings comprised Ordinary Meetings 

and Special Meetings. Ordinary Meetings have a 

membership comprising all Councillors and the 

Mayor.

The table below shows meeting attendance for all 

Councillors and the Mayor.

Councillors 
Ordinary 
Meetings

Special 
Meetings

Number of  meetings 
held from 1 July 2021 
to 30 June 2022:

12 3

Mayor Mark Jamieson 12 2

Cr Rick Baberowski 
(Deputy Mayor)

12 3

Cr Terry Landsberg 12 3

Cr Peter Cox 11 3

Cr Joe Natoli 11 3

Cr Winston Johnston 11 3

Cr Christian Dickson 12 3

Cr Ted Hungerford 12 3

Cr Jason O’Pray 12 3

Cr Maria Suarez 12 3

Cr David Law 12 3

Note: Councillors notify any absences and 

reasons for such. These may include competing 

diary commitments, medical leave, annual 

leave, professional development and personal 

commitments.

Conduct and performance of 
Councillors 

The Local Government Act 2009 (the Act) sets 

out the roles, responsibilities, and obligations 

of  Councillors. In accordance with reporting 

requirements, the table below documents actions 

and outcomes relating to the conduct and 

performance of  Councillors for the period of   

1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022.

The following table discloses matters relating to 

the conduct of  Councillors that were raised during 

the financial year.
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Conduct and performance of Councillors

A description of  unsuitable meeting conduct, 

inappropriate conduct or misconduct engaged in 

by each of  the Councillors

Former Councillor Greg Rogerson:  that between 

21 December 2018 and March 2019 the [then] 

Councillor breached Behavioural Standard 2 of  the 

Code of  Conduct namely by failing to treat Council 

employees in a reasonable, just, respectful and 

non-discriminatory way. 

Councillor Jason O’Pray: that, on the balance of  

probabilities, on 21 May 2019, Councillor Jason 

O’Pray engaged in misconduct by breaching 

the trust placed in him as a Councillor, either 

knowingly or recklessly when, having a conflict 

of  interest in relation to a matter, attempted to 

influence both another Councillor to vote on the 

matter in a particular way at a meeting of  the local 

government, and a local government employee 

who was authorised to decide or otherwise deal 

with a matter to do so in a particular way.

A summary of  the decision, order or 

recommendation made for each Councillor

Former Councillor Greg Rogerson: at the Ordinary 

Meeting on 14 October 2021 Council resolved 

(OM21/100) that former Councillor Greg Rogerson 

engaged in inappropriate conduct and that, 

in accordance with section 150AH(1)(b)(ii) of  

the Local Government Act 2009, an order be 

made reprimanding the former Councillor for the 

conduct. 

Councillor Jason O’Pray: the Councillor Conduct 

Tribunal ordered that pursuant to section 150AR(1)

(b)(iii) of  the Local Government Act 2009, 

Councillor Jason O’Pray attend training to address 

the specific conduct which was the subject of  the 

allegations and that such training to be undertaken 

at the Councillor’s expense.

Complaints referred to the assessor under section 
150P(2)(a) of  the Act by the local government 
entities for the local government

3

Matters, mentioned in section 150P(3) of  the Act, 
notified to the Crime and Corruption Commission

Nil

Notices given under section 150R(2) of  the Act Nil

Notices given under section 150S(2)(a) of  the Act Nil

Decisions made under section 150W(1)(a), (b) and 
(e) of  the Act

8

Referral notices accompanied by a 
recommendation mentioned in section 150AC(3) 
(a) of  the Act

Nil

Occasions information was given under section 
150AF(4)(a) of  the Act

Nil

Occasions the local government asked another 
entity to investigate, under chapter 5A, part 3, 
division 5 of  the Act for the local government, the 
suspected inappropriate conduct of  a Councillor

Nil

Applications heard by the conduct tribunal under 
chapter 5A, part 3, division 6 of  the Act about 
whether a Councillor engaged in misconduct or 
inappropriate conduct 

Nil
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Disclosures 

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is established in accordance 

with the Local Government Regulation 2012. As 

an advisory committee, its objectives are to assist 

the Council and the Chief  Executive Officer to 

discharge their duties in particular:

• Corporate governance and responsibilities 

in relation  to the organisation’s financial 

reporting, internal control structure, risk 

management systems and the external and 

internal audit functions

• Maintain an independent and objective forum, 

promoting transparency, accountability and an 

ethical culture throughout Council

• Maintain by scheduling regular meetings, 

open lines of  communications with Council, 

Management, Internal Audit and External Audit, 

to exchange information and views

• Oversee and appraise the quality and 

efficiency of  audits conducted by both the 

Internal and External Audit functions, and

• Ensure both the Internal and External Audit 

functions are independent and effective.

Four formal Audit Committee meetings were held 

throughout the year. Members of  the committee 

comprised the following Councillors and 

independent external representatives:

• Cr Ted Hungerford

• Cr Joe Natoli 

• Mr Mitchell Petrie (Independent Chair)

• Mr Pat McCallum (Independent Member)

The Audit Committee also:

• Monitored the Financial Statements annual 

preparation, process and reviewed the draft 

Financial Statements prior to certification

• Oversaw governance reporting, including risk 

management and work health and safety

• Reviewed both external and internal audit 

plans, reports and recommendations, and

• Actively contributed to Council’s culture of  

continuous improvement.

Audit and Assurance

Audit and Assurance activities were conducted 

in accordance with best practice principles, 

including guidance issued by the Institute of  

Internal Auditors. Activities for the period July 

2021 to June 2022 included:

• Conflicts of  Interests – Management of  Staff  

Declarations

• Risk Management – Risk Maturity Assessment

• Traffic Management Contract

• Natural Disaster Relief  and Recovery – 

Preparedness 

• Payroll – Superannuation

• Rates Revenue – Special and Fire Levies, and

• Landfill Operations Compliance with 

Environmental Authority.

Council also participated in the Office of  the 

Information Commissioner’s Compliance Audit 

for the Right to Information Act 2009 and the 

Information Privacy Act 2009. The report, which 

was tabled in the Queensland Parliament on 30 

November 2021, identified 22 recommendations 

for business improvement opportunities across 

Council. An action plan to address these 

recommendations is being implemented.

Remuneration packages to senior 
management 

During 2021/22 Council’s senior executive 

management, comprising direct reports to the 

Chief  Executive Officer and those with senior 

management responsibilities, consisted of:

• Chief  Executive Officer

• Five Group Executives

• Executive Manager

• Director Major Projects and Strategic Property

• Chief  Strategy Officer, and

• Chief  of  Staff.

Total remuneration for these positions (including 

all vehicles and periods of  backfill due to 

incumbent being on leave) from 1 July 2021 to 30 

June 2022 was $3,103,763.55.

Senior Executive 
Management (number)

Total remuneration 
value range

4 $200,000 to $300,000

5 $301,000 to $400,000

1 $401,000 to $500,000

National competition policy 

Council conducted the following business 

activities during the 2021/22 financial year:

• Aquatic centres

• Caloundra Indoor Stadium

• Caloundra Regional Gallery
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• Cemeteries

• Festivals

• Multisports complexes and showgrounds

• Off-street parking

• Quarries

• Retail electricity and the Sunshine Coast Solar 

Farm

• Sunshine Coast Holiday Parks

• Sunshine Coast International Broadband Cable 

Network

• Sunshine Coast Stadium and Kawana Sports 

Precinct

• Venue 114 and community spaces, and

• Waste and resource management.

Waste and resources management was a 

significant business activity and applied the 

competitive neutrality principle. There were no 

new significant business activities.

Note: No investigation notices were issued in 

2021/22 by the Queensland Competition Authority 

for competitive neutrality complaints.

Registers 

Council keeps a number of  registers. 

These include:

• Asbestos register

• Asset register (Confirm Asset Management 

Information System)

• Contract register

• Councillor conduct register

• Delegations register

• Development applications register 

(Development.i)

• Environmentally relevant activity licence 

register

• Gifts and disclosures register

• Registered cat register

• Registered dog register 

• Register of  business activities to which the 

competitive neutrality principle applies 

• Register of  general cost recovery fees and 

commercial charges 2021/22

• Register of  local laws

• Registers of  interests

• Registers of  pre-qualified suppliers (RPQS), 

and

• Roads register.

Beneficial enterprises

Council participated in beneficial enterprises with 

four entities during the 2021/22 financial year. 

Beneficial enterprises are entities that Council 

engages in or helps them to benefit the whole or 

part of  the local government area. These entities 

were:

• SunCentral Maroochydore Pty Ltd

• Sunshine Coast Events Centre Pty Ltd

• Sunshine Coast Arts Foundation Ltd, and

• Visit Sunshine Coast Ltd.

Service, facility or activity

There are no details to report for the financial year 

under section 190(d) of  the Local Government 

Regulation 2012, on action taken for, and 

expenditure on, a service, facility or activity:

• Supplied by another local government 

under an agreement for conducting a joint 

government activity, and

• For which the local government levied special 

rates or charges for the financial year.

Administrative action complaints 

Council applies its Administrative Actions 

Complaint Management Policy to effectively 

manage complaints in a fair, prompt, confidential 

and respectful manner.

The management of  unreasonable complainant 

conduct was a focus during 2021/22 with 

processes and tools developed to assist in the 

efficient use of  resources to manage complaints 

and ensure a positive communication experience 

with all members of  the community. In accordance 

with guidance from the Queensland Ombudsman, 

Council has developed a policy and supporting 

guidelines, a tool kit and education program to 

reinforce messaging in dealing with unreasonable 

conduct. 

Council’s Administrative Action Complaints 

Management process is available to staff  via 

Council’s intranet and the community can access 

the process via the Council website.

As required under section 187(2) of  the Local 

Government Regulation 2012, the table below 

summarises the administrative action complaint 

outcomes for 2021/22.
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Administrative action complaints

Number of  complaints made in 2021/22 92

Number of  complaints completed 83*

Number of  complaints not resolved (outstanding) by 30 June 2022 21*

Number of  administrative action complaints not resolved that were made in the previous  
financial year

1**

Ninety per cent of  complaint matters were dealt within the required timeframes prescribed by legislation 

and policy.

Overseas travel 

Under section 188 of  the Local Government Regulation 2012, Council must provide information about 

any overseas travel made in a financial year by a Councillor or local government employee in an official 

capacity. 

The below table shows overseas travel undertaken by a Councillor or Council employee during the 

financial year 2021/22. 

Attendee Destination Purpose   Month    Cost

Andrew Eves-Brown 

Head of  Economic 

Development

New Zealand Travel targeting individual businesses 

and organisations with the purpose to:

• foster regional access to the closest 

international growth market for 

Australia

• establish networks of  significant 

business and other contacts

• identify opportunities to increase 

inward investment for the region’s 

region shaping projects, specifically 

the Maroochydore City Centre and 

digital trade/tech opportunities

• identify opportunities for increased 

government to government 

collaborations; and

• identify and promote outbound 

trade opportunities focused on this 

region’s key high-value and emerging 

industries.

May 2022    $4909

Gabrielle Troon 

Head of  International 

Relations, Trade and 

Future Industries 

New Zealand Gabrielle Troon travelled with Andrew 

Eves-Brown to New Zealand and the 

purpose of  the travel is the same. 

May 2022 $4999

Summary of concessions for rates and charges 

Council grants a range of  rates and charges concessions. In accordance with section 190(g) of  the Local 

Government Regulation 2012, a description of  the concessions granted in 2021/22, along with how the 

concession is calculated, is detailed below.

* This includes complaints received in previous financial years.
** One complaint received in the 2020/21 financial year was not resolved in financial year 2021/22 due to the complexity of  the 

matter and the prioritisation of  workloads to undertake investigations and consideration of  risk assessment and mitigations of  all 
complaints raised.
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Differential general rate concession

Council grants a general rates concession to land identified in section 120(1)(b) of  the Local Government 

Regulation 2012 to the extent Council is satisfied the land is owned and directly used by an entity whose 

objectives do not include making a profit, or an entity that provides assistance or encouragement for arts or 

cultural development, and the entity meets the specific criteria detailed in the 2021/22 Revenue Statement.

Deferral of differential general rate

In accordance with sections 120 and 121 of  the Local Government Regulation 2012, Council will allow 

deferment of  up to 50 per cent of  the differential general rate to assist eligible pensioner ratepayers 

residing in their principal place of  residence. The deferment is subject to the ratepayer meeting the 

eligibility criteria detailed in the 2021/22 Revenue Statement.

Rates and charges debt concession

In accordance with sections 120 and 121 of  the Local Government Regulation 2012, a concession by 

way of  an agreement to defer payment, for a period of  up to 12 months, for rates and charges, may be 

granted to property owners that satisfy Council that payment of  rates and charges for their principal 

place of  residence will cause them hardship. The concession is granted subject to the ratepayers 

meeting the eligibility criteria detailed in the 2021/22 Revenue Statement.

Pensioner rate concession

In accordance with section 120 of  the Local Government Regulation 2012, Council grants a pensioner 

rate concession to property owners who are in receipt of  either a part or full pension who meet the 

eligibility criteria detailed in the Queensland Government’s Rate Subsidy Scheme and the additional 

criteria in the 2021/22 Revenue Statement. The concession is a maximum of  25 per cent of  the differential 

general rate up to the maximum amounts detailed in the table below:

Pension rate Sole title to the property Joint title to the property 
Maximum level of  pension  
(full pension)

$262 per annum maximum $205 per annum maximum

Not maximum level of  pension  
(part pension)

$131 per annum maximum $74 per annum maximum

Changes to tenders

Item No. Contract No. Contract title Details of changes

1 ITT1928 Waste Collection Contract – 
Separable Portion A

Amendments made to clauses relating to the 
Organic Waste Collection Services to allow 
flexibility for Council

2 ITT2058 Design and Construct – 
Sunshine Coast City Hall Fitout

Changes to proposed design options including, 
partition wall schedule, internal glazing 
acoustic specification and booth finishes

3 ITT2061 Gravel Road Upgrade - 
Zgrajewski Road, Yandina Creek

Scope reduced prior to inviting repricing

4 Q2172 Landscape Construction Stage 
2 Mountain Bike Trails, Sugar 
Bag Road Caloundra

Scope reduced prior to inviting repricing

5 ITT2123 Construction of  Amenity 
Buildings and associated 
Landscaping - Forest Park West 
District Park, Sippy Downs

East Lot scope of  works amended to remove 
street/pathway lighting poles, luminaires and 
lighting controls, associated electrical supply 
and reticulation

6 ITT2149 Furniture Supply and Installation 
- Sunshine Coast City Hall

Changes to specification for Separable Portion 
A (Task Chairs) and Separable Portion B 
(Workstations)
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Grants to community organisations and discretionary funds

The total allocation of  grants funding for the financial year was $4,664,844. This includes $246,192 in 

Councillor discretionary funding.

Council’s discretionary funding for 2021/22 was as follows:

• The prescribed amount $252,318 (defined in section 201B(5) of  the Local Government Regulations 

2012 to mean 0.1 per cent of  Council’s revenue from general rates for the previous financial year)

• Budgeted amount $252,318 (each financial year Council may determine a budget allocation for 

discretionary funds, not exceeding the prescribed amount, for use by the Mayor and Councillors for the 

purpose of  allocating it for community purposes).

Each Councillor had a budget of  $22,938 to allocate to community organisations for community purposes 

as detailed in the tables over the following pages.

Mayor Jamieson: Total 2021/22 allocation $22,938

Applicant Project/Purpose Date allocated Amount ($)

Yandina Community 
Gardens Inc

Part contribution towards purchase of  a small 
tractor to support delivery of  the 'Food Waste 
Loop' program

14 September 
2021

$2500

Naradell Inc Morning tea event to recognise the 
contribution of  carers during Carers Week and 
Mental Health Week 2021

27 September 
2021

$200

Hinterland Market Trail Design work for promotional brochure 11 October 2021 $350

STEPS Charity Ltd Hire of  rides for STEPS Autism Treehouse 8th 
Annual Christmas Party

14 October 2021 $1000

Sunshine Coast Riding for 
the Disabled (RDA) Inc

Purchase of  45 stackable chairs for volunteers 
use and community use at club fund raising 
events

26 May 2022 $2000

Maroochy River Rowing 
Club Inc

Purchase of  essential rowing equipment
31 May 2022 $3470

Maroochydore Cricket 
Club Incorporated

Contribution towards purchase of  sight 
screens

31 May 2022 $2000

Sunshine Coast Disc Golf  
Club Inc

Contribution towards Concrete Greens
6 June 2022 $1000

Coolum Beach Junior 
Rugby League Club Inc

Contribution for chairs, marquees, cold room 
and laundry costs for QLD City Country 
Cultural Exchange event

6 June 2022 $2000

Coast2Bay Housing  
Group Ltd

Furnishings and appliances to fit out newly 
constructed emergency accommodation units 
for temporary use by families impacted by 
domestic and family violence

8 June 2022 $5892

Mudjimba Beach 
Boardriders Club Inc

Purchase of  portable PA System and Siren for 
Surfing events

8 June 2022 $1400
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Division 1 Cr Baberowski: Total 202122 allocation $22,938

Applicant Project/Purpose Date allocated Amount ($)

Landsborough School 
of  Arts Memorial Hall 
Association Inc

Master plan project for the Landsborough 
School of  Arts Memorial Hall

23 September 
2021

$3850

Naradell Inc Morning tea event to recognise the 
contribution of  carers during Carers Week and 
Mental Health Week 2021

24 September 
2021

$100

STEPS Charity Ltd Hire of  rides for STEPS Autism Treehouse 8th 
Annual Christmas Party

15 October 2021 $500

Visionary Ocean Warriors Shirts to help identify volunteers at a free 
beach clean up event at Happy Valley, 
Caloundra

15 October 2021 $506

Beerwah and District  
Sub-Branch (RSL)

Hire of  chairs and tables for 2021 
Remembrance Day Service

3 November 2021 $724

Calvary Lutheran 
Congregation Glasshouse 
Country

Advertising and hall hire costs for Glasshouse 
Community Carols 8 December 2021 $500

Sunshine Coast Punjabi 
Welfare Association Inc

Sporting equipment and chairs for cricket 
tournament and community event featuring 
during Harmony Week

15 March 2022 $1000

QCWA Branch Beerwah Funds for hire of  venue for an event 
supporting community members affected by 
cancer and fundraising

29 April 2022 $160

Rhythm Initiative Limited Contribution towards cost for an activity at 
Nirimba community engagement day

23 May 2022 $500

Sunshine Coast Disc Golf  
Club Inc

Contribution towards concrete greens
2 June 2022 $1000

Queensland Air Museum Items of  audio-visual equipment to be used by 
volunteers to produce museum podcasts and 
displays

7 June 2022 $1000

Coast2Bay Housing Group 
Ltd

Essential kitchen appliances to equip newly 
constructed emergency accommodation for 
families impacted by domestic and family 
violence

8 June 2022 $898

Landsborough School 
of  Arts Memorial Hall 
Association Inc

Contribution towards development assessment 
for accessibility project 10 June 2022 $12,000
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Division 2 Cr Landsberg: Total 2021/22 Allocation $22,938

Applicant Project/Purpose Date allocated Amount ($)

Caloundra Committee of  
Service to the Ageing

Purchase of  a mobile whiteboard for 
presentations at the CCSA Hall

17 August 2021 $424

Skate Aid Australia 
(Under Trinity Youth and 
Community Services)

Skate park event including skate instructors, 
event insurance, advertising and MC to 
celebrate Dicky Beach skate park upgrades

10 September 
2021

$1000

Naradell Inc Morning tea event to recognise the 
contribution of  carers during Carers Week 
and Mental Health Week 2021

27 September 
2021

$100

EndED Ltd A contribution to promotion and marketing 
costs of  the inaugural Nurture Festival 
scheduled for May 2022, which aims to be 
Australia's largest mental health festival

1 October 2021 $3500

STEPS Charity Ltd Hire of  rides for STEPS Autism Treehouse 8th 
Annual Christmas Party

13 October 2021 $1000

Inner Wheel Club 
of  Sunshine Coast 
Incorporated

Contribution towards destination promotion 
and welcome catering

8 November 
2021

$300

Golden Beach and 
Pelican Waters Community 
Association Inc

Contribution towards hiring children's 
activities for community event

10 February 
2022

$2000

Night Eyes Water and 
Landcare Inc

Purchase of  high visibility vests for the safety 
of  volunteers

10 February 
2022

$300

Caloundra Camera Group 
Inc

Printing costs for promotional material to 
increase membership

3 March 2022 $500

Caloundra Committee Of  
Service To The Ageing

Contribution to catering costs for event
8 March 2022 $500

Island Swim - Mudjimba to 
Mooloolaba Inc

Cinema hire, finger food and social media 
marketing to support the movie night launch 
event for the Island Charity Swim, a fundraiser 
to support the special school community

8 March 2022 $1750

Murri's on the Move Driving 
School Ltd

Funding for venue hire, catering and 
procuring a Welcome to Country to screen 
the "Incarceration Nation" film in the lead up 
to National Reconciliation Week 2022

21 March 2022 $1150

Caloundra Community 
Kindergarten Association Inc

Purchase of  shelving for storage of  working 
bee items in shed

6 May 2022 $350

Night Eyes Water and 
Landcare Inc

Purchase of  protective equipment (vests & 
hats) for volunteers

16 May 2022 $1550

Trinity Youth and 
Community Services

Contribution towards the costs of  undertaking 
a free local community skate park event

18 May 2022 $1500

Rosie’s Youth Mission Inc Purchase of  sleeping bags & yoga mats for 
people sleeping rough

24 May 2022 $1348

DV Safe Phone Ltd Purchase 130 mobile top-up credit vouchers 
to provide to domestic violence and law 
enforcement agencies

3 June 2022 $1950

Caloundra Mallet Sports 
Club Ltd

Funds for security upgrade at club premises
6 June 2022 $1930

Queensland Air Museum Items of  audio-visual equipment to be used 
by volunteers to produce museum podcasts 
and displays

7 June 2022 $1000

Alexandra Headland 
Malibu Club Inc

Contribution towards filming of  a Sunshine 
Coast surfing icon's work for community 
record and sharing

9 June 2022 $440
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Division 3 Cr Cox: Total 202122 allocation $22,938

Applicant Project/Purpose Date allocated Amount ($)

Naradell Inc Morning tea event to recognise the 
contribution of  carers during Carers Week and 
Mental Health Week 2021

28 September 
2021

$100

EndED Ltd A contribution to promotion and marketing 
costs of  the inaugural Nurture Festival 
scheduled for May 2022, which aims to be 
Australia's largest mental health festival

30 September 
2021

$3500

STEPS Charity Ltd Hire of  rides for STEPS Autism Treehouse 8th 
Annual Christmas Party

14 October 2021 $1000

Kawana Boardriders Club 
Inc

Contribution towards purchase of  three 
portable marquees

10 November 
2021

$1595

Inner Wheel Club 
of  Sunshine Coast 
Incorporated

Contribution towards destination promotion 
and venue hire / catering

10 November 
2021

$500

Rotary Club of  Mooloolaba 
Inc

Venue hire costs for charity event 1 December 
2021

$1100

Coast2Bay Housing Group Venue hire for Christmas celebration 9 December 
2021

$400

Sunshine Coast Indoor   
Rowing Club Inc

Contribution towards marketing and venue and 
equipment hire for QLD rowing championships 
hosted by Sunshine Coast Indoor Rowing Club

29 March 2022 $900

 Buskers by the Creek Inc A contribution towards venue hire of  a Council 
facility for 2022 Buskers by the Lake festival, 
19 – 21 August

5 April 2022 $7500

Waste Action Maleny                      
(WAM)

Funds for community organisation's website 
and website software upgrade

22 April 2022 $700

Sunshine Coast PCYC 
(Queensland Police 
Citizens Youth Welfare 
Association)

Contribution towards artist costs to design and 
lead painting of  an unattractive wall adjacent 
open space

29 April 2022 $2000

Windansea Boardriders' 
Club Inc

Clearing of  vegetation at clubhouse site
26 May 2022 $3043
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Division 4 Cr Natoli: Total 2021/22 Allocation $22,938

Applicant Project/Purpose Date allocated Amount ($)

Yandina Community 
Gardens Inc

Part contribution towards purchase of  a small 
tractor to support delivery of  the 'Food Waste 
Loop' program

15 September 
2021

$2500

Buddina Community 
Garden Inc

Contribution towards solar power upgrade 24 September 
2021

$2990

Maroochydore Rugby 
Union Club Incorporated

Relocation of  emergency ambulance access 
to playing fields

24 September 
2021

$1080

The Maroochydore Beach 
Bowls Club Incorporated

Purchase of  new scoreboards 24 September 
2021

$2000

Arts And Culture 
Federation of  Sunshine 
Coast Inc

Creative performing arts entertainment at 
Mooloolaba's Multicultural Moon Festival 1 October 2021 $800

Naradell Inc Morning tea event to recognise the 
contribution of  carers during Carers Week and 
Mental Health Week 2021

1 October 2021 $100

EndED Ltd A contribution to promotion and marketing 
costs of  the inaugural Nurture Festival 
scheduled for May 2022, which aims to be 
Australia's largest mental health festival

7 October 2021 $2000

STEPS Charity Ltd Hire of  rides for Steps Autism Treehouse 8th 
Annual Christmas Party

18 October 2021 $400

Kawana Boardriders Club 
Inc

Contribution towards purchase of  three 
portable marquees

11 November 
2021

$621

Rotary Club of  Alexandra 
Headland Inc

Contribution towards fit out costs for 
transformation of  shipping containers for youth 
centre

19 November 
2021

$2000

Sea Shepherd Australia 
Limited

Purchase of  film license for community 
documentary film screening

1 February 2022 $254

Rotary Club of  Alexandra 
Headland

Funds to purchase fence webbing for safety of  
swimmers at the Winter Solstice Swim 2022

3 May 2022 $2000

Buddina Community 
Garden Inc

Purchase and installation of  nesting boxes at 
Buddina Community Garden and surrounds

31 May 2022 $1287

DV Safe Phone Ltd Purchase of  400 SIM cards for victims of  
domestic violence, along with the tested DV 
Safe Phones

2 June 2022 $2000

Mooloolaba Surf  Life 
Saving Club Inc

Replacement of  surf  rescue boards
2 June 2022 $2900
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Division 5 Cr Johnston: Total 2021/22 Allocation $22,938

Applicant Project/Purpose Date allocated Amount ($)

Knitfest Inc Funding towards marketing and advertising, 
workshop facilitator, event insurance, venue 
hire and bus hire for Knitfest 2021

10 August 2021 $3000

Lions Club of  Maleny-
Blackall Range Inc

Purchase of  signage for use at Maleny 
Country Fair

11 August 2021 $726

Yandina Community 
Gardens Inc

Part contribution towards purchase of  a small 
tractor to support delivery of  the 'Food Waste 
Loop' program

10 September 
2021

$2500

Combined Probus Club of  
Maleny Inc

Purchase of  two pull up banners for promotion 17 September 
2021

$580

Naradell Inc Morning tea event to recognise the 
contribution of  carers during Carers Week and 
Mental Health Week 2021

27 September 
2021

$100

Friends of  Pattemore 
House Inc

Purchase and install fabricated powder-
coated aluminium framework to attach three 
historical panels to existing information shelter 
on Maleny Selectors Green

20 October 2021 $940

Mooloolah Public Hall 
Association Inc

Contribution towards community Christmas 
Celebration

26 November 
2021

$250

Montville Village 
Association Inc

Purchase of  awnings 8 December 
2021

$2506

Combined Probus Club of  
Maleny Inc

Purchase of  AED Security Cabinet 10 February 
2022

$275

Nambour Amateur 
Swimming Club Inc

Contributions towards hire of  pool for event
12 May 2022 $500

Range of  Life Pty Ltd A contribution towards engaging topology 
to deliver a series of  creative performance 
workshops for the community, which will 
culminate in a symphonic orchestral public 
performance at the Moonlight Symphony event 
as part of  the inaugural Over the Rangebow 
Festival on 12 of  August 2022

12 May 2022 $2500

Friends of  Pattemore 
House Inc

Contribution towards the preservation of  the 
external Pattemore cow bails yards

12 May 2022 $5606
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Division 6 Cr Dickson: Total 2021/22 Allocation $22,938

Applicant Project/Purpose Date allocated Amount ($)

Headland Buderim 
Croquet Club Inc

Purchase of  croquet mallets and sets of  
croquet balls

3 August 2021 $4167

Legacy Club of  
Brisbane Ltd

Purchase of  cards and diaries to provide 
to legacy widows to celebrate the 2021 
festive season and to mark milestones

12 August 
2021

$1500

Yandina Community 
Gardens Inc

Part contribution towards purchase of  a 
small tractor to support delivery of  the 
'Food Waste Loop' program

14 September 
2021

$2500

One Step Alliance Inc Purchase of  office equipment 16 September 
2021

$2197

Naradell Inc Morning tea event to recognise the 
contribution of  carers during Carers 
Week and Mental Health Week 2021

28 September 
2021

$100

EndED Ltd A contribution to promotion and 
marketing costs of  the inaugural Nurture 
Festival scheduled for May 2022, which 
aims to be Australia's largest mental 
health festival

6 October 
2021

$1000

STEPS Charity Ltd Hire of  rides for STEPS Autism Treehouse 
8th Annual Christmas Party

19 October 
2021

$797

Maroochydore Cricket 
Club Incorporated

Repairs and maintenance of  wicket, 
screens and nets

19 November 
2021

$5000

Brightwater Community 
Association Inc

Contribution for equipment hire costs and 
first aid kit for Movie Night in the Park

17 December 
2021

$1006

Sunshine Coast 
Reconciliation Group 
Inc

Contribution towards Dr Jackie Huggins 
speaker fee for National Reconciliation 
Week event at University of  Sunshine 
Coast on Sunday 29th May

26 April 2022 $2000

Response Mental 
Health Peer Support 
Inc

Funds towards guest speaker and 
catering costs for a mental health 
support event

5 May 2022 $2000

Maroochydore Cricket 
Club Inc

To purchase three hessian covers to 
protect turf  cricket wickets

7 June 2022 $671
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Division 7 Cr Hungerford: Total 2021/22 Allocation$22,938

Applicant Project/Purpose Date allocated Amount ($)

Buderim Garden Club 
Incorporated

Contribution towards installation of  arbour 
infrastructure in Buderim Village Park to 
celebrate the Buderim Garden Club 75th 
anniversary

29 July 2021 $5000

Naradell Inc Morning tea event to recognise the 
contribution of  carers during Carers Week 
and Mental Health Week 2021

13 October 2021 $100

Zonta Club of  Maroochy Inc Printing of  postcards for event to raise 
awareness and advocate against gender-
based violence

11 November 
2021

$90

Maroochy Men’s Shed Inc Purchase of  printer 21 December 
2021

$444

Maroochy Men’s Shed Inc Contribution to purchase of  new equipment. 12 April 2022 $600

Sunshine Coast Health 
Foundation (Wishlist)

Funds to purchase equipment for an event 
recognising the dedication of  the group’s 
volunteers and their families

5 May 2022 $1110

Buderim Garden Club Inc Contribution towards anniversary arbour 
infrastructure in Buderim Village Park

10 May 2022 $5000

Sunshine Coast Square 
Dance Centre Inc

Trimming of  tree branches for preventative 
maintenance

18 May 2022 $1980

Vietnam Veterans 
Association of  Australia, 
Sunshine Coast Sub-Branch

Funds for furniture and transport hire for 
commemorative Vietnam Veterans event 14 June 2022 $2130

Buderim Scout Group Purchase of  15 tents for local scout group 15 June 2022 6484
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Division 8 Cr O’Pray: Total 2021/22 Allocation $22,938

Applicant Project/Purpose Date allocated Amount ($)

Maroochy North Shore 
Lions Club Inc

Purchase of  signage and tablet for cashless 
and contactless payment at monthly BBQs 
events raising funds for Mudjimba Surf  
Lifesaving

3 August 2021 $432

Twin Waters Residents' 
Association Inc

Contribution towards entertainment and 
infrastructure for annual Twin Waters 
community event

22 September 
2021

$1000

EndED Ltd A contribution to promotion and marketing 
costs of  the inaugural Nurture Festival 
scheduled for May 2022, which aims to be 
Australia's largest mental health festival

7 October 2021 $3500

Naradell Inc Morning tea event to recognise the 
contribution of  carers during Carers Week and 
Mental Health Week 2021

7 October 2021 $50

Sunshine Coast Rowing 
Club Inc

Purchase of  oars
7 October 2021 $2500

STEPS Charity Ltd Hire of  rides for STEPS Autism Treehouse 8th 
Annual Christmas Party

13 October 2021 $2000

Sunshine Coast Sports 
Hall of  Fame

AV equipment hire and set up to support the 
2021 Sunshine Coast Sports Hall of  Fame 
Induction Ceremony

24 November 
2021

$1500

EndED Ltd Event management fee for the inaugural 
Nurture Festival scheduled for May 2022 
which aims to be Australia's largest mental 
health festival.

1 December 
2021

$6500

Maroochy Canal Action 
Group Inc

Items for Christmas activity cruise on 
Maroochydore canals

8 December 
2021

$431

Twin Waters Residents' 
Association Inc

Funding AV equipment hire to accommodate 
educational presentation to Twin Waters 
community

16 March 2022 $220

Sunshine Coast Baseball 
Association Inc

Purchase of  new baseballs and training 
equipment for junior members to replace old 
worn equipment

4 April 2022 $500

North Shore Junior 
Australian Football Club 
Inc

Funding Jerseys and socks for annual PRIDE 
round AFL event 29 April 2022 $3168

Twin Waters Residents' 
Association Inc

Contribution towards the costs of  equipment 
and activities for an annual community event

23 May 2022 $1000



D
IS

C
LO

S
U

R
E

S

73Annual Report 2021/22  |  Sunshine Coast Council

Division 9 Cr Suarez: Total 2021/22 Allocation $22,938

Applicant Project/Purpose Date allocated Amount ($)

Coolum Croquet Club Purchase of  essential croquet sporting 
equipment

6 August 2021 $1849

Maroochy River Rowing 
Club Inc

Purchase and installation of  boat safety 
lighting to meet compliance with new Marine 
Queensland regulation

17 August 2021 $2000

Supporting People in 
Respite and Lifestyles Inc

A contribution towards venue hire for an 
accessible art show to celebrate Disability 
Action Week

20 August 2021 $500

Naradell Inc Morning tea event to recognise the 
contribution of  carers during Carers Week and 
Mental Health Week 2021

28 September 
2021

$50

Bli Bli Public Hall and 
Community Association 
Inc

Contribution towards costs of  fireworks at 
Community Christmas Carols event 20 October 2021 $2000

Eumundi School of  Rock 
Incorporated

Contribution towards artist costs for Eumundi 
School of  Rock event

23 November 
2021

$500

Coolum Wedge Inc Contribution towards media costs for Coolum 
Wedge body surfing event

10 December 
2021

$2000

Coolum District Coast 
Care Group Inc

Funding equipment, PPE for volunteers and 
printing material to support turtle monitoring 
and bush regeneration

22 February 
2022

$2000

The Coolum Women's 
Shed Inc

Fund first aid and CPR training for 20 volunteer 
members

22 February 
2022

$2000

Valdora Community Hall 
Association Inc

Purchase of  laptop and mobile phone for hall
29 March 2022 $1635

Coolum Beach Walking 
Football

First Aid training and equipment for volunteers
29 April 2022 $994

Coolum Beach Meals on 
Wheels Inc

Purchase of  replacement office chairs and 
filing cabinets

29 April 2022 $1377

Coolum Art Group known 
as Coolum Art Collective

Contribution towards hosting spring exhibition
17 May 2022 $500

Coolum Peregian RSL 
Subbranch

Contribution towards defibrillator costs
2 June 2022 $2000

Bli Bli United Football Club 
Inc

Purchase of  replacement fridge
8 June 2022 $1310

Coolum Residents 
Association Inc

Contribution towards signage of  Gully Lane
9 June 2022 $1500

Eumundi School of  Rock 
Incorporated

Contribution towards artist costs for a 
community concert celebrating the end of  a 
youth music and stagecraft program

20 June 2022 $500
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Division 10 Cr Law: Total 2021/22 Allocation $22,938

Applicant Project/Purpose Date allocated Amount ($)

Probus Club of  North 
Blackall Range Inc

A contribution towards catering for members 
to celebrate Probus Day, which celebrates 
older people world-wide

3 September 
2021

$500

Supporting People in 
Respite and Lifestyles Inc

A contribution towards event costs for an 
accessible art show to celebrate Disability 
Action Week

3 September 
2021

$500

Mapleton Community 
Library

Upgrade to Mapleton Community Library 
website

15 September 
2021

$500

Nambour and District 
Historical Museum 
Association Inc

Replace main museum computer after 
unexpected failure

15 September 
2021

$1500

Yandina Community 
Gardens Inc

Part contribution towards purchase of  a small 
tractor to support delivery of  the 'Food Waste 
Loop' program

15 September 
2021

$5000

Naradell Inc Morning tea event to recognise the 
contribution of  carers during Carers Week and 
Mental Health Week 2021

1 October 2021 $100

The Mapleton Community 
Choir Inc

Purchase of  music for choir to learn and 
perform at Kureelpa Hall

1 October 2021 $520

The Nambour Tramway 
Company Ltd

Production of  promotional material in 
preparation of  launch of  Nambour Tram

1 October 2021 $1000

STEPS Charity Ltd Hire of  rides for STEPS Autism Treehouse 8th 
Annual Christmas Party

22 October 2021 $500

Sunshine Coast Bunyas 
Inc

Welcome to Country for Sunshine Coast 
Bunyas Knockout

22 October 2021 $1485

Yandina School of  Arts 
Incorporated

Replacement of  windows
9 November 2021 $1000

Eumundi School of  Rock 
Incorporated

Sound and lighting hire and contribution to 
artist fee for Eumundi School of  Rock event

19 November 
2021

$1500

Mapleton Hall & 
Sportsground Trust

Contribution to producer fees for Festival 
of  Small Halls event at Mapleton Hall on 31 
October 2021

19 November 
2021

$500

Nambour Chamber of  
Commerce Inc

Funds for entertainment costs and part 
contribution of  catering for Nambour business 
community event

15 December 
2021

$500

Amrita Australia Purchase of  rice cooker and non-perishable 
food to cook and contribute to the Nambour 
Community Centre’s freezer for vulnerable 
people

27 January 2022 $500

Yandina Cricket Club Inc Funds to purchase new training equipment for 
junior members of  the Yandina Cricket Club

23 March 2022 $500

Reimagine Nambour Inc Funding for venue hire supporting delivery of  
Nambour Rodeo

7 April 2022 $3000

Sunshine Coast Riding for 
the Disabled (RDA) Inc

Funds to purchase Econoboil urn for club 
house

10 May 2022 $1000

Nambour Cricket Club 
Incorporated

Contribution towards the cost of  a cricket 
bowling machine

31 May 2022 $500

Reset Support Service 
Limited

Delivery of  a five week program focused on 
changing the behaviour of  perpetrators of  
Domestic and Family Violence.

2 June 2022 $2300
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This report provides a representation of  Sunshine Coast Council’s recent financial 
performance.

Financial statements 
The financial statements consist of  four reports, with accompanying notes. The notes disclose Council’s 

accounting policies and provide additional information and greater detail on the values contained in the 

statements. When read in conjunction with each other, the documents provide an overall understanding of  

Council’s financial position. 

Statement of comprehensive income
The statement of  comprehensive income provides information about revenues and expenses and shows 

if  a surplus or deficit has been achieved in delivering Council services.

Statement of financial position
The statement of  financial position provides information about assets and liabilities. Together they provide 

the net worth of  Council, which has been built up over many years. This net worth is also called the 

Community Equity.

Statement of changes in equity
The statement of  changes in equity summarises the increase (or decrease) in Council’s net worth for the 

year.

Statement of cash flows
The statement of  cash flows shows changes to cash balances and how they occurred. It differs from 

the statement of  comprehensive income in that it excludes non-cash expenses such as depreciation, 

accruals and revaluation of  assets such as land and buildings.

Measures of financial sustainability (ratios)
Financial sustainability ratios examine the relationships between different financial categories. These 

ratios are also used for comparison purposes when benchmarking with other organisations. 

There are various financial sustainability measures available however Council is required to calculate 

its ratios in accordance with the Financial Management (Sustainability) Guideline 2013 issued by the 

Department of  State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning. The Current Year 

Financial Sustainability ratios are also audited by the Auditor-General of  Queensland.

Business activities – Full cost recovery performance
Council conducts a number of  business activities. The full cost recovery performance reports on the 

value of  Council’s investment in these activities.

Statement of Comprehensive Income
The following figures relate to Council only for the year ended 30 June 2022, and the numbers have been 

rounded. The figures do not include Council’s controlled entities as per the Consolidated columns in the 

financial statements.
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Revenue

Where did the money come from?
Council received $513 million in recurrent 

operating revenue during the 2021/22 year with 

the major source of  this revenue generated from 

the rates and utility charges. Total recurrent 

revenue increased by $42 million (9%) on the 

previous year.

Revenue % $’000

Rates & Utilities 67.0 343,878

Fees & Charges 13.8 70,804

Interest Received 4.0 20,389

Grants & Other 9.0 46,029

Unitywater 6.2 32,039

Total 513,138

Expenses

Where was the money spent?
Council returns the majority of  revenues to the 

community in the form of  services and community 

projects. Total recurrent expenses during the 

2021/22 year were $503 million which was a 

decrease of  $4 million (1%) on the previous year. 

Expenses % $’000

Employee Benefits 31.2 157,079

Materials & Services 45.1 226,815

Finance Costs 2.8 13,941

Depreciation & 
Amortisation

20.2 101,439

Contributions to Controlled 
Entities

0.7 3,615

Total 502,889

Operating result

The Operating Result is derived from the Statement of  Comprehensive Income by 
deducting Total Recurrent Expenses from Total Recurrent Revenue, with Council’s 
result for 2021/22 being a surplus of  $10 million.

Statement of financial position
Assets - liabilities = community equity

Assets

What do we own?
The value of  all assets we controlled as at 30 June 

2022 totalled $7.0 billion. This figure is further 

broken down into current assets $424 million (6%) 

and non-current assets $6.6 billion (94%). Current 

assets are those that are readily available to meet 

expenses and mainly include cash and amounts 

owed by customers. Non-current assets include 

property plant and equipment and investment in 

associates (Unitywater).

Assets % $’000

Cash & Cash Equivalents 4.7 332,292

Trade & Other Receivables 6.9 484,716

Inventories & Other 1.2 84,318

Property, Plant & Equipment 
and Intangibles

79.4 5,547,805

Investments in Associates 7.7 538,213

Total 6,987,343

Liabilities

What do we owe? 
The value of  all liabilities as at 30 June 2022 

was $753 million. This figure consists of  current 

liabilities $197 million (26%) and non-current 

liabilities of  $556 million (74%). The largest single 

debt owed by Council is to the Queensland 

Treasury Corporation (QTC) which is the state 

government-owned lending agency. This money is 

borrowed for infrastructure and large-scale region 

shaping projects. 

Liabilities % $’000

Trade & Other Payables 11.3 85,153

Borrowings 64.2 483,230

Provisions 13.8 103,873

Other Liabilities 10.7 80,731

Total 752,987
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Community equity result

The community equity result for 2021/22 as at 30 June 2022, is $6.2 billion.

Capital expenditure (property, plant and equipment assets)

Additions to assets for the financial year.

Category $’000

Aerodromes 35

Buildings and Facilities 8,435

Coast and Canals 3,525

Environmental Assets 1,586

Minor Capital Works 3,460

Fleet 571

Holiday Parks 2,888

Information Technology 759

Parks and Gardens 14,063

Quarries 613

Stormwater 6,628

Transportation 79,971

Waste 18,012

Total SCC Core Capital Program 140,546

Corporate Major Projects 58,703

Strategic Land and Commercial 
Properties

40,579

Total Other Capital Program 99,282

Total 239,828

Capital Expenditure sits outside the normal 

operating costs of  Council and is included in the 

Property Plant and Equipment balance on the 

statement of financial position. 

Capital expenditure includes infrastructure 

costs such as construction of  the new Sunshine 

Coast City Hall in Maroochydore City Centre, the 

Caloundra centre activation and the Sunshine 

Coast Stadium expansion. It also includes work 

on core Council assets such as buildings, roads, 

landfill and waste facilities, stormwater etc. Capital 

costs appear in the operating statement as a 

depreciation expense over the life of  the asset. 

The amounts in the table include capital 

expenditure only and exclude project costs of  an 

operating nature. 

. 
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Council’s total community equity 

($6.2 billion) is made up of:
• Retained surplus being the initial and ongoing 

investment of  the Community along with the 

profit or loss results of  all financial years ($5.0 

billion).

• Asset revaluation surplus which is the 

accumulated value of  the assets in excess of  

what we have paid for them ($1.2 billion).

Council’s total community equity

(Assets less liabilities)
$ Millions

6,987

 Assets

 Liabilities

 Community  

 Equity

6,234

753

Community equity

What is our net worth?
Assets (what we own) less liabilities (what we owe) equal Council’s net worth (Community Equity). As at 
30 June 2022, the Community Equity for Council was $6.2 billion, an increase of $694 million compared 
to the prior year.

Statement of changes in equity
The increase in Community Equity is due to an increase to Council’s Retained Surplus of  $141 million, 

along with an increase in the value of  Council’s assets of  $553 million.

Statement of cash flows

Cash flow

Cash in, cash out. 

Council’s total cash as at 30 June 2022 was $332 million.

There are three types of  activities that have an impact on cash balances.

1. Operating activities including receipts from customers and payments to suppliers, interest and 

dividends, grants, and the cost of  borrowings.

2. Investing activities include investments made in property, plant and equipment, proceeds from sale 

of  assets, and contributions.

3. Financing activities include the cash movement from borrowings proceeds received, less 

repayment commitments.

332 

(195)

(180)

501 

206 

-300 -200 -100  -  100  200  300 400  500  600

Closing Cash 2022

Opening Cash 2021

$ millions

Cash flow  

Overall cash balances for Council increased by $126 million (61%) for the financial year. 



82 Annual Report 2021/22  |  Sunshine Coast Council

Business activities – full cost recovery performance 
Council’s Financial Sustainability Plan requires the performance of  Council’s business activities be 

published annually in the Community Financial Report. 

2021/22 financial data

Waste and Resource 
Management 

$’000

Sunshine Coast 
Holiday Parks 

$’000

Quarries  
Business Unit 

$’000

Operating revenue 88,235 21,275 4,504

Community service obligations 1,199 0 255

Total operating revenue 89,434 21,275 4,759

Operating expenditure excluding 
interest

66,974 9,294 11,766

Depreciation 4,264 977 232

Competitive neutrality costs excluding 
income tax equivalent

492 553 38

Total operating expenditure 71,731 10,825 12,036

Earnings before interest and tax 
(EBIT)

17,703 10,451 (7,277)

Return (pre-tax nominal) % 16.5% 20.9% (134.0%)

Target return 9,002 4,911 427

Weighted average cost of  capital % 7.3% 11.1% 9.1%

Surplus/(Shortfall) EBIT to target 
return

8,701 5,539 (7,704)

Value of Council’s investment in the 
Business Activity

72,090 58,889 5,915

Note: Weighted average cost of  capital and return on capital are calculated on a pre-tax nominal basis.  

Value of  Council’s investment in the Business Activity is made up of  property, plant and equipment assets 

excluding strategic land holdings. 
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Measures of financial sustainability (ratios)

Ratios – long-term sustainability statement (Council)

Actuals Forward estimates

Ratio Target
30 June 

2022

30 
June 
2023

30 
June 
2024

30 
June 
2025

30 
June 
2026

30 
June 
2027

30 
June 
2028

30 
June 
2029

30 
June 
2030

30 
June 
2031

Operating  
surplus ratio

Between 0% 
and 10%

2.0% 5.9% 6.9% 7.2% 9.3% 9.3% 9.7% 10.0% 9.9% 9.6%

Asset 
sustainability ratio

Greater than 
90%

71.2% 88.4% 83.9% 78.7% 81.3% 73.2% 71.4% 79.7% 73.5% 78.4%

Net financial 
liabilities ratio

Not greater 
than 60%

64.2% 76.2% 88.1% 87.0% 77.1% 67.1% 59.0% 50.4% 45.9% 39.0%

Operating surplus ratio - Measures the extent to which operating revenues raised cover operational 

expenses. 

Asset sustainability ratio - Measures the extent to which the infrastructure assets managed by Council 

are being replaced as they reach the end of  their useful lives.

Net financial liabilities ratio - Measures the extent to which the net financial liabilities of  Council can be 

repaid from operating revenue.
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Financial Management Strategy
Council measures revenue and expenditure 

trends over time as a guide to future requirements 

and to make decisions about efficient allocation of  

resources to ensure the most effective provision 

of  services. Council ensures that its financial 

management strategy is prudent and that its long-

term financial forecast shows a sound financial 

position whilst also being able to meet the 

community’s current and future needs.

The above forward estimates are aligned with 

Council’s Long-Term Financial Forecast, Financial 

Plan, Corporate Plan, Operational Plan and the 

Department of  State Development, Infrastructure, 

Local Government and Planning financial 

sustainability measures.

The operating surplus ratio, indicating the extent 

to which revenues cover operational expenses 

only, remains within the target range in Council’s 

forward estimates. 

The asset sustainability ratio (reflecting the 

ongoing development of  Council’s asset 

management plans) is a strong result considering 

Council’s relatively young asset base and reflects 

Council’s ongoing commitment to the renewal of  

its assets. 

The Sunshine Coast region has experienced 

exponential growth in recent periods, leading to 

an increase in new and contributed assets. The 

influx of  new assets is reducing the collective age 

of  Council’s assets, lowering the requirement of  

renewals expenditure and the asset sustainability 

ratio forecast. Sunshine Coast Council’s renewal 

program is based on asset management plans 

and is completed in conjunction with a stringent 

scheduled maintenance program.

The net financial liabilities ratio (reflecting the 

extent to which the net financial liabilities of  

Council can be repaid from operating revenue) 

exceeds the target range up to year 2028. The 

ratio reflects Council’s refinanced debt portfolio, 

which provides inter-generational equity for the 

funding of  long term infrastructure projects.

The Financial Management (Sustainability) 

Guideline 2013 states “high average net financial 

liabilities ratio projections over the long-term 

are typically indicative of  a local government 

that is undertaking/has undertaken significant 

infrastructure projects. Whilst some local 

governments may not achieve the recommended 

target for net financial liabilities ratio on average 

over the long-term, this does not necessarily 

indicate that a local government is likely to be 

unsustainable over the long-term. In such cases, 

well-managed local governments with robust 

financial management systems and the ability to 

service current and projected debt levels, can 

maintain long-term sustainability and average net 

financial liabilities ratio projections over the long-

term that exceed the recommended target.”
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1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
 Statements of Comprehensive Income 
 For the year ended 30 June 2022    

Consolidated 
 

Council   
2022 2021*  2022 2021* 

Income Note $'000 $'000  $'000 $'000 
Revenue 

      

Recurrent revenue 
      

 
Net rates, levies and utility charges 3(a) 343,568 319,052 

 
343,878 319,349  

Fees and charges 3(b) 72,432 66,449 
 

70,804 65,233  
Sales from contracts and recoverable 
works 

3(c) 15,882 11,601 
 

15,882 11,601 
 

Grants, subsidies, contributions, 
donations and other 

4(a) 21,278 18,681 
 

21,212 16,643 
   

453,160 415,782 
 

451,775 412,826          
Share of tax equivalents of equity 
accounted investment 

3(d) 16,883 17,054 
 

16,883 17,054 
 

Dividend income equity accounted 
investment 

3(e) - - 
 

15,155 13,200 
 

Interest revenue 5(a) 20,411 24,700 
 

20,389 24,672  
Gain on early extinguishment of debt 5(b) 5,108 - 

 
5,108 -  

Rental income 20 3,997 3,323 
 

3,827 3,155  
Profit from equity accounted investment 14 57,440 49,040 

 
- -    

103,839 94,117 
 

61,363 58,080 
         

Total recurrent revenue 
 

556,999 509,899 
 

513,138 470,907         
Non-recurrent revenue    

    
 

Grants, subsidies, contributions, 
donations and other 

4(b) 146,993 189,877 
 

146,993 189,877 
 

Sales from contracts 4(c) 1,293 14,373 
 

1,293 14,373 
         

Total non-recurrent revenue 
 

148,286 204,250 
 

148,286 204,250         
Total income 

 
705,285 714,149 

 
661,424 675,157         

Expenses 
      

Recurrent expenses   
    

 
Employee benefits 6 (160,000) (151,229) 

 
(157,079) (149,238)  

Materials and services 7 (229,522) (214,654) 
 
(226,815) (212,123)  

Finance costs 8(a) (13,984) (12,575) 
 

(13,941) (12,535)  
Early repayment adjustment 8(b) - (34,346) 

 
- (34,346)  

Contributions to controlled entities 9 - - 
 

(3,615) (1,562)  
Depreciation and amortisation 

      
 

     Property, plant and equipment 17 (97,293) (91,126) 
 

(97,286) (91,101)  
     Intangible assets 18 (677) (1,217) 

 
(677) (1,217)  

     Right-of-use assets 20 (3,534) (4,490) 
 

(3,476) (4,490)          
Total recurrent expenses 

 
(505,010) (509,636) 

 
(502,889) (506,610) 
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Consolidated 

 
Council 

   
2022 2021*  2022 2021*   

Note $'000 $'000  $'000 $'000 
       

Non-recurrent expenses   
    

 
Loss on disposal property, plant and 
equipment and intangibles 

10 (4,688) (904) 
 

(4,688) (904) 
 

Movements in landfill and quarry 
provisions 

23 (10,824) (3,013) 
 

(10,824) (3,013) 
 

Assets transferred to third parties 10 (2,286) (17) 
 

(2,286) (17) 
        

 
Total non-recurrent expenses 

 
(17,798) (3,934)  (17,798) (3,934)         

Total expenses 
 

(522,808) (513,570)  (520,687) (510,544)         
Net result/(deficiency)  182,477  200,579  140,737 164,613         

Other comprehensive income    
   

 
Increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation 
surplus 

17(a) 553,263 - 
 

553,263 - 
        
Total other comprehensive income  553,263 -  553,263 -         
Total comprehensive income for the year  735,740 200,579 * 694,000 164,613         
 
*Comparative figures have been restated.  Refer to Note 35 for details.  
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1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
      Statements of Financial Position 
        For the year ended 30 June 2022 
 

  
Consolidated 

 
Council 

 
  

2022 2021*  2022 2021* 
 

 
Note $'000 $'000  $'000 $'000 

Assets 
      

        

Current assets 
      

 Cash and cash equivalents 11 334,682 208,320 
 

332,292 206,199 
 Trade and other receivables 12 49,782 47,957 

 
49,822 47,868 

 Contract receivables 12 - 296,772 
 

- 296,772 
 Inventories 13 10,155 12,497 

 
10,122 12,464 

 Other assets 15 22,165 26,944 
 

22,137 26,917 
 Non-current assets held for sale 16 9,325 - 

 
9,325 - 

 Total current assets 
 

426,110 592,490 
 

423,698 590,220 
        

Non-current assets 
      

 
Loans to associates and shares 
held in controlled entities 

12 434,393 434,393 
 

434,893 434,893 

 Inventories 13 36,568 36,568 
 

36,568 36,568 
 Equity accounted investment 14 880,264 837,979 

 
538,213 538,213 

 Property, plant and equipment 17 5,543,465 4,775,180 
 

5,544,270 4,775,168 
 Intangible assets 18 3,535 3,640 

 
3,535 3,640 

 Right-of-use assets 20 6,166 7,711 
 

6,166 7,616 
 Total non-current assets 

 
6,904,390 6,095,472  6,563,645 5,796,098         

Total assets 
 

7,330,500 6,687,962  6,987,343 6,386,318         
Liabilities 

      
        

Current liabilities 
      

 Trade and other payables 19 85,381 39,883 
 

85,153 39,401 
 Lease liabilities 20 2,672 3,263 

 
2,672 3,192 

 Contract liabilities 21 14,861 10,251 
 

14,861 10,251 
 Borrowings 22 27,537 21,674 

 
27,537 21,674 

 Provisions 23 41,071 41,165 
 

40,760 40,981 
 Other liabilities 24 25,899 13,284 

 
25,851 13,228 

 Total current liabilities 
 

197,421 129,520 
 

196,834 128,726 
 

       

Non-current liabilities 
      

 Lease liabilities 20 3,725 4,741 
 

3,725 4,717 
 Borrowings 22 455,693 657,290 

 
455,693 657,290 

 Provisions 23 63,286 55,396 
 

63,113 55,227 
 Other liabilities 24 33,621 - 

 
33,621 - 

 Total non-current liabilities 
 

556,325 717,427  556,152 717,234 
        

Total liabilities 
 

753,746 846,947  752,987 845,960 
 

  
     

Net community assets 
 

6,576,754 5,841,014  6,234,357 5,540,357 
Community equity 

      

 Asset revaluation surplus 
 

1,211,487 658,224 
 

1,211,487 658,224 
 Retained surplus 

 
5,365,267 5,182,790 

 
5,022,870 4,882,133 

        

Total community equity 
 

6,576,754 5,841,014 
 

6,234,357 5,540,357 
 

       

*Comparative figures have been restated.  Refer to Note 35 for details. 
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1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
    Statements of Changes in Equity 
    For the year ended 30 June 2022   
 

 

Consolidated 
 

Asset Retained Total 
  

 
revaluation surplus  

  
 

surplus   

  Note $'000 $'000 $'000 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 

    

  
    

Balance as at 1 July 2021 
 

658,224 5,182,790 5,841,014 
      

 Net result 
 

553,263 182,477 735,740 
Balance as at 30 June 2022 

 
1,211,487 5,365,267 6,576,754 

  
    

For the year ended 30 June 2021* 
    

      

Balance as at 1 July 2020 
 

658,224 4,975,972 5,634,196 

 Prior year adjustment 35 - 6,239 6,239 

 Net result 
 

- 200,579 200,579 
Balance as at 30 June 2021 

 
658,224 5,182,790 5,841,014 

  
    

  
    

  
    

Council 
 

Asset Retained Total 
  

 
revaluation surplus  

  
 

surplus   

  
 

$'000 $'000 $'000 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 

    
      

Balance as at 1 July 2021 
 

658,224 4,882,133 5,540,357 

 
     

 Net result 
 

553,263 140,737 694,000 
Balance as at 30 June 2022 

 
1,211,487 5,022,870 6,234,357 

  
    

For the year ended 30 June 2021* 
    

      

Balance as at 1 July 2020 
 

658,224 4,711,281 5,369,506 

 Prior year adjustment 35 - 6,239 6,239 

 Net result 
 

- 164,613 164,613 
Balance as at 30 June 2021 

 
658,224 4,882,133 5,540,357 

  
    

*Comparative figures have been restated.  Refer to Note 35 for details. 
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1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
  Statements of Cash Flows 
   For the year ended 30 June 2022 
   

  
Consolidated 

 
Council    

2022 2021 
 

2022 2021   
Note $'000 $'000   $'000 $'000 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Receipts from customers 

 
735,984 390,878 

 
733,989 381,616 

Payments to suppliers and employees 
 

(295,474) (369,218) 
 

(292,980) (360,013)    
440,510 21,660 

 
441,008 21,603         

Interest and dividends received 3(d),  
(e) & 
5(a) 

52,428 54,953 
 

52,428 54,926 

Recurrent grants, subsidies, 
contributions, donations and other 

4(a) 21,212 16,643 
 

21,212 16,643 

Borrowing costs 8 (12,291) (10,660) 
 

(12,305) (10,660) 
Finance costs 8 (1,252) (1,621) 

 
(1,252) (1,621) 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from 
operating activities 

30 500,607  80,976  501,090 80,891 
        

Cash flows from investing activities 
 

Payments for property, plant and 
equipment 

 
(239,016) (212,031) 

 
(239,828) (212,026) 

Net movement in loans and advances 
 

- 4,176 
 

 -  4,176 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant 
and equipment 

 
8,234 1,835 

 
8,234  1,835  

Contract receivable 
 

- (48,539) 
 

      -  (48,539) 
Proceeds from sale of inventory 

 
1,293 14,373 

 
1,293 14,373 

Grants, subsidies, contributions and 
donations 

 
49,858 79,134 

 
49,858 79,134 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from 
investing activities 

 (179,631) (161,053)  (180,444) (161,047) 
        

Cash flows from financing activities 
 

Proceeds from borrowings 31 87,061 119,862 
 

87,061 119,862  
Repayment of borrowings 

 
(277,923) (26,549) 

 
(277,923) (26,549) 

Repayments made on leases 
(principal only) 

 
(3,751) (4,589) 

 
(3,692) (4,589) 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from 
financing activities 

 (194,613) 88,724   (194,554) 88,724 
        

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents held 

 126,362  8,646  
 

126,093 8,567 

Cash and cash equivalents at 
beginning of financial year 

 208,320  199,675  
 

206,199 197,632 

Cash and cash equivalents at end 
of the financial year 

11 334,682  208,320  332,292 206,199 

 
*Comparative figures have been restated.  Refer to Note 35 for details.  
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2. NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 For the year ended 30 June 2022 
 
1. Information about these financial statements   

1.01. Basis of preparation  
These general purpose financial statements are for the period 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022.  
They are prepared in accordance with the Local Government Act 2009 and the Local 
Government Regulation 2012.  
 
These financial statements comply with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).  Council is a 
not-for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes and these financial statements comply 
with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as applicable to not-for-profit 
entities. 
 
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except 
for the revaluation of certain classes of property, plant and equipment.   

1.02. Recurrent/non-recurrent classification  
Revenue and expenditure are presented as "recurrent" or "non-recurrent" in the Statements 
of Comprehensive Income on the following basis: 
 
Non-recurrent revenue includes grants and subsidies received which are tied to specific 
projects for the replacement or upgrade of existing non-current assets and/or investment in 
new assets. It also includes non-cash contributions which are usually infrastructure assets 
received from developers. 
 
Costs incurred on assets that will be transferred to and controlled by third parties are 
included in "Non-recurrent expenses". 
 
The following transactions are classified as either "Non-recurrent revenue" or "Non-
recurrent expenses" depending on whether they result in accounting gains or losses: 
 

- disposal of non-current assets 
- movements in landfill and quarry provisions  
- revaluations of property, plant and equipment 
- financial impacts of the Sunshine Coast Airport Expansion Project and 

Maroochydore City Centre land sales 
 
All other revenue and expenses have been classified as "recurrent".   

1.03. Basis of consolidation  
Council and its controlled entities together form the consolidated entity. The financial 
statements of controlled entities are included in the consolidated financial statements 
where material by size or nature, from the date when control commences until the date 
when control ceases. 
 
Council had an interest in three (3) entities during the year being Sunshine Coast Events 
Centre Pty Ltd, SunCentral Maroochydore Pty Ltd and the Sunshine Coast Arts Foundation 
Ltd.  Council wholly owns the issued shares of Sunshine Coast Events Centre Pty Ltd and 
SunCentral Maroochydore Pty Ltd, and is currently the main financial contributor to the 
Sunshine Coast Arts Foundation Ltd. 
 
Transactions between Council and both Sunshine Coast Events Centre Pty Ltd and 
SunCentral Maroochydore Pty Ltd have been eliminated when preparing consolidated 
accounts. In addition, the accounting policies of these controlled entities have been 
adjusted on consolidation where necessary, to ensure the financial statements of the 
consolidated entity is prepared using accounting policies that are consistent with those of 
the Council.  Sunshine Coast Arts Foundation Ltd is not consolidated into Council's 
financial statements because its transactions and balances are not material.  Information 
on controlled entities is included in Note 28. 
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1.04. Constitution  
The council is constituted under the Queensland Local Government Act 2009 and is 
domiciled in Australia.   

1.05. New and revised accounting standards adopted during the year  
Council adopted all standards which became mandatory effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on 1 July 2021.  None of the standards had a material impact on 
reported position, performance and cash flows.    

1.06. Standards issued by the AASB not yet effective  
The AASB has issued Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations which are not 
effective at 30 June 2022.  These standards have not been adopted by Council and will be 
included in the financial statements on their effective date if their application is material to 
Council.    

1.07. Estimates and judgements  
Council makes a number of judgements, estimates and assumptions in preparing these 
financial statements. These are based on the best information available to Council at the 
time, however due to the passage of time, these assumptions may change and therefore 
the recorded balances may not reflect the final outcomes. The significant judgements, 
estimates and assumptions relate to the following items and specific information is provided 
in the relevant note:   

 
- Revenue - Note 3  
- Grants, subsidies, contributions, donations and other - Note 4(a) and 4(b)  
- Trade and other receivables - Note 12  
- Contract receivables - Note 12  
- Loan to associate - Note 12  
- Depreciation and amortisation - Note 17  
- Property, plant and equipment -  Note 17  
- Provisions -  Note 23  
- Contingencies - Note 26  
- Financial instruments and financial risk management - Note 32   

1.08. Rounding and comparatives  
Amounts included in the financial statements are in Australian dollars (AUD) and have 
been rounded to the nearest $1,000 or, where that amount is $500 or less, to zero.   

 
Comparative information is generally restated for reclassifications, errors and changes in 
accounting policies unless permitted otherwise by transition rules in a new Accounting 
Standard.  Restated balances are detailed in Note 35 and indicated with an asterix (*) 
throughout the financial statements.  

1.09. Disclosure of other comprehensive income for equity accounting investments  
Where Council has an equity accounted investment (associate or joint venture) with Other 
Comprehensive Income, Council's share of that other comprehensive income is reflected in 
the relevant section of the Statements of Other Comprehensive Income.    

1.10. Volunteer services  
Council works with a diverse range of Sunshine Coast community members and 
organisations to deliver services and programs to the community including community and 
major events, environment and wildlife protection, regional heritage, libraries and arts, and 
the Caloundra Music Festival. The volunteer services associated with the Caloundra Music 
Festival and Sunshine Coast Stadium are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income with remaining volunteer services not recognised as they are either not material or 
would not have been purchased if not donated. 
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1.11. Taxation  
Council is exempt from income tax, however Council is subject to Fringe Benefits Tax 
(FBT), Goods and Services Tax (GST) and payroll tax on certain activities.  The net amount 
of GST recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) or payable to the ATO is 
shown as an asset or liability respectively.    

1.12. COVID-19  
Council's operations for the year ended 30 June 2022 have been impacted by the COVID-
19 pandemic.     

 
In addition, Council continued paying all suppliers within 7 days rather than their normal 
payment terms.   

1.13. Changes in accounting policy - configuration or customisation costs in cloud 
computing arrangements  
An accounting policy change has been implemented following the issuance of the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee's (IFRIC) agenda decision on 
Configuration or Customisation Costs in a Cloud Computing Arrangement in March 2021. 
 
The new accounting policy considers where the software code resides, how economic 
benefits are obtained from the software and the ability to restrict access to others. 
 
Where there is no control, configuration and customisation costs to not qualify as an 
intangible asset, the expense timing is further assessed using the following criteria: 
 

- where the configuration or customisation is considered as a distinct (i.e. separately 
identifiable) service from the subsequent access to the cloud software, the costs are 
expensed when the configuration or customisation is received 

 
- where the configuration or customisation is not a distinct service from the council's 

right of access to the software, the costs are expensed over the period of access on 
a straight-line basis.  A prepayment asset is recognised when the payment is made 
up front. 

 
As a result of the change in accounting policy, $1.495M of capitalised software assets and 
$2.260M in capital works in progress as at 1 July 2020 have been retrospectively adjusted 
through accumulated surplus (total $3.755m). 
 
Changes have been applied retrospectively with an adjustment to comparative opening 
balances as at 1 July 2020.     
The net impacts are summarised in the table below. 2021   

 $'000   
Statement of financial position 

 
 

Intangible assets (3,755)  
Total non-current assets (3,755)    

 
Community Equity 

 
 

Retained earnings (3,755)  
Total community equity (3,755) 
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2 (a). Analysis of Results by Function  
Components of Council Functions    

 
The activities relating to the Council's components reported on in Note 2(b) are as follows:    

 
Offices of the CEO and the Mayor  
The Offices of the CEO and the Mayor provide support and advice to the Mayor, 
Councillors, Chief Executive Officer (CEO), and Executive Leadership Team and deliver 
key functions for the organisation including:    

- Audit & Assurance 
- Communications 
- Corporate Governance 
- Legal Services 
- Major Projects and Strategic Property 
- Strategy and Coordination    

 
Built Infrastructure Group  
The Built Infrastructure Group is focussed on managing and maintaining the region's built 
infrastructure.  Key functions include:    

- Asset Management 
- Civil Asset Management 
- Parks and Gardens 
- Transport and Infrastructure Planning 
- Transport Infrastructure Management 
- Disaster Management    

 
Business Performance Group  
The Business Performance Group is focussed on developing and managing the core 
capabilities that underpin the effective and efficient operation of the organisation.  Key 
functions include:    

- Business and Innovation 
- Digital and Information Services 
- Finance 
- People and Culture 
- Property Management    

 
Customer Engagement and Planning Services Group  
The Customer Engagement and Planning Services Group is focussed on delivering 
positive customer experiences to business and the community, particularly land use 
planning, development, waste and regulatory enforcement.  Key functions include:  

  
- Customer Response 
- Development Services 
- Strategic Planning 
- Urban Growth Projects  

 
Economic and Community Development Group  
The Economic and Community Development Group aims to drive the identification of new 
economic opportunities for the region while ensuring a balanced focus on developing, 
supporting and/or delivering opportunities (social, cultural and economic) that each of the 
region's many communities expect to enjoy.  Key functions include:    

- Arts Heritage and Library 
- Community Development 
- Economic Development 
- Sports and Community Venues 
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Liveability and Natural Assets Group  
The Liveability and Natural Assets Group is focussed on taking a balanced approach to 
planning and delivery of sustainable environmental and infrastructure development to 
meet the needs of the growing population and maintain the liveability of the region.  Key 
functions include:    

- Design and Placemaking Services 
- Environmental and Sustainability Policy 
- Environmental Operations 
- Project Delivery 
- Waste and Resource Management    

 
Region Shaping Projects  
Region Shaping Projects includes Council's current major projects being Maroochydore 
City Centre, Sunshine Coast Airport Expansion Project and the Sunshine Coast 
International Broadband Network. 
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2 (b). Analysis of Results by Function 
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3. Revenue 
         

            
 

(a)  Net rates, levies and utility charges 
       

  
Rates and annual charges are recognised as revenue at the beginning of the rating period 
to which they relate. Prepaid rates are recognised as a liability until the beginning of the 
rating period. 

 

            
      

Consolidated 
 

Council 
 

      
2022 2021 

 
2022 2021 

 
      

$'000 $'000 
 

$'000 $'000 
 

              
General rates  

   
257,040 252,603 

 
257,349  252,900  

 
  

Waste management 
  

69,696  65,399 
 

69,696 65,399  
 

  
Environment levy 

   
11,905 11,075 

 
11,905  11,075  

 
  

Tourism and special levies 
  

9,104  8,900 
 

9,104 8,900  
 

  
Rural fire levy 

   
576 535 

 
 576   535  

 
  

Valuation fees  
   

82 73 
 

82  73  
 

  
Total rates, levies and utility charges 
revenue 348,402 338,585  348,712  338,882  

 

   
  

Less:  discounts * 
 

- (15,158) 
 

 -  (15,158) 
 

  
Less:  pensioner remissions 

 
(3,770) (3,358) 

 
(3,770)  (3,358) 

 
  

Less:  rebates 
 

(1,065) (1,017) 
 

 (1,065)  (1,017) 
 

      
(4,835) (19,533) 

 
 (4,835) (19,533) 

 
 

Net rates, levies and utility charges 
 

343,568  319,052  
 

343,878 319,349 
 

            
  

* The discount on early payment of rates is no longer available. 
 

            
 

(b) Fees and charges 
        

  
Revenue arising from fees and charges is recognised at the point in time when the 
performance obligation is complete, and the customer receives the benefit of the 
goods/services being provided.  

 

  
The performance obligation relates to the specific services which are provided to the 
customers and generally the payment terms are within 30 days of the provision of the 
service or in some cases, the customer is required to pay on arrival, for example caravan 
parks. There is no material obligation for Council in relation to refunds or returns.  

 

  
Licences granted by Council are all either short-term or low value and all revenue from 
licences is recognised at the time that the licence is granted rather than the term of the 
licence.  

 

  
Revenue from infringements is recognised on issue of infringement notice after applying 
the expected credit loss model relating to impairment of receivables for initial recognition 
of statutory receivables. 
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Consolidated 

 
Council 

 
      

2022 2021 
 

2022 2021 
 

      
$'000 $'000 

 
$'000 $'000 

 
              

Holiday parks 
   

20,321 19,361 
 

20,321 19,361 
 

  
Application fees (development) 

  
10,968  10,486 

 
10,968 10,486 

 
  

Development services 
  

9,989  9,978 
 

9,989 9,978 
 

  
Refuse tip fees 

   
9,468 8,261 

 
9,468 8,261 

 
  

Fines and penalties 
  

2,573  1,820 
 

2,573 1,820 
 

  
Search fees 

   
1,988 2,166 

 
1,988 2,166 

 
  

Permits and licences 
  

1,809  1,662 
 

1,809 1,662 
 

  
Registration fees 

   
1,525 1,335 

 
1,525 1,335 

 
  

Parking fees 
   

1,251 907 
 

1,251 907 
 

  
Change of ownership fees 

  
1,115  1,198 

 
1,115 1,198 

 
  

Cemetery fees 
   

1,091 1,161 
 

1,091 1,161 
 

  
Venue hire 

   
1,180 972 

 
1,180 972 

 
  

Waste service charges 
  

502  493 
 

502 493 
 

  
Other fees and charges 

  
8,652  6,647 

 
7,024 5,432 

 
      

72,432 66,449 
 

70,804 65,233 
 

     
(c)  Sales from contracts and recoverable works 

 
  

Sale of goods revenue is recognised at the point in time that the customer obtains control of 
the goods, generally at delivery. Revenue from services is recognised when the service is 
rendered.  

 

  
Revenue from contracts and recoverable works generally comprises a recoupment of 
material costs together with an hourly charge for use of equipment and employees. This 
revenue and the associated costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of 
the contract activity based on costs incurred at the reporting date. Where consideration is 
received for the service in advance it is included in contract liabilities and is recognised as 
revenue in the period when the service is performed. The contract work carried out is not 
subject to retentions. 

 

      
Consolidated 

 
Council 

 
      

2022 2021 
 

2022 2021 
 

      
$'000 $'000 

 
$'000 $'000 

 
  

Recoverable works 
  

1,358 1,258 
 

1,358 1,258 
 

  
Sale of recyclables 

  
5,494 3,566 

 
5,494 3,566 

 
  

Solar Farm generation revenue 
  

2,186 1,266 
 

2,186 1,266 
 

  
Other revenue 

   
6,844 5,511 

 
6,844 5,511         

15,882 11,601 
 

15,882 11,601 
 

            
 

(d)  Share of tax equivalents of equity accounted investment 
 

  
Unitywater Group is subject to the Local Government Tax Equivalents Regime (LGTER).  
Under the LGTER Unitywater Group is required to make income tax equivalent payments to 
the Participating Councils in accordance with the requirement of its Participation 
Agreement. 

 

      
Consolidated 

 
Council 

 
      

2022 2021 
 

2022 2021 
 

      
$'000 $'000 

 
$'000 $'000 

 
                  

16,883 17,054 
 

16,883 17,054 
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(e)  Dividend income of equity accounted investment 

   
  

Dividend income represents the participation return from Council's share in Unitywater as 
per the Participation Agreement. Dividends are recognised once they are formally declared 
by Unitywater, which is an associate of Council.     

Consolidated 
 

Council    
2022 2021 

 
2022 2021    

$'000 $'000 
 

$'000 $'000 
           

- -  15,155 13,200 
 
4. Grants, subsidies, contribution, donations and other 
 Grant income under AASB 15 

Where grant income arises from an agreement which is enforceable and contains sufficiently 
specific performance obligations then the revenue is recognised when control of each 
performance obligation is satisfied. 

 The performance obligations vary in each agreement but include library projects, trainee 
funding and events.  Payment terms vary depending on the terms of the grant.  Cash is 
received upfront for some grants and on the achievement of certain payment milestones for 
others. 

 Each performance obligation is considered to ensure that the revenue recognition reflects the 
transfer of control.  Within grant agreements there may be some performance obligations 
where control transfers at a point in time and others which have continuous transfer of control 
over the life of the contract.  

 Where control is transferred over time, revenue is recognised using either costs or time 
incurred.  

 
 

 Grant income under AASB 1058 
 

Where Council receives an asset for significantly below fair value, the asset is recognised at 
fair value, related liability (or equity items) are recorded, and income then is recognised for any 
remaining asset value at the time that the asset is received. 

 
 

 Capital (non-recurrent) grants 
 

 Where Council receives funding under an enforceable contract to acquire or construct a 
specified item of property, plant and equipment which will be under Council's control on 
completion, revenue is recognised as construction progresses or when the purchase is 
completed. 
  

 For construction projects, this is generally as the construction progresses in accordance with 
costs incurred since this is deemed to be the most appropriate measure of the completeness 
of the construction project. 

 
 

 Contributions and donations 
 Where assets are donated or purchased for significantly below fair value, the revenue is 

recognised when the asset is acquired and controlled by Council.  

 Contributions and donations are generally recognised on receipt of the asset since there are 
no enforceable performance obligations.  

 Physical assets contributed to Council by developers in the form of land, transport, stormwater 
and other infrastructure are recognised as revenue when Council obtains control of the asset 
and there is sufficient data in the form of drawings and plans to determine the approximate 
specifications and values of such assets. Non-cash contributions with a value in excess of the 
recognition thresholds are recognised as non-current assets. Those below the thresholds are 
recorded as expenses. 
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(a) Recurrent grants, subsidies, contributions, donations and other  

   Consolidated  Council       
2022 2021 

 
2022 2021       

$'000 $'000 
 

$'000 $'000              
Government grants and subsidies 
commonwealth 

 
16,510 12,760 

 
16,510 12,760 

  
Government grants and subsidies state 4,353 3,705 

 
4,353 3,705   

Grants and subsidies other 
  

45 - 
 

45 -   
Contributions and donations 

  
370 2,216 

 
304 179       

21,278 18,681  21,212 16,643 
            

(b)  Non-recurrent grants, subsidies, contributions, donations and other   
Non-recurrent revenue includes grants and subsidies received which are tied to specific 
projects for the replacement or upgrade of existing non-current assets and/or investments in 
new assets. It also includes non-cash contributions which are usually infrastructure assets 
received from developers.       

Consolidated 
 

Council       
2022 2021* 

 
2022 2021*       

$'000 $'000   $'000 $'000              
Government grants and subsidies 
commonwealth 

 
9,175 7,174 

 
9,175 7,174 

  
Government grants and subsidies state 9,388 31,817 

 
9,388 31,817   

Developer contributions 
  

31,606 40,892 
 

31,606 40,892   
Infrastructure from developers at fair value 97,135 110,743 

 
97,135 110,743       

147,304 190,625 
 

147,304 190,625   
Less: discount allowed developer 
contributions  

 
(311) (748) 

 
(311) (748) 

      
146,993 189,877  146,993 189,877            

 
(c) Sales from contracts 

        
      

Consolidated 
 

Council       
2022 2021 

 
2022 2021       

$'000 $'000  $'000 $'000 
           

Sunshine Coast Airport Expansion Project 463 10,578 
 

463 10,578   
Maroochydore City Centre land sales 

 
830 3,795 

 
830 3,795       

1,293 14,373  1,293 14,373       
    

 
      

The Sunshine Coast Airport runway was complete, ready for use and handed over to 
Palisade Investment Partners Ltd on 14 June 2020. Full practical completion occurred on 29 
January 2021. Final payment for the runway of $297 million (including $7 million Airport 
Manager variations) was received in June 2022.  All contract receivables have now been 
cleared. 
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(d) Revenue recognition timing 

       
2022 

 
2021* 

 
  

Consolidated 
  

Note $'000 $'000   $'000 $'000 
 

     
 Revenue 

recognised 
at a point 

in time 

Revenue 
recognised 
over time 

 
Revenue 

recognised 
at a point 

in time 

Revenue 
recognised 
over time 

 

            
  

Net rates, levies and charges 
(excluding those related to services) 

3(a) 343,568 - 
 

319,052 - 
 

  
Fees and charges (excluding 
infringements) 

3(b) 69,859 - 
 

64,629 - 
 

  
Infringements 

  
3(b) 2,573 - 

 
1,820 - 

 
  

Sales from contracts and recoverable 
works 

3(c),
4(c) 

16,712 463 
 

15,396 10,578 
 

  
Grants, subsidies, contributions, 
donations and other 

4 
(a,b) 

150,027 18,244 
 

159,610 48,948 
 

      
582,739 18,707  560,506 59,526 

 
            
      

2022  2021* 
 

  
Council 

   
$'000 $'000   $'000 $'000 

 
     

Note Revenue 
recognised 
at a point 

in time 

Revenue 
recognised 
over time 

 
Revenue 

recognised 
at a point 

in time 

Revenue 
recognised 
over time 

 

            
  

Net rates, levies and charges 
(excluding those related to services) 

3(a) 343,878 - 
 

319,349 - 
 

  
Fees and charges (excluding 
infringements) 

3(b) 68,231 - 
 

63,413 - 
 

  
Infringements 

  
3(b) 2,573 - 

 
1,820 - 

 
  

Sales from contracts and recoverable 
works 

3(c),
4(c) 

16,712 463 
 

15,396 10,578 
 

  
Grants, subsidies, contributions, 
donations and other 

4 
(a,b) 

149,961 18,244 
 

157,572 48,948 * 
      

581,355 18,707  557,550 59,526 
 

            

5.  Interest revenue 
         

 
(a) Interest revenue is calculated using the effective interest rate method 

 
      

Consolidated 
 

Council 
 

      
2022 2021 

 
2022 2021 

 
      

$'000 $'000 
 

$'000 $'000 
 

            
  

Loan to associate 
  

17,811 19,592 
 

17,811 19,592 
 

  
Cash and term deposits 

  
2,034 2,431 

 
2,012 2,403 

 
  

Contract receivables 
  

- 2,090 
 

- 2,090 
 

  
Overdue rates and utility charges 566 587 

 
566 587 

 
      

20,411 24,700  20,389 24,672 
 

            
 

(b) Gain on early extinguishment of debt  5,108 -  5,108 - 
 

            
  

During 2022 Council repaid all borrowings relating to the Sunshine Coast Airport 
amounting to $266 million which resulted in an early repayment benefit of $5.108 million. 
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6.  Employee benefits  
Employee benefit expenses are recorded when the service has been provided by the 
employee.       

Consolidated 
 

Council       
2022 2021* 

 
2022 2021*      

Note $'000 $'000 
 

$'000 $'000            
 

Total wages and salaries 
  

137,791 129,971                                                            
 

135,077 128,193  
**Councillors' remuneration 

  
1,876 1,839 

 
1,876 1,839  

Annual, sick and long service leave 
entitlements 

 
16,994  15,599 

 
16,994 15,599 

 
Superannuation 

  
27 16,572 15,694   

 
16,365 15,482       

173,233 163,103 
 

170,312 161,112  
Other employee related expenses 

 
3,382 3,675 

 
3,382 3,675       

176,615 166,778 
 

173,694 164,787  
Less: Capitalised employee expenses 

 
(16,615) (15,550) 

 
(16,615) (15,550)       

160,000 151,229 
 

157,079 149,238 
  

**Councillor remuneration represents salary, superannuation contributions and other 
allowances paid in respect of carrying out their duties. 

       
Consolidated  Council  

Total Council full time equivalent employees 
at the reporting date: 

 

2022 2021  2022 2021   
Elected Members 

  
11 11 

 
11 11   

Staff 
   

1,842 1,692 
 

1,813 1,666    
Total full time equivalent employees 

 
1,853 1,703 

 
1,824 1,677 

 
7. Materials and services  

Expenses are recorded on an accrual basis as Council receives the goods or services. 
     

Consolidated 
 

Council     
2022 2021* 

 
2022 2021*     

$'000 $'000 
 

$'000 $'000           
Advertising 

  
1,709 1,563 

 
1,709 1,563  

**External audit fees 
 

263 253 
 

234 250  
Consultancy fees 

  
5,704 5,004 

 
5,704 5,004  

Commissions paid 
 

3,247 3,599 
 

3,247 3,599  
Contract services parks and gardens 18,944 16,961 

 
18,944 16,961  

Contract services waste collection 39,933 34,955 
 

39,933 34,955  
Contract services environmental operations 12,729 12,089 

 
12,729 12,089  

Contract services property management 8,513 7,400 
 

8,513 7,400  
Contract services sport and community venues 9,059 8,298 

 
9,059 8,298  

Contract services civil asset management 9,413 8,075 
 

9,413 8,075  
Contract services transport infrastructure 
management 

2,944 2,751 
 

2,944 2,751 
 

Contract services art, heritage and libraries 3,185 2,570 
 

3,185 2,570  
Contract services other 16,142 17,974 

 
15,993 17,819  

Donations  5,623 5,616 
 

5,623 5,616  
Electricity 8,492 7,450 

 
8,372 7,331  

Entertainment and hospitality 550 268 
 

550 268  
Equipment < $5,000 914 989 

 
914 989 
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Consolidated 

 
Council     

2022 2021* 
 

2022 2021*     
$'000 $'000 

 
$'000 $'000  

Fuel 2,911 2,053 
 

2,911 2,053  
Grants to community organisations 8,461 10,389 

 
8,461 10,389  

Insurance 3,211 2,583 
 

3,211 2,583  
Legal fees 2,714 3,044 

 
2,714 3,044  

Library resources 1,585 1,420 
 

1,585 1,420  
Materials road base 878 838 

 
878 838  

Operating leases - short-term and low value 5,382 4,183 
 

5,382 4,183  
Plant and equipment hire 7,812 6,129 

 
7,812 6,129  

Security services 1,940 1,632 
 

1,940 1,632  
Software and maintenance 11,489 8,688 

 
11,489 8,688  

Telecommunications 2,441 3,395 
 

2,441 3,395  
Water and sewerage charges 4,725 5,153 

 
4,725 5,153  

All other materials and services 30,896 29,351 
 

28,488 27,097  *   
231,808 214,672 

 
229,101 212,140  

Less: Internal costs transferred to third parties i.e. 
internal expenditure on assets owned by third 
parties 

(2,286) (17) 
 

(2,286) (17) 

    
229,522 214,654 

 
226,815 212,123 

  
**Total consolidated audit fees quoted by the Queensland Audit Office relating to the 2021/22 
financial statements are $283,500 (2021: $277,800). 

 
8 (a) Finance costs      

Consolidated 
 

Council 
     2022 2021  2022 2021     

Note $'000 $'000 
 

$'000 $'000            
**Borrowing costs charged by the Queensland 
Treasury Corporation 

 
12,305 10,660 

 
12,305 10,660 

 
Bank charges and credit card fees 

 
1,258 1,133 

 
1,216 1,093  

Interest on leases 20 147 185 
 

147 185  
Unwinding of discount on provisions and 
borrowings 

22, 
23 

287 292 
 

287 292 
 

Impairment of receivables 
 

(205) 192 
 

(205) 192  
Other finance costs 

 
192 114 

 
192 114      

13,984 12,575  13,941 12,535 
  

**Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred, 
except where they are capitalised as part of a qualifying asset.  
No borrowing costs were capitalised during 2022 however the following amounts were 
capitalised in 2021:  Maroochydore City Centre project $4.738 million and Brisbane Road 
Carpark development $0.127 million.  

 
8 (b) Finance costs 

  Consolidated  Council       
2022 2021 

 
2022 2021       

$'000 $'000 
 

$'000 $'000 
            

Early repayment adjustment 
 

- 34,346 
 

- 34,346 
          

During 2021 Council refinanced its existing loan portfolio and increased the principal amount 
which resulted in a one off early repayment cost of $34.346 million. 
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9.  Contributions to controlled entities       
Consolidated 

 
Council 

      2022 2021  2022 2021       
$'000 $'000 

 
$'000 $'000 

            
Contributions to controlled entities 

 
- - 

 
3,615 1,562          

 
Council contributions include $2.033 million to SunCentral Maroochydore Pty Ltd and $1.582 
million to Sunshine Coast Events Centre Pty Ltd (2021: $1.562 million Sunshine Coast Events 
Centre Pty Ltd). Contributions to SunCentral were previously recognised as project 
management overheads and formed part of Note 13, Land being developed for resale.   
(2021: $1.850 million).  
Refer to Note 34 Related party disclosures for details. 

 
10. Non-recurrent expenses 

       
          
 

Gain/(Loss) on disposal of non-current assets 
   Consolidated  Council      

2022 2021* 
 

2022 2021*      
$'000 $'000 

 
$'000 $'000 

           
Proceeds from the sale of plant and equipment 

 
342 396 

 
342 396  

     Less carrying amount sold  
 

(180) (198) 
 

(180) (198)  
     Less carrying amount disposed and written-off 

 
(21) - 

 
(21) -    

141 198 
 

141 198         
 

Proceeds from the sale of property and land  
 

7,891 1,439 
 

7,891 1,439  
     Less carrying amount sold 

 
(8,150) (1,665) 

 
(8,150) (1,665)  

     Less carrying amount disposed and written-off 
 

(182) (104) 
 

(182) (104)    
(441) (330) 

 
(441) (330)  

Replacement of roads, stormwater and other 
infrastructure 

      

 
     Less carrying amount: 

      

 Replaced and renewed 
 

(3,731) (508) 
 

(3,731) (508)  
Disposed and written-off 

 
(658) (211) 

 
(658) (211)      

(4,389) (719) 
 

(4,389) (719)           
 

Replacement of intangibles 
  

- (53) 
 

- (53)  
 

      
 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment, and intangibles 

 
(4,688) (904) 

 
(4,688) (904) 

          
 

**Assets transferred to third parties 
      

 
Internal costs transferred to third parties 

 
(2,286) (17) 

 
(2,286) (17)      

(2,286) (17) 
 

(2,286) (17)           
 

**Included in 2022 is $2.286 million (2021: $0.017 million) related to work performed on 
public utility provider assets.           

 
  



FIN
A

N
C

IA
LS

105Annual Report 2021/22  |  Sunshine Coast Council
Sunshine Coast Council Annual Report 2021/22   105 

11. Cash and cash equivalents 
       

 
For the purposes of the Statements of Financial Position and the Statements of Cash Flows, 
cash assets include cash on hand as well as deposits at call with financial institutions.  It also 
includes other short term highly liquid investments with short periods to maturity that are 
readily convertible to cash at Council’s option and that are subject to a low risk of changes in 
value.       

Consolidated 
 

Council      
2022 2021 

 
2022 2021      

$'000 $'000 
 

$'000 $'000 
           

Balance as per Statements of Financial 
Position 

 
334,682 208,320  332,292 206,199 

          
 

Council may be exposed to credit risk through its investments in the QTC Cash Fund. The 
QTC Cash Fund is an asset management portfolio that invests with a wide range of high credit 
rated counterparties. Deposits with the QTC Cash Fund are capital guaranteed.            

 
Other investments are held with financial institutions, which are rated A-1+ to A-3 based on 
rating agency S&P Global Ratings, and whilst not capital guaranteed, the likelihood of a credit 
failure is assessed as remote.           

  Consolidated 
 

Council      
2022 2021 

 
2022 2021      

$'000 $'000 
 

$'000 $'000  
Cash and cash equivalents 

 
334,682 208,320 

 
332,292 206,199  

Externally imposed expenditure restrictions (75,662) (84,395) 
 

(75,662) (84,395)  
Unrestricted cash 

 
259,020 123,925 

 
256,630 121,804 

          
 

Council's cash and cash equivalents are subject to a number of internal allocations and 
external restrictions that limit amounts available for discretionary or future use. These include:           

 
(i) Externally imposed expenditure restrictions at the reporting date relate to the           

following cash assets:      
Consolidated 

 
Council      

2022 2021 
 

2022 2021      
$'000 $'000 

 
$'000 $'000  

Constrained works 
  

42,011 55,508 
 

42,011 55,508   
General 

 
        

 
3,686 3,441 

 
  3,686    3,441   

Levy funded 
   

28,414 24,485 
 

28,414  24,485   
Special purpose 

   
1,552 961 

 
 1,552       961   

Total externally imposed restrictions on 
cash assets 

 
 75,662  84,395 

 
75,662 84,395 

          
 

(ii) Internally imposed expenditure allocations at the reporting date: 
 

Constrained works 
  

61,385 68,817 
 

61,385 68,817  
General 

   
41,141 21,109 

 
41,141 21,109   

Total internally allocated cash 
  

102,526 89,926 
 

102,526 89,926           
 

Internal allocations of cash may be lifted by Council with a resolution. 
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12. Trade and other receivables 
       

 
Receivables and loans are amounts owed to Council at year end. They are recognised at the 
amount due at the time of sale or service delivery or advance. Settlement of receivables is 
generally required within 30 days after invoice date.  

 
Debts are regularly assessed for collectability and allowance is made, where appropriate, for 
impairment. All known bad debts were written-off at 30 June. If an amount is recovered in a 
subsequent period it is recognised as revenue.  

 
The loss is recognised in finance costs.  The amount of the impairment is the difference 
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of the estimated cash flows 
discounted at the effective interest rate.  

 
Because Council is empowered under the provisions of the Local Government Act 2009 to sell 
an owner's property to recover outstanding rate debts the expected credit loss is immaterial.  
Impairment of rates and charges will occur only if arrears are deemed to be greater than the 
proceeds Council would receive from the sale of the respective property.  

 
Interest is charged on outstanding rates at 8.03% per annum (2021: 8.53%).  No interest is 
charged on other debtors. There is no concentration of credit risk for rates and utility charges, 
fees and other debtors receivable.      

Consolidated 
 

Council      
2022 2021 

 
2022 2021      

$'000 $'000 
 

$'000 $'000  
Current 

        
 

Rates and utility charges 
  

6,339 5,204 
 

6,339 5,204  
Infringements 

   
2,574 2,214 

 
2,574 2,214  

Infrastructure charges 
  

5,757 3,958 
 

5,757 3,958  
Trade debtors 

   
35,142 36,484 

 
35,182 36,395  

Loans receivable 
   

- 696 
 

- 696  
Other debtors 

   
13 7 

 
13 7  

Less allowance for impairment  
  

(43) (607) 
 

(43) (607)      
49,782 47,957 

 
49,822 47,868            

Contract Receivables** 
   

- 296,772 
 

- 296,772            
**Contract receivables for the Sunshine Coast Airport Expansion Project were paid in full June 
2022.           

 
Non-Current 

  
Note 

     
 

Loan to associate - subordinated debt 14 434,393 434,393 
 

434,393 434,393  
Shares in controlled entities 

  
- - 

 
500 500      

434,393 434,393 
 

434,893 434,893            
The subordinated interest only loan terminates on 30 June 2033 with the interest rate to be set 
by QTC annually.  Applicable interest rate for 2022 was 4.10% (2021: 4.51%).   
Movement in accumulated impairment losses (other debtors) is as follows:   
Opening balance at 1 July 

  
607 648 

 
607 648  

Impairment debts written off during the year      (391) (232) 
 

(391) (232)  
Reduction in impairments recognised * 

 
    (174) 191 

 
(174) 191  

Closing balance at 30 June 
  

43 607 
 

43 607  
 
*The allowance for impairment has decreased due to the removal of the loan to associate - 
subordinated debt from impairment calculations. The credit risk on this loan is considered low.  
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13. Inventories 
         

 
Stores and raw materials are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value and include, 
where applicable, expenditure incurred in acquiring inventories and an appropriate portion of 
variable and fixed overheads.  Costs are assigned on the basis of weighted average cost 
except for land where the costs are allocated to the relevant parcel.  

 

 
Land acquired with the intention of reselling it (with or without further development) is 
classified as inventory.  This land is valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. 
Inventory land being developed and held for resale within the next twelve months is classified 
as current inventory assets. Inventory land held for resale in future years is classified as non-
current inventory assets. Such land is accounted for under AASB 102 Inventories.  

 

 
Profit arising upon sale of land is recognised as revenue in the Statements of Comprehensive 
Income on settlement. 

 

     
Consolidated 

 
Council 

 
     

2022 2021 
 

2022 2021 
 

     
$'000 $'000 

 
$'000 $'000 

 
 

Current 
         

 
Equipment, stores and quarries * 

 
1,044 1,633 

 
1,011 1,600 

 
            

Land being developed for resale ** 
       

 
Finished Goods 

   
9,111 10,864 

 
9,111 10,864  

 
            

Closing current inventories at 30 June 
 

10,155 12,497 
 

10,122 12,464 
 

            
*Hand held equipment, stores and quarries are internal stocks verified by annual stocktake.  

 
                

Consolidated 
 

Council 
 

     
2022 2021* 

 
2022 2021* 

 
     

$'000 $'000 
 

$'000 $'000 
 

 
Non-current 

         
 

Land held for future development and 
resale 

       

 
Work in Progress 

   
36,568 36,568 

 
 36,568  36,568  

 
            

Closing non-current inventories at 30 June  36,568   36,568  
 

36,568 36,568 
 

           
14. Equity accounted investment 

 
 

Associates are entities that Council has significant influence over. Significant influence is the 
power to participate in the financial, operating and policy decisions.  Investments in the 
consolidated financial statements are accounted for using the equity method and in the 
separate Council financial statements using the cost method. Under the equity method, the 
consolidated entity's share of post-acquisition profits and losses of associates is recognised in 
the Statements of Comprehensive Income and the interest in the equity of the associates is 
recognised in the Statements of Financial Position. The cumulative post acquisition 
movements are adjusted against the cost of the investment.  

 

 
Council had an interest in one (1) associate during the year being Unitywater. Council has no 
other joint ventures, joint arrangements or interests in other entities. 

 

  
Name of Associate: Northern SEQ Distributor-Retailer Authority (trading 

 as Unitywater) 
 

 

 
Principal Activity: Provision of Water and Wastewater Services  
Principal Place of Business: Caboolture Qld 

 
 

Proportion of Ownership Interest: 37.51% (2021:  37.51%) 
 

  
(1) Background  

        
 

The South-East Queensland Water (Distribution and Retail Restructuring) Act 2009 (the Act) 
established the Northern SEQ Distributor-Retailer Authority (Unitywater) trading as 
Unitywater on 25 June 2010.           
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Unitywater was set up to deliver water and wastewater services to customers within the local 
government areas of the now three (3) participating Councils - Sunshine Coast Regional, 
Moreton Bay Regional and Noosa Shire Councils.           

 
Under the Act, governance arrangements for Unitywater are established in a Participation 
Agreement. The agreement provides for participation rights to be held by the participating 
Councils, with Sunshine Coast Regional Council holding 37.51% of these rights.           

 
Unitywater's Board is comprised of independent directors, with no individual Council having 
the ability to dominate the Unitywater's decision making to obtain greater benefits from its 
activities than any other of the participants.           

 
(2) Contractual Agreements 

       
 

Council provides some contracted services to Unitywater, mainly around the collection of 
infrastructure charges relating to the construction of water and wastewater assets, which are 
remitted to Unitywater.           

 
(3) Returns to Council 

       
 

Council provided two loans to Unitywater from 1 July 2010 under Participating Local 
Government Fixed Rate Loan Agreements (Senior and Subordinated Debt) with monthly 
interest-only payments for three years to 30 June 2013.           

 
Council agreed to extend the loans with a Participating Local Government (PLG) Loan 
Agreement between Council and Unitywater duly executed on 21 June 2013. This new loan 
was subject to an annual reset rate (to be determined by Queensland Treasury Corporation 
in accordance with the credit rating assigned for Unitywater) with quarterly interest-only 
payments for twenty years to 30 June 2033. The rate to 30 June 2022 is 4.10% (2021: 
4.51%).           

 
Any repayment of principal or refinancing of the loan shall be subject to the prior written 
approval and on terms agreed by the Treasurer or Under Treasurer of Queensland.           

 
Unitywater operates under a tax equivalent regime, with the equivalent tax being distributed 
pro-rata to the participating Councils based on their participation rights. Tax is payable 
monthly based on a percentage of the Unitywater's gross revenue.           

 
(4) Participation Rights 

       
          
 

Participation rights in Unitywater are recognised at initial value plus share of undistributed 
profits.      

Consolidated 
 

Council      
2022 2021* 

 
2022 2021  

Movement in carrying amount 
  

$'000 $'000 
 

$'000 $'000 
 

 
        

Investment 
 

837,979 802,139 
 

538,213 538,213  
Share of profits after tax and before 
dividends 

 
57,440 49,040 

 
- - 

 
Dividends received/receivable 

  
(15,155) (13,200) 

 
- -  

Carrying amount at the end of the 
financial year 

 
880,264 837,979   538,213 538,213 
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Unitywater is not a publicly listed entity and consequently does not have published price 
quotations.           

 
Summary financial information for Unitywater, not adjusted for the percentage ownership held 
by Council, as reflected in their 30 June 2022 financial statements is detailed below.           

 
Extract from Unitywater's Statement of Comprehensive Income 

   2022 2021*         
$'000 $'000 

   
 

Total revenues 
   

758,325 723,665  
  

 
Ordinary expenses 

  
(539,627) (536,946)  

  
 

Profit before income tax equivalent 
 

218,698  186,719  
  

 
Income tax equivalent expense 

  
(65,566) (55,979)  

  
 

Total profit (after tax) 
  

153,132  130,740  
  

       
 

  
 

Share of Profit of equity accounted 
investment 

 
57,440     49,040   

  

 
Total assets 

  
4,321,415 4,169,270  

  
 

Total liabilities 
  

(1,965,185) (1,925,769)  
  

 
Net assets 

   
2,356,230 2,243,501  

  
          
 

Unitywater measures its property, plant and equipment assets under the cost model.  Council 
uses the revaluation model.  Fair value under the revaluation model is measured using the 
current replacement cost principles. 

   
To ensure consistency of financial reporting, Unitywater has provided Council with an audited 
assessment of the carrying amount and fair value of its assets delivering assurance that the 
current carrying amount of the assets is reflective of their fair value. 

 
15. Other assets 

      

    Consolidated  Council      
2022 2021 

 
2022 2021      

$'000 $'000 
 

$'000 $'000  
Current 

        
 

Prepayments 
   

6,121 4,507 
 

6,092 4,481  
GST recoverable ** 

  
           -    2,338 

 
- 2,338  

Accrued revenue 
   

16,044 20,099 
 

16,044 20,099      
22,165 26,944 

 
22,137 26,917  

**GST is recognised as a payable for this financial year, refer note 19.           

16. Non-current assets held for sale    
Consolidated 

 
Council      

2022 2021 
 

2022 2021      
$'000 $'000 

 
$'000 $'000  

Land held for sale 
  

9,325 -  9,325  
     

9,325 -  9,325 -  
 

        
 

Council has decided to sell excess land no longer required.  The fair value of the land was 
determined using the sales comparison approach. Sales prices of comparable land sites in 
close proximity are adjusted for differences in key attributes such as property size. The most 
significant inputs into this valuation are price per square metre. The land is categorised as a 
level 2 valuation. Disposal costs were estimated based on commission rates charged by the 
real estate agents that have been engaged and legal costs by Council’s solicitors.   
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17(a)  Property, plant and equipment 
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(b) Recognition  
Purchases of property, plant and equipment are recognised as assets unless the items are 
below the asset recognition threshold of the asset class in which they belong, or the 
expenditure relates to maintenance.   

 
Replacement and purchases of separately identifiable components of an asset to renew or 
increase its service potential, or extend its useful life, are capitalised and recognised as an 
individual asset.  Routine operating maintenance, repairs and minor renewals costs to 
maintain the operational capacity and useful life of the assets are expensed as incurred.    

 
Expenditure incurred in accordance with Disaster Recovery Funding Arrangements 2018 on 
assets is analysed to determine whether the expenditure is capital in nature.  Expenditure 
that extends the useful life or increases the service potential of the asset is capitalised.   

 
Land under the road network that has been dedicated and opened for public use under the 
Land Act 1994 or the Land Title Act 1994 is controlled by Queensland State Government and 
not recognised in these financial statements.   

(c) Measurement  
Acquisitions of assets are initially recorded at cost.  Cost is determined as the fair value of 
consideration plus costs directly related to the acquisition and incurred in preparing the asset 
for use as intended by Council.  Subsequent to initial measurement, each asset class is 
stated at fair value or cost less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation or 
accumulated impairment loss, as shown in Note 17(a).   

 
The cost of property, plant and equipment being constructed by Council includes the cost of 
materials and direct labour, an appropriate portion of overheads incurred, and any other 
costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use.  
These costs are treated as capital expenditure.   

 
Property, plant and equipment received in the form of contributions, are recognised as assets 
and revenue at fair value by Council valuation where the value exceeds the recognition 
thresholds.   

(d) Depreciation  
Assets are depreciated from the date of acquisition or when an asset is ready for use by 
Council.   

 
Land, work in progress, and formation/earthworks associated with roads, constructed 
waterbodies, and stormwater basins are not depreciated.     

 
Depreciation, where applicable, is calculated on a straight-line basis, less its estimated 
residual value if appropriate, progressively over the asset's estimated useful life to Council.  
Management believe that the straight line basis appropriately reflects the even consumption 
of service potential of all Council assets.   

 
Where assets have separately identifiable components that are subject to renewal, these 
components have separately assigned useful lives.  Any expenditure that increases the 
originally assessed capacity or service potential of an asset is capitalised and the new 
depreciable amount is depreciated over the new estimated useful life.    

 
The depreciable amount of improvements to or on leasehold land is allocated progressively 
over the estimated useful lives of the improvements to Council or the unexpired period of the 
lease, whichever is the shorter. 

  
Depreciation methods estimated useful lives and residual values of property, plant and 
equipment assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted where 
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necessary to reflect any changes in the pattern of consumption, physical obsolescence, 
technical or commercial obsolescence, or management intentions.  Condition assessments 
are performed as part of standard asset management practices as well as annual revaluation 
processes which are used to estimate the useful and remaining lives of assessed assets. 
Details of the range of estimated useful lives for each class of asset are shown in Note 17(a).   

(e) Impairment  
Property, plant and equipment held at cost is assessed annually for indicators of impairment.  
If an indicator of impairment exists, Council determines the asset’s recoverable amount.  Any 
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount is recorded 
as an impairment loss.   

(f) Valuation and fair value measurement  
Land, buildings, transportation, stormwater and other infrastructure asset classes are 
measured at fair value, and are revalued in accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant and 
Equipment and AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement. All other non-current assets, and capital 
works in progress are measured at cost. 

   
Council assesses the carrying amount of its property plant and equipment on an annual 
basis compared to fair value and makes adjustment where these materially differ.  Council 
performs full comprehensive revaluations internally by suitably qualified officers, engaging 
external professionally qualified valuation firms, or other consultants.  The asset classes are 
comprehensively revalued on a rolling basis every three to five years or when material 
movement in a class has been identified.  

   
In the interim years to a comprehensive valuation, Council engages suitably qualified 
external consultants to provide cost movement indices for infrastructure assets, relevant for 
the local region and specific asset types, as well as internal engineers and asset managers' 
assessment of asset conditions and cost assumptions.  For the land and buildings, Council 
engages external valuers to analyse the local area cost movements and external market 
forces and determines suitable indices to be applied against updated asset information which 
includes additions, disposals, changes to useful lives and condition assessments.    

 
Any revaluation increments arising from the revaluation of an asset class are recognised in 
other comprehensive income and presented in the asset revaluation surplus in equity. A 
decrease in the carrying amount on revaluation is charged as an expense to the extent that it 
exceeds the balance of previously recognised revaluation increments for that asset class.  
Where there isn’t sufficient amount available in the asset revaluation surplus, the decrease is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.  Where the class of asset has 
previously decreased in value and this reduction was recognised as an expense, an increase 
in the value of the class is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

   
On revaluation, accumulated depreciation is restated proportionately with the change in 
carrying amount of the asset and any change in the estimated remaining useful life. 

   
Current replacement cost is measured by reference to the lowest cost at which the gross 
future economic benefits of the asset could be obtained in the normal operations of Council.  
Where existing assets were over designed, had excess capacity, or were redundant, an 
adjustment has been made so that the resulting valuation reflects the cost of replacing the 
existing function based on efficient modern equivalent assets to achieve the required level of 
service output within Council's planning horizon. 
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In accordance with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, fair value measurements are 
categorised into three levels as follows: 

 
Level 1 –  fair value is based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 

identical assets 

Level 2 –  fair value is estimated using inputs that are directly or indirectly 
observable for the asset, such as prices for similar assets 

Level 3 –  fair value is estimated using unobservable inputs for the asset 
 
 Council's policy is to recognise transfers in and out of the fair value hierarchy levels as at the 

end of the reporting period.  
Fair values of all of Council's assets are calculated and valued based on their "highest and 
best use".  

 
 

 There were no transfers between levels during the reporting period. 
 

 

 The table below represents Council's assets measured and recognised at fair value at 30 
June 2022. All fair value measurements are recurrent and categorised as either level 2 or 
level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.  

 
 

 Property, plant and equipment fair value hierarchy 
   

Level 2 Level 3 Total   
2022 
$'000 

2021 
$'000 

2022 
$'000 

2021 
$'000 

2022 
$'000 

2021 
$'000 

Land 134,621 104,773 837,879 546,167 972,501 650,941 
Buildings 3,793 4,793 261,554 208,644 265,347 213,438 
Transportation     -  - 2,108,159 1,882,634 2,108,159 1,882,634 
Stormwater - - 1,220,798 1,101,564 1,220,798 1,101,564 
Other Infrastructure   -  - 464,679 417,292 464,679 417,292   

138,414 109,566 4,893,070 4,156,302 5,031,484 4,265,868 
  

Council holds assets from the land and buildings classes at level 2 where assets are 
identified as non-specialised in nature and exist within an active market and could be made 
available for sale. All other assets are considered to be level 3 as there is no active market 
for sale and key assumptions and inputs into the values derived are not openly visible as the 
assets are specialised to predominantly government owners.   

 
While Council's policy is to comprehensively revalue each asset class every 3-5 years, the 
scheduled comprehensive revaluation of the other infrastructure asset class was unable to 
be completed due to COVID illness to key staff.  Council plans to comprehensively revalue 
other infrastructure assets in 2022/23.   

 
By their nature there are many items in financial statements that cannot be measured with 
precision and can only be estimated.  Estimation involves judgements based on the latest 
available, reliable information and managements’ property, plant and equipment fair value 
estimates have been based on the latest available information as at the end of the reporting 
period. There has been observable significant volatility in construction costs in the 2021/22 
financial year and cost escalations are expected to continue into the 2022/23 financial year, 
noting that the costs associated with the construction of substitute assets of comparable 
utility is a key principle and input in the current replacement cost valuation technique 
adopted by management. 
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17(g) Fair values derived from valuation 
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18. Intangible assets   
Intangible assets are recognised at cost, and subsequent to initial recognition are held at 
historical cost. The financial recognition threshold for items of intangible assets is $5,000, with 
items with a lesser value being expensed.   

 
Costs associated with intangible assets are capitalised and then amortised on a straight-line 
basis over the period of expected benefit to Council. Intangible assets are assessed for 
indicators of impairment annually. 

  

Consolidated and Council 

 
Intangible 

 
Capital 

Works in 
Progress 

 
2022 
Total 

 
2021* 
Total 

  
Note $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  

Opening net value as at 1 July 
 

3,586 
 

54 
 

3,640 
 

4,521  
Plus capital expenses 

 
- 

 
438 

 
438 

 
362  

Transfers from capital works in 
progress 

 
30 

 
(30) 

 
- 

 
        - 

 
Less disposals 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(53)  

Less amortisation provided in 
period 

 
(677) 

 
- 

 
(677) 

 
(1,217)   

 
Transfer (to)/from property, plant 
and equipment 

17(a) - 
 

135 
 

135 
 

26 
 

Book value as at 30 June 
 

2,939 
 

597 
 

3,535 
 

3,640           
 

Range of estimated useful lives in 
years 

 
2-25       

   
       

 
Refer to Note 1 for details of the change in accounting policy to configuration or customisation 
costs in cloud computing arrangements and restated balances.  
 

        

19. Trade and other payables 
        

 
Creditors are recognised when goods or services are received, at the amount owed. Amounts 
owing are unsecured and were generally settled on 7 day terms in 2022 as part of Council's 
COVID-19 response to the community.            

  
  

Consolidated 
 

Council    
2022 

 
2021 

 
2022 

 
2021    

$'000 
 

$'000 
 

$'000 
 

$'000  
Current 

        
 

Creditors and accruals 
 

56,716 
 

37,112 
 

56,488 
 

36,826  
Accrued salaries and wages 

 
3,377 

 
1,993 

 
3,377 

 
1,853  

Other employee entitlements 
 

772 
 

778 
 

772 
 

722  
** GST payable 

 
24,516 

 
- 

 
24,516 

 
-    

85,381 
 

39,883 
 

85,153 
 

39,401 
  

        

 ** GST payable relates to the New Airport Runway Construction payment.  GST was 
recognised in other assets in 2021, refer Note 15.  
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20. Leases  
 

Council as a lessee 
   

Council has leases in place over buildings, vehicles and equipment.   
Where Council assesses that an agreement contains a lease, a right-of-use asset and lease 
liability is recognised on inception of the lease. Council separates non-lease components for 
buildings.   

 
The right-of-use asset is measured using the cost model where cost on initial recognition 
comprises: the lease liability, initial direct costs, prepaid lease payments, estimated cost of 
removal and restoration, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use is depreciated 
over the lease term on a straight-line basis and assessed for impairment in accordance with 
the impairment of assets accounting policy.   

 
The lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of the remaining lease payments 
at the commencement of the lease. The discount rate is the rate implicit in the lease, however 
where this cannot be readily determined then the Council’s incremental borrowing rate for a 
similar term with similar security is used. 

   
Subsequent to initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method.  The lease liability is re-measured where there is a lease 
modification, or change in estimate of the lease term or index upon which the lease payments 
are based (e.g. CPI).   
Where the lease liability is re-measured, the right-of-use asset is adjusted to reflect the re-
measurement.   

 
Exceptions to lease accounting   
Council has applied the exceptions to lease accounting for both short-term leases (i.e. leases 
with a term of less than or equal to 12 months) and leases of low-value assets. Council 
recognises the payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term.   

 
Leases at significantly below market value / concessionary leases   
Council has elected to measure the right-of-use asset arising from the concessionary leases 
at cost which is based on the associated lease liability at initial recognition.   

 
Terms and conditions of leases   
Buildings  
Council has the following leases:  
Two office buildings due to expire in late 2022 along with two long term leases from the 
Department of Resources for Sunshine Coast Holiday Parks.   

 
Vehicles  
Council leases vehicles and trucks which are used for operational purposes, they generally 
have a lease term of between 3 and 8 years. The lease payments are generally fixed for the 
term of the lease.   

 
Equipment  
Council leases a number of items of equipment, a number of the assets are considered low 
value and are therefore not subject to lease accounting.    
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Right-of-use assets 

 

  
 Vehicles  

 
Buildings Equipment  Total   

Consolidated and Council 
       

  
2022 

 
2022 

 
2022 

 
2022   

$'000   $'000   $'000   $'000  
Opening balance 1 July 2021 6,594 

 
1,118 

 
- 

 
7,711  

Additions to right-of-use assets 2,026 
 

- 
 

- 
 

2,026  
Adjustments to right-of-use assets due 
to re-measurement of lease liability 

(38) 
     

(38) 
 

Amortisation (3,057) 
 

(477) 
 

- 
 

(3,534)  
Closing balance at 30 June 2022 5,525 

 
641 

 
- 

 
6,166          

 
Consolidated and Council 

       
  

2021 
 

2021 
 

2021 
 

2021   
$'000 

 
$'000 

 
$'000 

 
$'000  

Adoption of AASB 16 at 1 July 2020 7,892 
 

2,103 
 

92 
 

10,087  
Additions to right-of-use assets 2,092 

 
- 

 
- 

 
2,092  

Adjustments to right-of-use assets due 
to re-measurement of lease liability 

(4) 
 

(32) 
 

(10) 
 

(46) 
 

Amortisation (3,387) 
 

(954) 
 

(82) 
 

(4,422)  
Closing balance at 30 June 2021 6,594 

 
1,118 

 
- 

 
7,711 

   
Lease liabilities    
The table below shows the maturity analysis of the lease liabilities based on contractual cash 
flows and therefore the amounts will not be the same as the recognised lease liability in the 
statement of financial position. 

  
Consolidated 
and Council 

< 1 year  1-5 years 
 

> 5 years 
 

Total 
 

Total per 
statement 
of financial 

position   
$'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

   
 

        
2022 2,780  3,809 

 
- 

 
6,589 

 
6,397  

2021 3,370  4,823 
 

57 
 

8,250 
 

8,004 
  

Liabilities not recognised - extension options  
For building leases, Council includes extension options which can be exercised at Council's 
discretion.  At each reporting date Council assesses whether it is reasonably certain that the 
extension options will be exercised based on current operations and Council strategy.   

 
Amounts included in the statement of comprehensive income related to leases  
The following amounts have been recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for 
leases where Council is the lessee. 

  
Consolidated and Council 

 
2022 

 
2021   

  $'000   $'000  
Interest on lease liabilities 

 
147 

 
185  

Amortisation of right-of-use assets 
 

3,534 
 

4,490  
Expenses relating to short-term and low value leases 

 
5,382 

 
4,183   

  9,063 
 

8,857  
Total cash outflows for leases   9,074 

 
8,772 
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Leases at significantly below market value - concessionary / peppercorn leases  
Council has a number of leases at significantly below market value for land and buildings 
which are used for community halls and sporting grounds.    

 
The leases are generally between 2 and 50 years and require payments between $1 and 
$10,000 per annum. The use of the right-of-use asset is restricted by the lessors to specified 
community services which Council must provide.  These services are detailed in the leases.   

 
Council does not believe that any of the leases in place are individually material.   

 
Council as a lessor  
Operating leases  
When Council is a lessor, the lease is classified as either an operating or finance lease at 
inception date, based on whether substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the asset have been transferred to the lessee.  If the risks and rewards have 
been transferred then the lease is classified as a finance lease, otherwise it is an operating 
lease.   

 
Rent from investment and other property is recognised as income on a periodic straight line 
basis over the lease term.  Rent payable as per the terms of the 99 year lease of the airport is 
based on 5% of gross airport revenue $0.970 million (2021:$0.655 million). 

   
Council   

2022 
 

2021   
$'000 

 
$'000 

      
Rental income (excluding variable lease payments not 
dependent on an index or rate) 

3,827 
 

3,155 
 

Direct operating expenses from property that generated rental 
income 

(4,306) 
 

(3,635) 
           

The minimum lease receipts arising from operating leases  Council  
are as follows: 2022  2021*   

$'000  $'000  
Not later than one year 2,922 

 
2,002  

One to five years 5,102 
 

4,104  
Later than five years 5,118 

 
5,541   

13,142  11,647 
     

 
21. Contract liabilities 

   
  

Council   
2022  2021   
$'000  $'000 

      
Development assessment fees paid in advance 2,744 

 
2,305  

Deposits received in advance for performance obligations in 
grants 

7,726 
 

4,432 
 

Deposits received in advance of services provided (e.g. holiday 
park fees, events) 

4,390 
 

3,514 
  

14,861  10,251  
All Council's contract liabilities are current liabilities 
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Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance at the 
beginning of the year        

Council  Council   
2022  2021   
$'000  $'000  

Deposits received in advance of services provided (e.g. holiday 
park fees, events, performance obligations in grants) 7,007  5,865 

 
22. Borrowings  

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 
Thereafter, they are measured at amortised cost.  For loans from Queensland Treasury 
Corporation (QTC), principal and interest repayments are made semi-annually in arrears with 
interest being expensed as it accrues.  For other loans, principal and interest (if applicable) 
payments are made as per the relevant loan agreements.   

 
For Sunshine Coast Airport Expansion Project borrowings from QTC, full repayment was due 
on or before 1 July 2023, however these borrowing were repaid in full in June 2022 on receipt 
of the New (Airport) Runway Construction Payment of $297 million (including Airport Manager 
Variations of $7 million) from Palisade Investment Partners Limited.   

 
In accordance with the Local Government Regulation 2012 Council adopts an annual debt 
policy that sets out Council's planned borrowings for the next nine years.  Council's current 
policy is to only borrow for capital projects and for a term no longer than the expected life of 
the asset.  Council also aims to comply with the Queensland Treasury Corporation's 
borrowing guidelines and ensures that sustainability indicators remain within acceptable levels 
at all times.  

   
Consolidated 

 
Council   

2022 
 

2021 
 

2022 
 

2021   
$'000 

 
$'000 

 
$'000 

 
$'000  

Current 
       

 
Loans Queensland Treasury Corporation 
(QTC) 

26,697 
 

20,834 
 

26,697 
 

20,834 
 

Loans other 840 
 

840 
 

840 
 

840   
27,537 

 
21,674 

 
27,537 

 
21,674           

Non-current 
       

 
Loans Queensland Treasury Corporation 
(QTC) 

449,387 
 

650,380 
 

449,387 
 

650,380 
 

Loans other 6,306 
 

6,910 
 

6,306 
 

6,910   
455,693 

 
657,290 

 
455,693 

 
657,290          

 
The market value of QTC borrowings represents the value of the debt if Council repaid the 
debt as at 30 June 2022.  As it is the intention of Council to hold the debt for its term, no 
provision is required to be made in these accounts. The weighted average borrowing rate for 
the year was 2.622% (2021 1.797%).  

  
Consolidated 

 
Council   

2022 
 

2021 
 

2022 
 

2021   
$'000 

 
$'000 

 
$'000 

 
$'000  

Balance at the end of the year  (Market 
Value) 415,877  680,360  415,877  680,360 
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Loans Other  
In June 2017, Council received a $12.6 million interest free loan from the Department of State 
Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning (Economic Development 
Queensland) as part of the Catalyst Infrastructure Program. The loan is to assist with the cost 
of infrastructure to promote and progress development in the Maroochydore City Centre 
Priority Development Area, specifically roadworks and three priority intersections to access 
Stages 1 and 2 of the city centre. The loan is unsecured and is repayable over time with full 
repayment to be made by June 2032.   

 
No assets have been pledged as security by the Council for any liabilities, however all loans 
are guaranteed by the Queensland State Government. There have been no defaults or 
breaches of the loan agreement during the 2021/22 or 2020/2021 financial years. 

 
23. Provisions  

Liabilities are recognised for employee benefits such as annual and long service leave in 
respect of services provided by the employees up to the reporting date.   

 
Short-term benefits which are expected to be wholly settled within 12 months are calculated 
on wage and salary levels which are expected to be paid and includes related employee on-
costs. Amounts not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months are calculated on 
projected future wage and salary levels and related employee on-costs, and are discounted to 
present values.    

 
(i) Annual leave and leave in lieu represent the amount which Council has a present 
obligation to pay resulting from employees' services provided up to the reporting date. The 
accrual is based on the present value of remuneration rates that will be paid when the liability 
is expected to be settled and includes related on-costs.   

   
There has been some delay in employees taking annual leave during COVID-19 restrictions 
which has resulted in an increase in the annual leave balance.  Council does not expect this 
to have a material impact.    
As Council does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the annual leave 
beyond twelve months after the reporting date, annual leave is classified as a current liability.   

 
(ii) Long service leave  
The provision for long service leave represents the present value of the estimated future cash 
outflows to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. 
The liability is calculated using current pay rates and projected future increases in those rates 
and includes related employee on-costs. The estimates are adjusted for the probability of the 
employee remaining in the Council's employment or other associated employment which 
would result in Council being required to meet the liability. Adjustments are then made to 
allow for the proportion of the benefit earned to date, and the result is discounted to present 
value. The provision is discounted using the Commonwealth Bond yield rates as at the 
calculation date with a term matching as closely as possible to the term of the long service 
leave liabilities.    

 
(iii) Landfill and quarry rehabilitation  
Where it is probable that Council has either a legal or constructive obligation, provision is 
made for the cost of rehabilitation of landfill and quarry sites when the use of the facilities is 
complete.  

   
The landfill rehabilitation provision represents the present value of the anticipated future costs 
associated with the closure of the landfill sites, decontamination and monitoring of historical 
residues and leaching on these sites. 
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The quarry rehabilitation provision represents the present value of the anticipated future costs 
associated with the closure of the quarries, refilling the basin, and reclamation and 
rehabilitation of these sites. 

   
The calculation of these provisions requires assumptions such as application of 
environmental legislation, site closure dates, available technologies and engineering cost 
estimates.  These uncertainties may result in future actual expenditure differing from amounts 
currently provided. Because of the long-term nature of the liability, the most significant 
uncertainty in estimating the provision is the costs that will be incurred. The provisions 
recognised are reviewed at least annually and updated based on the facts and circumstances 
available at the time, and discounted to present value. 

  
Provisions 

 
Consolidated 

 
Council    

2022 
 

2021 
 

2022 
 

2021    
$'000 

 
$'000 

 
$'000 

 
$'000  

Current 
        

 
Annual Leave 

 
14,808 

 
14,865 

 
14,808 

 
14,865  

Long service leave 
 

23,409 
 

22,871 
 

23,098 
 

22,687  
Landfill and quarry rehabilitation 

 
2,854 

 
3,429 

 
2,854 

 
3,429    

41,071  41,165  40,760  40,981  
Non-current 

        
 

Long service leave 
 

4,025 
 

4,213 
 

3,852 
 

4,044  
Landfill and quarry rehabilitation 

 
59,261 

 
47,863 

 
59,261 

 
47,863  

Land resumption 
 

- 
 

3,320 
 

- 
 

3,320    
63,286  55,396  63,113  55,227           

 
Movements in non-employee benefit provisions:            
Landfill and Quarry rehabilitation 

 
Consolidated 

 
Council    

2022 
 

2021 
 

2022 
 

2021   
Note $'000 

 
$'000 

 
$'000 

 
$'000  

Balance at beginning of financial year 
 

51,292 
 

48,241 
 

51,292 
 

48,241 
 

Increase/(decrease) in provision due to 
effect of interest rate movement 

 
(54,491) 

 
(4,243) 

 
(54,491) 

 
(4,243) 

 
Increase/(decrease) in provision due to 
unwinding of discount 

8 50 
 

38 
 

50 
 

38 
 

Increase/(decrease) in provision due to 
change in estimate ** 

 
70,415 

 
9,108 

 
70,415 

 
9,108 

 
Increase/(decrease) in provision as a 
result of actual expenditure incurred 
during the year 

 
(5,150) 

 
(1,852) 

 
(5,150) 

 
(1,852) 

 
Balance at end of financial year 

 
62,116  51,292  62,116  51,292  

 
** Current inflation pressures in 2021/22 have resulted in an increase in the estimates for the 
rehabilitation of Council's landfill sites and quarries. This has been off-set by an increase in 
interest rate movements to 3.66% (2021: 1.49%), resulting in an increase in the provision of 
$10.823 million (2021 $3.051 million). 

   
Landfill site Post closure monitoring 

cost completion year  
Buderim 2040  
Coolum 2040  
Pierce Avenue 2061  
Nambour Landfill 2071 
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At 30 June 2022 the net present value of the projected costs over the next 30 years has been 
assessed as $38.361 million for landfill  (2021: $36.994 million) and $2.380 million for the 
quarry rehabilitation (2021: $2.6 million).   

 
Capital Market Yields - Government 10 year bond rate for 2022 was 3.66% (2021: 1.49%). 

 
24. Other liabilities  

Non policy developer contributions reflect cash contributions for which related service 
obligations have yet to be fulfilled by Council.     
Revenue is classified as unearned if it relates to an obligation to supply specific goods and 
services in future periods.  Unearned revenue includes cemetery and rent prepayments. 

    
Consolidated 

 
Council 

   
2022 

 
2021 

 
2022 

 
2021    

$'000 
 

$'000 
 

$'000 
 

$'000  
Current 

        
 

Unearned revenue ** 
 

13,632 
 

1,823 
 

13,584 
 

1,767  
Prepaid rates 

 
12,267 

 
11,461 

 
12,267 

 
11,461    

25,899 
 

13,284 
 

25,851 
 

13,228              
Consolidated 

 
Council    

2022 
 

2021 
 

2022 
 

2021    
$'000 

 
$'000 

 
$'000 

 
$'000  

Non-current 
        

 
Unearned revenue ** 

 
33,621 

 
- 

 
33,621 

 
-    

33,621 
 

- 
 

33,621 
 

- 
  

**Unearned revenue includes an advanced payment of $46 million for the state governments 
waste levy. The 4 year payment covering the years 2022/23 to 2025/26, was made in 
advance to assist Council in making investment decisions to help reduce waste generation 
and increase resource recovery. 

 
25. Commitments for expenditure 

        
          
 

Contractual commitments 
    

 Contractual commitments at balance date but not recognised in the financial statements are 
as follows: 

 

   Consolidated  Council    
2022  2021*  2022  2021*    
$'000 

 
$'000 

 
$'000 

 
$'000  

Within one year 
 

50,345 
 

41,313 
 

50,345 
 

40,931  
One to five years 

 
56,567 

 
45,578 

 
56,567 

 
45,578  

Greater than five years 
 

12,288 
 

12,046 
 

12,288 
 

12,046    
119,200 

 
98,937 

 
    119,200** 98,555           

 
*Contract commitments were restated for 2020/21 to reflect changes in assumptions and 
calculations. 

   
**Council renewed the waste contract in 2021/22 for a further 8 years with an estimated 
commitment value $20 million.  
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Capital commitments 

 
   

 Commitments for the construction of the following assets contracted for at the reporting date 
but not recognised as liabilities: 

   Consolidated  Council    
2022  2021  2022  2021    
$'000 

 
$'000 

 
$'000 

 
$'000 

          

 
Aerodromes 

 
5 

 
31 

 
5 

 
31  

Buildings and facilities  
 

4,706 
 

2,729 
 

4,706 
 

2,729  
Coast and canals 

 
2,883 

 
184 

 
2,883 

 
184  

Corporate major projects 
 

30,065 
 

48,101 
 

30,065 
 

48,101  
Minor works program 

 
2,141 

 
669 

 
2,141 

 
669  

Environmental assets 
 

507 
 

506 
 

507 
 

506  
Fleet 

 
2,617 

 
123 

 
2,617 

 
123  

Holiday parks 
 

2,148 
 

73 
 

2,148 
 

73  
Information technology 

 
1,382 

 
748 

 
1,382 

 
748  

Parks, gardens and reserves 
 

9,112 
 

5,837 
 

9,112 
 

5,837  
Quarries 

 
278 

 
19 

 
278 

 
19  

Stormwater 
 

3,036 
 

2,624 
 

3,036 
 

2,624  
Strategic land and planning 

 
515 

 
270 

 
515 

 
270  

Sunshine Coast Airport Expansion 
Project 

 
2,432 

 
856 

 
2,432 

 
856 

 
Transportation 

 
32,706 

 
55,714 

 
32,706 

 
55,714  

Waste 
 

25,854 
 

1,707 
 

25,854 
 

1,707            
These expenditures are payable 
within one year  

 
120,386  120,191  120,386  120,191 

          

 
26. Contingencies 
  

Contingent assets 
        

           
On 9 February 2017 Council entered into an agreement with Palisade Investment Partners to 
effect, among other things, a 99 year lease of Sunshine Coast Airport land and building 
assets to Palisade, and for Council to construct a new runway. Under the 99 year lease, 
which commenced on 1 December 2017, Council is entitled to 5% of gross airport revenue 
per annum. It is not possible to reliably estimate the amount of gross revenue from the 
airport, as it's significantly impacted by the uncertainty of flight schedules and therefore the 
amount to be received is a contingent asset at 30 June 2022. 

   
Council received $0.970 million (2021: $0.655 million) from the Sunshine Coast Airport, being 
$0.211 million lower than original forecast.  Future revenue payments of $1.215 million are 
included in Council's 2022/23 Adopted Original Budget. The future payments may exceed or 
be less than these estimates, depending on future airport activities and the impacts of 
COVID-19 on the airline industry.           
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Contingent liabilities 

 
Consolidated 

 
Council  

Details and estimates of maximum 
amounts of contingent liabilities are as 
follows: 

 
2022 

 
2021 

 
2022 

 
2021   

$'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
           

At 30 June 2022 there are 80 insurance 
claims with Council's public liability 
insurer, LGM (2021: 60).  The amount 
required assuming the claims proceed to 
settlement is: 

 
544 

 
536 

 
544 

 
536 

          
 

At 30 June 2022 there are 18 
compulsory land acquisition claims 
(2021: 14) pending and are not 
expected to exceed: 

 
11,220 

 
11,425 

 
11,220 

 
11,425 

          
 

As at 30 June 2022 Council may be 
required by the Department of 
Environment and Science (DES) to 
undertake regular monitoring of 
groundwater in the vicinity of three 
mounds of surplus soil, concrete and 
asphalt waste which have been treated 
for per- and poly-fluoroalkyl substances 
(PFAS).  The amount required in the 
event of a legal requirement is estimated 
at $600,000 spread over 10 years. 

 
600 

 
20,000 

 
600 

 
20,000 

          
 

Total Contingent liabilities 
 

12,364  31,961  12,364  31,961 
  

Based on advice from Council's solicitors, there are 6 claims that may result in future 
settlements being made by Council. The total of these claims, liability for which is not 
admitted, is not expected to exceed $933,744.    

 
Local Government Workcare  
Council is a member of the Queensland local government workers compensation self-
insurance scheme, Local Government Workcare. Under this scheme the Council has 
provided an indemnity towards a bank guarantee to cover bad debts which may remain 
should the self-insurance licence be cancelled and there were insufficient funds available to 
cover outstanding liabilities.     

 
Only the Queensland Government's workers compensation authority may call on any part of 
the guarantee should the above circumstances arise. Council's maximum exposure to the 
bank guarantee is $3,458,956 (2021: $3,194,045), which includes $16,720 from SunCentral 
(2021: $17,990) and $28,346  for the Sunshine Coast Events Centre (2021: $25,426). The 
latest audited financial statements for Local Government Workcare are as at 30 June 2021 
and show accumulated member funds (equity) of $32.894 million.   

 
Local Government Mutual  
Council is a member of the local government mutual liability self-insurance pool, LGM 
Queensland. In the event of the pool being wound up or it is unable to meet its debts as they 
fall due, the trust deed and rules provide that any accumulated deficit will be met by the 
individual pool members in the same proportion as their contribution is to the total pool 
contributions in respect to any year that a deficit arises.    

 
The latest audited financial statements for LGM Queensland are as at 30 June 2021 and 
show accumulated member funds (equity) of $79.618 million, and it is not anticipated any 
liability will arise. 
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27. Superannuation  
Council contributes to the LGIAsuper Regional Defined Benefits Fund (the scheme), at the 
rate of 12% for each permanent employee who is a defined benefit member. This rate is set 
in accordance with the LGIAsuper trust deed and may be varied on the advice of an actuary. 
The Regional Defined Benefits Fund is a complying superannuation scheme for the purpose 
of the Commonwealth Superannuation Industry (Supervision) legislation and is also governed 
by the Local Government Act 2009.   

 
The scheme is a pooled defined benefit plan, and it is not in accordance with the deed to 
allocate obligations, plan assets and costs at the Council level.   

 
Any amount by which the scheme is over or under funded may affect future contribution rate 
obligations but has not been recognised as an asset or liability of Council.   

   
Technically Council can be liable to the scheme for a portion of another local governments’ 
obligations should that local government be unable to meet them. However the risk of this 
occurring is extremely low and in accordance with the LGIAsuper trust deed changes to 
Council's obligations will only be made on the advice of an actuary.   

 
The last completed actuarial assessment of the scheme as required under Superannuation 
Prudential Standard 160 was undertaken as at 1 July 2021. The actuary indicated that “At the 
valuation date of 1 July 2021, the net assets of the scheme exceeded the vested benefits, 
and the scheme was in a satisfactory financial position as at the valuation date."  The 
measure of vested benefits represents the value of benefit entitlements should all 
participating employees voluntarily exit the scheme.  Council is not aware of anything that has 
happened since that time that indicates the assets of the scheme are not sufficient to meet 
the vested benefits, as at the reporting date.   

 
No changes have been made to prescribed employer contributions which remain at 12% of 
employee assets and there are no known requirements to change the rate of contributions.   

 
The next triennial actuarial review is due 1 July 2024.   

 
The most significant risks that may result in LGIAsuper increasing the contribution rate, on 
the advice of the actuary, are:   

 
- Investment risk - The risk that the scheme's investment returns will be lower than 

assumed and additional contributions are needed to fund the shortfall.   
 

- Salary growth risk - The risk that wages or salaries will rise more rapidly than 
assumed, increasing vested benefits to be funded.   

 
The amount of superannuation contributions paid by Council to the superannuation scheme 
in this period for the benefit of employees was: 

    
Consolidated 

 
Council    

2022 
 

2021* 
 

2022 
 

2021   
Note $'000 

 
$'000 

 
$'000 

 
$'000  

Superannuation contributions made to 
the Regional Defined Benefits Fund 

 
1,335 

 
1,490 

 
1,335 

 
1,490 

 
Other superannuation contributions for 
employees 

 
15,237 

 
14,204 

 
15,030 

 
13,991 

 
Total superannuation contributions 
paid by Council for employees 6 16,572  15,694  16,365  15,482 
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28. Controlled entities   
 

Consolidated controlled entities  
Council has 100% controlling interests in Sunshine Coast Events Centre Pty Ltd and  
SunCentral Maroochydore Pty Ltd.      
The Sunshine Coast Events Centre at Caloundra specialises in staging corporate events and 
has a range of performance and function spaces available for hire.    
SunCentral Maroochydore Pty Ltd is responsible for providing development management 
services for the Maroochydore City Centre project.    
The following table shows revenue and expenses before consolidating eliminations. 

   
 

  
 Controlled entity SunCentral 

Maroochydore Pty Ltd 
 Sunshine Coast Events 

Centre Pty Ltd    
2022 

 
2021* 

 
2022 

 
2021*    

$'000 
 

$'000 
 

$'000 
 

$'000            
Revenue 

 
2,910 

 
5,491 

 
3,497 

 
3,222  

Expense 
 

(2,672) 
 

(5,473) 
 

(3,468) 
 

(3,115)  
Surplus/(deficit) 

 
239  18  29  107 

   
Controlled entities that have not been consolidated  
Council has 100% controlling interest in Sunshine Coast Arts Foundation Ltd, however 
because of its size and nature it is not material to Council's operations and has not been 
consolidated into Council's accounts.     
The principal objects of the foundation are for the public charitable purposes of promoting and 
advancing arts, craft, design, visual arts, movable cultural heritage, Aboriginal arts, and 
community arts.  The net profit for the foundation in 2022 was $73,291 (2021: $23,597) 

 
29. Trust funds 

    

  Consolidated  Council    
2022 

 
2021 

 
2022 

 
2021    

$'000 
 

$'000 
 

$'000 
 

$'000    
12,705  12,720  11,634  11,642 

  
In accordance with the Local Government Act 2009 and Local Government Regulation 2012, 
a separate trust bank account and separate accounting records are maintained for funds held 
on behalf of outside parties.   
   
Council performs only a custodial role in respect of these monies. As these funds cannot be 
used by the Council, they are not brought to account in these financial statements.   
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30. Reconciliation of net result for the year to net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating   
activities 

 
   

Consolidated 
 

Council 
 

   
2022 

 
2021* 

 
2022 

 
2021* 

 
  

Note $'000 
 

$'000 
 

$'000 
 

$'000 
 Net result 

 
182,477 

 
200,579  140,737 

 
164,613 

 
      

 
   

 Non-cash items 
    

 
   

 Depreciation and amortisation 17,18 101,504 
 

96,833  101,439 
 

96,807 
 Share of net profit of equity 

accounted investment 

 
(42,285) 

 
(35,840)  - 

 
- 

 Unwinding of discount on 
provisions and below market 
borrowings 

 
383 

 
254  383 

 
254 

 Infrastructure from developers 
at fair value 

 
(97,135) 

 
(110,743)  (97,135) 

 
(110,743) 

 
   

(37,532)  (49,496)  4,687  (13,681) 
 

          

 Investing activities 
        

 Net loss on disposal of 
property, plant and equipment 

 
4,688 

 
904 

 
4,688 

 
904 

 Non-recurrent sale from 
contracts 

 
(1,293) 

 
(14,373) 

 
(1,293) 

 
(14,373) 

 Non-recurrent grants and 
contributions 

 
(49,858) 

 
(79,134) 

 
(49,858) 

 
(79,134) 

 Early repayment adjustment 8,5 (5,108) 
 

34,346 
 

(5,108) 
 

34,346 
 

   
(51,571)  (58,258)  (51,571)  (58,258) 

 
          

 
 Changes in operating 

assets and liabilities 

        

 (Increase)/decrease in 
receivables 

 
294,881 

 
(12,900) 

 
294,818 

 
(13,587) 

 (Increase)/decrease other 
assets 

 
4,786 

 
(4,127) 

 
4,780 

 
(4,135) 

 (Increase)/decrease in 
inventory 

 
3,596 

 
2,633 

 
3,596 

 
3,455 

 Increase/(decrease) in 
payables 

 
45,434 

 
558 

 
45,524 

 
526 

 Increase/(decrease) contract 
liabilities 

 
4,610 

 
(1,006) 

 
4,610 

 
(1,006) 

 Increase/(decrease) other 
liabilities 

 
46,262 

 
2,136 

 
46,245 

 
2,104 

 Increase/(decrease) in other 
provisions 

 
7,664 

 
858 

 
7,665 

 
860 

 
   

407,233  (11,849)  407,237  (11,783) 
 

          

 Net cash inflow from 
operating activities 

 
500,607  80,976  501,090  80,891 

 
          

   *Comparative figures have been restated.  Refer to Note 35 for details.  
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31. Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 
  

For the year ended 
June 2022 

 
As at 30 

June 2021 
Cash 
flows 

Non-cash 
changes  

Non-cash 
changes  

(Fair Value) 

As at 30 
June 2022 

  Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  
Consolidated 

      
 

Borrowings ** 22 678,963 (190,862) (5,108) 237 483,230  
Lease Liabilities 20 8,004 (3,751) 1,997 147 6,397    

686,967 (194,613) (3,111) 383 489,627  
Council 

      
 

Borrowings 22 678,963 (190,862) (5,108) 237 483,230  
Lease Liabilities 20 7,909 (3,692) 2,033 147 6,397    

686,872 (194,554) (3,075) 383 489,627          
** During 2022 Council repaid all borrowings relating to the Sunshine Coast Airport amounting 
to $266 million.          
For the year ended 
June 2021 

 
As at 30 

June 2020 
Cash 
flows 

Non-cash 
changes  

Non-cash 
changes  

(Fair Value) 

As at 30 
June 2021 

  
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  

Consolidated 
      

 
Borrowings 22 551,051 93,313 34,346 254 678,963  
Lease Liabilities 20 10,482 (4,882) 2,219 185 8,004    

561,533 88,431 36,565 439 686,967  
Council 

      
 

Borrowings 22 551,051 93,313 34,346 254 678,963  
Lease Liabilities 20 10,416 (4,774) 2,082 185 7,909    

561,467 88,539 36,428 439 686,872 
 
32. Financial instruments and financial risk management 

 
 

 Council has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments: 
 - credit risk 
 - liquidity risk 
 - market risk 
 

 

 Risk Management Framework 
 Council is responsible for the establishment and oversight of the risk management 

framework, together with developing and monitoring risk management policies specifically for 
managing credit, liquidity and market risk. 

 
 

 Council's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced, to 
set appropriate limits and controls and to monitor these risks and adherence against limits. 
Council aims to manage volatility to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial 
performance of Council.  

 
 

 Council's Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with Council's 
risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management 
framework in relation to the risks faced by Council. Council's audit committee is assisted in its 
oversight role by internal audit. Internal audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of 
risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the audit 
committee. 

  
Council does not enter into derivatives. 
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 Credit risk 
 

 

 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations. These obligations arise principally from Council's investments and 
receivables from customers. 

 
 

 Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of credit counterparty ability to 
meet payment obligations. 

 
 

 Investments in financial instruments are required to be made with Queensland Treasury 
Corporation (QTC) or similar state/commonwealth bodies or financial institutions in Australia, 
in line with the requirements of the Statutory Bodies Financial Arrangements Act 1982. 

 
 

 No collateral is held as security relating to the financial assets held by the Council. 
 

 

 The exposure to credit risk for trade receivables by type of counterparty was as follows: 
 
 

 
Consolidated Council 

 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021 
 

 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Rates, utility and other statutory 
charges 

14,670 11,376 14,670 11,376 

 Trade and other debtors 35,112 35,884 35,152 35,795 
 Contract receivable - Sunshine Coast 

Airport Expansion Project 
- 296,772 - 296,772 

 Loans to associate 434,393 434,393 434,893 434,893 
 Loans receivable - 696 - 696 
 Total 484,175 779,122 484,715 779,533 
 
 The carrying amounts of financial assets at the end of the reporting period represent the 

maximum exposure to credit risk for Council.  Refer Note 12. 
 

 

 Expected credit loss assessment 
 

 

 Council uses an allowance matrix to measure the expected credit losses of trade receivables 
from individual customers, which comprise a very large number of small balances. 

 
 

 Loss rates are calculated using a 'roll rate' method based on the probability of a receivable 
progressing through successive stages of delinquency to write-off. 

 
 

 After reviewing macro-economic conditions, Council reached the conclusion that forward 
looking conditions indicated no foreseeable expected deviations from historically calculated 
ratios, thus no forward looking adjustments were made. 
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 Write offs throughout the year and End of Period Expected Credit Losses for Receivables 
 

 

 Consolidated  and Council - 2022    
Gross 

carrying 
amount 

Historical 
probability 
of default 

Loss given 
default 

Lifetime 
expected 

credit loss  
Statutory Charges 

 
$'000 % $'000 $'000  

Current 
     

 
Not past due 

 
11,374 <.01% 100% (10)  

Past due 31-60 days 
 

231 <.01% 100% (-)  
Past due 61-90 days 

 
67 <.01% 100% (-)  

More than 90 days 
 

2,987 <.01% 100% (3)  
Total 

 
14,659   (13)        

   
Gross 

carrying 
amount 

Historical 
probability 
of default 

Loss given 
default 

Lifetime 
expected 

credit loss 
 

Other Debtors 
 

$'000 % $'000 $'000  
Current 

     
 

Not past due 
 

32,504 <.01% 100% (28)  
Past due 31-60 days 

 
670 <.01% 100% (1)  

Past due 61-90 days 
 

1,218 <.01% 100% (1)  
More than 90 days 

 
731 <.01% 100% (1)  

Total 
 

35,123  - (30) 
  

Council has removed the non-current receivable of $434,373 million from the 2021/22 analysis 
which represents the fixed rate of 4.10% on loans to Unitywater. The credit risk on this loan is 
considered low.    

 
Consolidated  and Council - 2021    

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

Historical 
probability 
of default 

Loss given 
default 

Lifetime 
expected 

credit loss  
Statutory Charges 

 
$'000 % $'000 $'000  

Current 
     

 
Not past due 

 
8,419 <.01% 100% (7)  

Past due 31-60 days 
 

147 <.01% 100% (-)  
Past due 61-90 days 

 
270 <.01% 100% (-)  

More than 90 days 
 

2,532 <.01% 100% (2)  
Total 

 
11,370   (9) 

          
Gross 

carrying 
amount 

Historical 
probability 
of default 

Loss given 
default 

Lifetime 
expected 

credit loss 
 

Other Debtors 
 

$'000 % $'000 $'000  
Current 

     
 

Not past due 
 

765,839 <.01% 100% (597)  
Past due 31-60 days 

 
579 <.01% 100% (-)  

Past due 61-90 days 
 

258 <.01% 100% (-)  
More than 90 days 

 
1,079 <.01% 100% (1)  

Total 
 

767,753  - (598) 
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All amounts that were written off during the reporting period and are no longer subject to 
enforcement activity.   

 
Interest is charged on outstanding rates.  No interest is charged on other debtors.   

 
Liquidity risk  
Liquidity risk refers to the situation where Council may encounter difficulty in meeting 
obligations associated with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another 
financial asset.     

 
Council's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed 
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Council's reputation.   

 
Council is exposed to liquidity risk through its normal course of business and through its 
borrowings from QTC and other institutions.   

 
Council manages its exposure to liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash deposits, both short 
and long term, to cater for unexpected volatility in cash flows.   

 
Council is also exposed to liquidity risk through the Participating Local Government Fixed Rate 
Loan Agreement (Subordinated Debt) between Council and Northern SEQ Distributor-Retailer 
Authority (trading as Unitywater).  Under the Agreement the borrower may request the lender to 
capitalise all or part of the interest payable, thereby representing a risk to securing cash flow 
anticipated by Council.    

 
The policies introduced by Council to support customers through COVID-19, as well as the 
pandemic itself have impacted expected timing of cash flows for Council. This has led to a slight 
increase in liquidity risk resulting in higher debtors and a lower cash flow position, however at 
this time the effect on Council is minimal.    

 
The following sets out the liquidity risk of financial liabilities (excluding lease liabilities for 2022, 
refer Note 20) held by Council.  The amounts disclosed in the maturity analysis represent the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows at balance date: 

 
 Consolidated 

 
0 to 1 
year 

1 to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

Total 

 
 

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 2022 

     

 Trade and other payables 19 81,232 - - 81,232 
 Loans - Queensland Treasury 

Corporation (QTC) 
22 34,765 141,586 416,652 593,003 

 Loan - Economic Development 
Queensland (EDQ) 

22 840 3,360 4,200 8,400 

 
  

116,837 144,946 420,852 682,635 
 

      

 2021 
     

 Trade and other payables 19 37,112 - - 37,112 
 Loans - Queensland Treasury 

Corporation (QTC) 
22 28,700 378,900 363,466 771,067 

 Loan - Economic Development 
Queensland (EDQ) 

22 840 3,360 5,040 9,240 

 
  

66,652 382,260 368,506 817,418 
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 Council 
 

0 to 1 
year 

1 to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

Total 

 
 

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 2022  

    

 Trade and other payables ** 19 81,004 - - 81,004 
 Loans - Queensland Treasury 

Corporation (QTC) 
22 34,765 141,586 416,652 593,003 

 Loan - Economic Development 
Queensland (EDQ) 

22 840 3,360 4,200 8,400 

 
  

116,609 144,946 420,852 682,407 
 

      

 ** Other payables includes $29 million in GST outstanding to the Australian Tax Office as part 
of the final $290 million New (Airport) Runway Construction Payment.  

 
      

 2021 
     

 Trade and other payables 19 36,826 - - 36,826 
 Loans - Queensland Treasury 

Corporation (QTC) 
22 28,700 378,900 363,466 771,067 

 Loan - Economic Development 
Queensland (EDQ) 

22 840 3,360 5,040 9,240 

 
  

66,366 382,260 368,506 817,132 
  

The outflows in the above tables are not expected to occur significantly earlier and are not 
expected to be for significantly different amounts than indicated in the table.    
Market risk   

 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market indices, such as interest rates, will affect 
Council's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.   

 
Interest rate risk  
Council is exposed to interest rate risk through its borrowings from the Queensland Treasury 
Corporation,  investments held with other financial institutions and shareholder loans with the 
Northern SEQ Distributor Retailer Authority (Unitywater).   

 
Council also has access to a mix of variable and fixed rate funding options through QTC so 
that interest rate risk exposure can be minimised.   

 
Council's loan from Economic Development Queensland is interest free and therefore not 
subject to interest rate risk.     

 
Sensitivity  
Sensitivity to interest rate movements is shown for variable financial assets and liabilities 
based on the carrying amount at reporting date.   

 
Council accounts for the interest free loan from Economic Development Queensland at Fair 
Value through Profit or Loss.   

 
The following interest rate sensitivity analysis depicts what effect a reasonably possible 
change in interest rates (assumed to be 1%) would have on the profit and equity, based on 
the carrying values at the end of the reporting period. The calculation assumes that the 
change in interest rates would be held constant over the period.  
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Consolidated and 
Council 

Net carrying 
amount 

Effect on Net Result 
1% increase / 

(decrease) 

Effect on Equity 1% 
increase / 
(decrease) 

  2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  

Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 

334,682  208,320  3,347  2,083  3,347  2,083  
 

QTC Loans (476,084) (671,214) 
    

 
Other Loans (8,400) (9,240) - - - -  
Net total (149,802) (472,135) 3,347  2,083  3,347  2,083  

  
The risk in borrowing is effectively managed by borrowing from the Queensland Treasury 
Corporation and having access to a mix of floating and fixed funding sources such that the 
desired interest rate risk exposure can be minimised.  Interest rate risk in other areas is 
minimal. 

   
In its management of interest rate risk associated with Unitywater shareholder loans, Council 
has a number of options available to mitigate risk from market interest rate movements 
including:  

- Principal reduction for corresponding external loan liabilities  
- Conversion of current external loan liabilities from principal and interest repayments 

to payment of interest only with terms negotiated to match the review periods with 
Unitywater shareholder loans; or  

- Undertake interest rate hedging through QTC to protect against market fluctuations 
in interest rates payable by Unitywater.   

 
The fair value of interest bearing loans and borrowings is calculated based on the discounted 
expected future cash flows. The fair values of the loans and borrowings, together with their 
carrying amounts, are as follows: 

 
 

 
Carrying Amount Fair Value 

 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021 
 

 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Queensland Treasury Corporation 
(QTC) borrowings  

476,084 671,214 415,877 680,360 

 Economic Development 
Queensland borrowings 

8,400 9,240 7,146 7,750 

 
 

484,484 680,454 423,023 688,110 
  

Fair value    
The fair value of trade and other receivables and payables is assumed to approximate the 
value of the original transaction, less any allowance for impairment.    

 
The fair value of  borrowings is based on the market value of debt outstanding. The market 
value of a debt obligation is the discounted value of future cash flows based on prevailing 
market rates and represents the amount required to be repaid if this was to occur at balance 
date. The market rate is provided by QTC and is disclosed in Note 22.   

 
QTC applies a book rate approach in the management of debt and interest rate risk to limit 
the impact of market value movements to Council's cost of funding. The book value 
represents the carrying value based on amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
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33. National competition policy    
The competitive neutrality principle provides that a government entity conducting a business 
activity in competition with the private sector should not enjoy a net advantage over its 
competitors only because it is in the public sector. 

   
Competition reforms must be applied to significant business activities and may be applied to 
prescribed business activities.   

(a) Significant business activities  
The expenditure threshold for identifying a "significant business activity" for the 2021/22 
financial year is $9.70 million. 

   
Council has resolved to apply the competitive neutrality principle to the Waste and 
Resources Management significant business activity through full cost pricing.   

   
This requires charging for goods or services at the full cost of providing the goods or service 
in accordance with the pricing provisions and identifying the cost of community service 
obligations (CSO). 

   
Full cost pricing in simple terms means that, on average, prices should fully recover all the 
relevant costs of supplying a product or service and total revenue received by the business 
should equal the sum of:  

a)  operational costs; 
b)  administrative and overhead costs; 
c)  cost of resources; 
d)  depreciation expense; 
e)  equivalents for Commonwealth or State taxes; 
f)  equivalents for the cost of funds advantage Council obtains because of State 
 guarantees on borrowings; 
g)  return on capital (i.e. cost of debt plus return on equity invested in the business). 

   
The CSO value is determined by Council and represents an activity's costs(s) which would 
not be incurred if the primary objective of the activity was to make a profit. 
   
Council provides funding from general revenue to the business activity to cover the cost of 
providing non-commercial community services or costs deemed to be a CSO. 

   
Full cost pricing is successfully applied if the total expected revenue from providing all of the 
activity's goods and services, including any CSO, is enough to meet expected total costs as 
defined above.    

(b) Activities to which the code of competitive conduct is applied  
The expenditure threshold for identifying a "prescribed business activity" for the 2021/22 
financial year is $340,000. 

   
Council has resolved to apply the Code of Competitive Conduct to the following business 
activities:  

 
a) Sunshine Coast Holiday Parks 
b) Quarries 

   
This requires the application of the competitive neutrality principle, the pricing provisions and 
identifying any CSO. 
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(c) Business activity statements   
 

The following activity statements are for activities subject to the competitive neutrality 
principle: 

   
Sunshine 

Coast 
Holiday Parks 

Quarry 
Business 
Activity 

Waste and 
Resource 

Management   
2022 2022 2022   
$'000 $'000 $'000  

Revenue for services provided to Council          776              2,479               1,111   
Revenue for services provided to external 
clients 

          20,499              2,026             87,124  
 

Community Service Obligations (CSOs)                    -                   255               1,199    
          21,275              4,759             89,434   

Less : Expenditure           13,777            12,302             78,635   
Surplus / (deficit)              7,498  (7,543)            10,799       

  
Description of CSO's provided to business activities: Net cost Net cost   

2022 2022   
$'000 $'000  

Margin applied to internal sales         255  
 

 
Waste collection and disposal charges for charitable organisations 

 
      1,199  

 
34. Related party disclosures 

   
      

The group consists of Sunshine Coast Regional Council, its wholly owned entities and one 
associate.  Details of subsidiaries and associates are disclosed in Note 1.03. 

 

     

(a)  Transactions with Subsidiaries 
   

     
 

SunCentral Maroochydore Pty Ltd (controlled entity) 2022 
$'000 

2021 
$'000 

 

 
Revenue 

   
 

Receipt of contributions and sponsorship from subsidiary - 10 
 

     
 

Expenditure 
   

 
Purchase of materials and services from subsidiary (1) - 

 
 

Annual development management fee paid to subsidiary (2,033) (1,850) 
 

 
Maroochydore City Centre development costs paid to the subsidiary 
in accordance with established Development Service Contracts 

(904) (3,557) 
 

  
(2,938) (5,397) 

 

     
      

SunCentral Maroochydore Pty Ltd is dependent on funding provided by Council.  Funding 
support has been agreed to by Council for the 2022/23 financial year.  No SunCentral 
employees are related parties of Council. 
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Sunshine Coast Events Centre Pty Ltd (controlled entity) 2022 

$'000 
2021* 
$'000 

 

 
Revenue 

   
 

Recoupment of operating costs paid on behalf of the subsidiary 187 194 
 

 
Recoupment of internal service costs from the subsidiary 89 89 

 
     
 

Expenditure 
   

 
Operational funding paid to subsidiary (1,582) (1,562) 

 
 

Purchase of materials and services from subsidiary (47) (38) 
 

 
Maintenance and equipment provided to subsidiary (350) (238)   
Payment of operating costs on behalf of the subsidiary (216) (204)   
Provision of internal services to the subsidiary (615) (383)   
Capital expenditure incurred on the property (171) (251)    

(2,705) (2,393)  
      

Sunshine Coast Events Centre Pty Ltd is dependent on funding provided by Council.  
Funding support has been agreed to by Council for the 2022/23 financial year. No Events 
Centre employees are related parties of Council. 

 

     
 

Sunshine Coast Arts Foundation Ltd (controlled entity) 2022 
$'000 

2021 
$'000 

 

 
Revenue 

   
 

Receipt of venue hire revenue from subsidiary - 2 
 

     
 

Expenditure 
   

 
Operational funding paid to subsidiary (106) (106) 

 
  

(106) (104) 
 

      
The Sunshine Coast Arts Foundation Ltd is currently dependent on funding provided by 
Council as part of a three year funding agreement expiring in 2021/22, with further funding 
in 2022/23 proposed as part of the Arts & Heritage Levy.  Cr Baberowski, a member of 
Council's Key Management Personnel, was appointed as a director of the foundation by a 
resolution of the Sunshine Coast Council in August 2018 and does not receive any 
additional remuneration for this purpose. 

 

     

(b) Transactions with associates 
   

     
 

Unitywater (associate) 2022 
$'000 

2021 
$'000 

 

 
Revenue 

   
 

Interest paid to Council 17,811 19,592 
 

 
Recoupment Unitywater expenses incurred by Council 379 451 

 
 

Participation returns (dividends) paid to Council 15,155 13,200 
 

 
Tax equivalent paid to Council 16,883 17,054 

 
     
 

Expenditure 
   

 
Water and sewerage charges for Council properties (4,534) (4,454) 

 
 

Purchase of materials and services (240) (946) 
 

  45,454 44,897  
     
 

Further detail regarding Unitywater is contained in Note 14 Equity accounted investment. 
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(c) Transactions with Key Management Personnel  
   

     
 

Key Management Personnel include the Mayor and Councillors, Chief Executive Officer 
and members of the Executive Leadership Team.  Compensation paid to Key Management 
Personnel comprises: 

 

  
2022 
$'000 

2021* 
$'000 

 

 
Short term employee benefits (4,738) (4,540)   

 
 

Post-employment benefits (463) (472) 
 

 
Long term employee benefits (103) (61) 

 
 

Termination benefits (190) - 
 

  
(5,495) (5,073) 

 
     
 

Detailed remuneration disclosures for Councillors are provided in the annual report. 
 

     
 

The amounts disclosed in the above table are amounts related to Key Management 
Personnel recognised as an expense during the reporting period. The current year amount 
is $422,140 higher than the prior year due to vacancies in 2021 and one termination 
payment in 2022.   

 

     

(d) Transactions with other related parties 
   

     
 

Other related parties include the close family members of Key Management Personnel and 
any entities controlled or jointly controlled by Key Management Personnel or their close 
family members.  Close family members include a spouse, child and dependent of a 
member of Key Management Personnel or their spouse. 

 

     
 

Details of transactions between Council and other related parties are disclosed below. 
 

       
2022 
$'000 

2021 
$'000 

 

(i) Employee expenses for close family members of key management 
personnel 

(48) (135) 
 

(ii) Development applications submitted by related parties of Council 3 1 
 

  
(45) (134) 

 
     

(i) All close family members of key management personnel were employed through an arm's 
length process.  They are paid in accordance with Council's Certified Agreement and 
relevant awards. 
   

 

(ii) All development applications are assessed in accordance with relevant legislative 
requirements and paid for by applicants as per Council's adopted Fees & Charges.  Council 
received 19,050 (2021: 20,270) development applications during the year, 8 (2021: 8) of 
which were from related parties. 

 

     

(e) Outstanding balances 
   

     
 

The following balances are outstanding at the end of the reporting 
period in relation to transactions with other parties. 

   

     
 

Receivables 2022 
$'000 

2021 
$'000 

 

 Not past due - 10 
 

 
Past due   - 2 

 
 

Past due                                                             more than 90 days 11 9 
 

  
11 21 

 
     
 

No expense has been recognised in the current year or prior year for bad or doubtful debts 
in respect of amounts owed by related parties. 

 

  



138 Annual Report 2021/22  |  Sunshine Coast Council
Sunshine Coast Council Annual Report 2021/22   138 

(f) Loans and guarantees to/from related parties 
   

     
 

Details 2022 
$'000 

2021 
$'000 

 

 
Loan to associate (Unitywater) - subordinated debt 434,393 434,393 

 
     
 

Refer to Note 32 Financial instruments and financial risk 
management. 

   

     

(g) Transactions with related parties that have not been disclosed 
   

      
Most of the entities and people that are related parties of Council live and operate within 
the Sunshine Coast region.  Therefore, on a regular basis ordinary citizen transactions 
occur between Council and its related parties.  Some examples include: 

 

     
 

- Payment of rates 
   

 
- Use of Council swimming pools 

   
 

- Payment of animal registration 
   

 
- Attendance at a Council event 

   
     
 

Council has not included these types of transactions in its disclosure, where they are made 
on the same terms and conditions available to the general public. 

 

 
35.  Restated balances     

30 June 2022    
(a) During 2021/22, Council identified a prior period error that related to contributed assets that 

had acquisition dates prior to 1 July 2021.  As a result, for 2020/21 Council had understated 
its contributed revenue and property, plant and equipment by $8.218 million and applicable 
depreciation by $0.087 million.  To correct the impact of the prior period error, Council has 
adjusted the 2020/21 comparative amounts in the Statements of Comprehensive Income, 
Statements of Financial Position, Statements of Changes in Equity and notes where 
indicated.    

   
(b) During 2021/22, Council identified a prior period error that relates to assets not previously 

recognised due to incomplete or inaccurate asset records being maintained, and operating 
expenditure held in works in progress that relates to dates prior to 1 July 2020. As a result, 
for 2020/21 Council had understated its plant and equipment by $13.785 million.  To correct 
the impact of the prior period error, Council has adjusted the 2020/21 comparative amounts 
in the Statements of Comprehensive Income, Statements of Financial Position, Statements 
of Changes in Equity and notes where indicated.    

   
(c) During 2021/22, Council's Equity Accounted Investment - Unitywater, revised its accounting 

policy in relation to configuration and customisation costs incurred in implementing cloud 
computing arrangements, which resulted in restatement of its 2021 financial accounts.  As 
a result, Council's Consolidated accounts for 2021 had overstatements of $2.940 million in 
both profit from equity accounted investment and total equity accounted investments.  To 
correct the impact of the prior period adjustment, Council has adjusted the 2020/21 
comparative amounts in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position, and Consolidated Statements of Changes 
in Equity and notes where indicated.      

 
(d) During 2021/22, Council identified a prior period error that relates to asset records that are 

associated with cloud computing or no longer in use, that have been removed from the 
financial register along with operating expenditure held in works in progress that relates to 
dates prior to 1 July 2020.  As a result, for 2020/21 Council has retrospectively adjusted the 
opening balances for $3.755 million in cloud computing arrangements and $3.513 million 
impairment review.  Council has adjusted the 2020/21 comparative amounts in the 
Statements of Comprehensive Income, Statements of Financial Position, Statements of 
Changes in Equity and notes where indicated.  
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Consolidated 

 
Actual Adjustments Restated 

Actual  
Statement of Comprehensive Income 

 
2021 2021 2021  

 (Extract) Note $'000 $'000 $'000        
Recurrent revenue 

    

(c) Profit from equity accounted investment 14 51,981 (2,940) 49,040  
Total recurrent revenue 

 
512,839 (2,940) 509,899        

Non-recurrent revenue 
    

(a) Grants, subsidies, contributions, donations 
and other 

4(b) 181,658 8,218 189,877 
 

Total non-recurrent revenue 
 

196,032 8,218 204,250        
Total  income 

 
708,871 5,278 714,149 

       
Recurrent expenses 

    
 

Materials and services 7 205,418 9,236 214,654 
(a)& 
(d) 

Depreciation and amortisation 17 & 
18 

93,691 (1,349) 92,343 
 

Total recurrent expenses 
 

501,748 7,888 509,636        
Non-recurrent expenses 

    
 

Loss on disposal property, plant and 
equipment and intangibles 

10 851 53 904 
 

Total non-recurrent expenses 
 

3,881 53 3,934        
Net result (deficiency)  203,241 (2,662) 200,579 

       
Total comprehensive income for the year  203,241 (2,662) 200,579        
Statement of Financial Position (Extract) 

    
       

Non-current assets 
    

(c) Equity accounted investments 14 840,920 (2,940) 837,979 
(b) Property, plant and equipment 17 4,761,395 13,785 4,775,180 
(d) Intangibles 18 10,908 (7,268) 3,640 

 
Total non-current assets 

 
6,091,895 3,576 6,095,472        

Total  assets 
 

6,684,385 3,576 6,687,962        
Community equity 

    
 

Retained surplus/(deficiency) 
 

5,179,213 3,576 5,182,790 
      
 

Total community equity 
 

5,837,437 3,576 5,841,014 
      

36. Events after the reporting date 
    

 
On 28 July 2022 a revised organisation structure was endorsed by Council resulting in the 
establishment of a new and sixth service group, Civic Governance, as well as the 
realignment of a number of branches.  It is proposed the Civic Governance group will be 
operational by the end of September 2022. 
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3. MANAGEMENT CERTIFICATE 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 

 
 

MANAGEMENT CERTIFICATE 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 

 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared pursuant 
to section 176 and 177 of the Local Government Regulation 2012 (the 
Regulation) and other prescribed requirements.  
 
In accordance with Section 212(5) of the Regulation we certify that: 
 

(i) The prescribed requirements of the Local Government Act 2009 
and Local Government Regulation 2012 for the establishment 
and keeping of accounts have been complied with in all material 
respects; and 

 
(ii) The general purpose financial statements present a true and 

fair view, in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, 
of Council's and the consolidated entity's transactions for the 
financial year and financial position at the end of the year. 
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4.  INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
  (General Purpose Financial Statements) 
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5. CURRENT YEAR FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT 
   Certificate of Accuracy – for the Current Year Financial Sustainability Statement 
 

Current Year Financial Sustainability Statement 
Sunshine Coast Regional Council 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 

 
Measures of Financial Sustainability 
Council's performance at 30 June 2022 against key financial ratios and targets:   
   

Consolidated 
2022 

Council 
2022 

Operating surplus 
ratio 

Net result (excluding capital items) 
divided by total operating revenue 
(excluding capital items) 

9.3% 2.0% 

Asset 
sustainability ratio 

Capital expenditure on the replacement 
of assets (renewals) divided by 
depreciation expense. 

71.2% 71.2% 

Net financial 
liabilities ratio 

Total liabilities less current assets 
divided by total operating revenue 
(excluding capital items) 

58.8% 64.2% 

 
Note 1 - Basis of Preparation 
The current year financial sustainability statement is a special purpose statement prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Regulation 2012 and the Financial 
Management (Sustainability) Guideline 2013. The amounts used to calculate the three reported 
measures are prepared on an accrual basis and are drawn from the Council's audited general 
purpose financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022.    
   

Certificate of Accuracy 
 

For the year ended 30 June 2022    

This current-year financial sustainability statement has been prepared pursuant to Section 178 
of the Local Government Regulation 2012 (the regulation).    
In accordance with Section 212(5) of the Regulation we certify that this current-year financial 
sustainability statement has been accurately calculated. 
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5.  CURRENT YEAR FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT 
 Independent Auditors Report (Current Year Financial Sustainability Statement) 
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6.  UNAUDITED LONG-TERM FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT 
 

Unaudited Long-Term Financial Sustainability Statement 
Sunshine Coast Regional Council 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 

     
Forward Estimates 

Measures of 
Financial 

Sustainability 

Measure Target Actuals 
at 30 
June  
2022 

30  
June  
2023 

30  
June  
2024 

30  
June  
2025 

30  
June  
2026 

30  
June  
2027 

30  
June  
2028 

30  
June  
2029 

30  
June  
2030 

30  
June  
2031 Council 

Operating 
surplus ratio 

Net result 
(excluding capital 
items) divided by 
total operating 
revenue (excluding 
capital items) 

Between 
0% and 

10% 
2.0% 5.9% 6.9% 7.2% 9.3% 9.3% 9.7% 10.0% 9.9% 9.6% 

Asset 
sustainability 
ratio 

Capital expenditure 
on the replacement 
of assets (renewals) 
divided by 
depreciation 
expense. 

greater 
than 
90% 

71.2% 88.4% 83.9% 78.7% 81.3% 73.2% 71.4% 79.7% 73.5% 78.4% 

Net financial 
liabilities 
ratio 

Total liabilities less 
current assets 
divided by total 
operating revenue 
(excluding capital 
items) 

not 
greater 

than 
60% 

64.2% 76.2% 88.1% 87.0% 77.1% 67.1% 59.0% 50.4% 45.9% 39.0% 

 

Sunshine Coast Regional Council's Financial Management Strategy 
 

Council measures revenue and expenditure trends over time as a guide to future requirements and to 
make decisions about efficient allocation of resources to ensure the most effective provision of services. 
Council ensures that its financial management strategy is prudent and that its long-term financial forecast 
shows a sound financial position whilst also being able to meet the community's current and future needs. 

The above forward estimates are aligned with Council's Long Term Financial Forecast, Financial Plan, 
Corporate Plan, Operational Plan and the Department of Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 
financial sustainability measures. 

The Operating Surplus Ratio, indicating the extent to which revenues cover operational expenses only, 
remains within the target range in Council’s forward estimates. 

The Asset Sustainability Ratio (reflecting the ongoing development of Council's asset management plans) 
is a strong result considering Council's relatively young asset base and reflects Council’s ongoing 
commitment to the renewal of its assets.  

The Sunshine Coast region has experienced exponential growth in recent periods, leading to an increase 
in new and contributed assets. The influx of new assets is reducing the collective age of Council's assets, 
lowering the requirement of renewals expenditure and the Asset Sustainability Ratio forecast. Sunshine 
Coast Council's renewal program is based on asset management plans and is completed in conjunction 
with a stringent scheduled maintenance program. 

The Net Financial Liabilities Ratio (reflecting the extent to which the net financial liabilities of Council can 
be repaid from operating revenue) exceeds the target range up to year 2028. The 10 year capital program 
requires significant borrowings for Sunshine Coast Airport Runway Project. The ratio reflects Council’s 
refinanced debt portfolio, which provides inter-generational equity for the funding of long term infrastructure 
projects. 

The Financial Management (Sustainability) Guideline 2013 states "high average Net Financial Liabilities 
ratio projections over the long-term are typically indicative of a local government that is undertaking/has 
undertaken significant infrastructure projects.  Whilst some local governments may not achieve the 
recommended target for Net Financial Liabilities Ratio on average over the long-term, this does not 
necessarily indicate that a local government is likely to be unsustainable over the long-term.  In such 
cases, well-managed local governments with robust financial management systems and the ability to 
service current and projected debt levels, can maintain long-term sustainability and average Net Financial 
Liabilities ratio projections over the long-term that exceed the recommended target." 
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Certificate of Accuracy 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 
 
 

This long-term financial sustainability statement has been prepared pursuant to Section 178 of the Local 
Government Regulation 2012 (the Regulation). 
 
 

In accordance with Section 212(5) of the Regulation we certify that this current-year financial sustainability 
statement has been accurately calculated. 
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sunshinecoast.qld.gov.au
mail@sunshinecoast.qld.gov.au
T 07 5475 7272 F 07 5475 7277
Locked Bag 72 Sunshine Coast Mail Centre Qld 4560

@sunshinecoastcouncil @councilscc @sunshinecoastcouncil
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